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Foreword from Chairman and Chief Executive
This is our second annual report as the Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. Being
a Foundation Trust requires us to maintain and
improve services, embrace change, grow and
develop the organisation while at the same time
exercise strong budgetary management. This
year we have complied with the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance, met the terms of our
authorisation and achieved all our performance
targets.
Last year our focus was on the safe transition
and integration of services, but during this year,
2012/13, we have begun to look at service
developments and transformations that will deliver
quality improvements. This has been particularly
evident in the opportunities that have arisen by
bringing together specialist services for people
with a learning disability. The economies of
scale we now have in this area have led to a new
strategy being developed which will, subject to
commissioner agreement, lead to much more
flexible, patient centred care, reducing the
need for people to leave the Black Country for
treatment. This is particularly important in light of
the scandal at “Winterbourne View” – a service
for people with learning disabilities – and the
recommendations of the Francis Report.
As a Trust we think it is particularly important
to learn from these events and ensure that our
organisation does not have any similar issues. To
that end across all the services in the organisation
there has been a much greater focus this year on
quality audit and inspection. Some of it has been
generated by the Board of Directors as part of their
assurance process and some by external agencies
such as CQC, (Care Quality Commission), Ofsted,
the Mental Health Act Commission and our
commissioners’ quality reviews.
This drive to improve quality and maintain
standards across the organisation has not been
without its difficulties. I am pleased however, to
report that the transfer of two of the Penn hospital
wards into their new environment took place
before and just after Christmas and the areas of
concern to CQC achieved compliance.
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These much safer and more therapeutic in-patient
areas have had significant impact on staff moral
which in turn delivers better patient care.
The other area of major service development
has been the introduction of the new national
model for Health Visiting services. This has meant
considerable change for the staff in Dudley, but
has also meant significant increases in the number
of Health Visitors available to support parents and
children in their early years.
On a less positive note the Trust lost the tender for
Substance Misuse services in Wolverhampton and
it is with regret that we have seen those services
move to other organisations.
As we look forward into this year there are a
number of exciting projects in development.
The completion of the Penn Hospital should occur
by August 2013.
Underway is the creation of a Dementia Hub
at Edward Street Hospital in Sandwell. This
innovative scheme will support families and carers
as well as people experiencing dementia. It will
be open to the community with a particular
emphasis on addressing the needs of our black
and ethnic minority elders and will include training
facilities for all staff, raising awareness of the issues
associated with having dementia.
The importance of the environment is ever more
important to our client groups and the start of a
creative arts group, bringing together disparate
pieces of work throughout the organisation, will
give purpose and drive parts of our estate that still
require remodelling. The importance of people
who have used services in all our projects brings
a different perspective that transforms how we
develop buildings and run services.
Other projects include the community redesign
of services in Sandwell, the further work on the
Heath Lane site and in particular Penrose Ward and
the Gerry Simon Clinic. These latter two projects
will be on top of the implementation of the Black
Country Learning Disability Strategy.
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All this is against a background of continued
reductions in the resources available to both the
NHS and local authorities and unprecedented
challenges as we all enter our third year of little or
no growth.
In April the new NHS structure came into being
and we now work with four new CCGs as well as
four local authorities with their new role of Public
Health and Health and Wellbeing Boards.
Through all these upheavals and at this time of
even greater change, it is our staff, governors and
fellow board members that keep services going
and it is with particular thanks to them all that we
look forward to another year of improving services
to the people of the Black Country.

Bob Piper
Chairman

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive
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The Trust’s vision is:

supported through our vision statement:

working with local communities to improve the
health and wellbeing of everyone
Our collective values are:
Honesty and Openness – to act in a transparent way that supports honesty
and openness
Empowerment - to empower people who use services; carers and staff
Dignity and Respect – to treat people who use services, carers and staff fairly,
with dignity and respect, appreciating their individuality.
Our key goals are:
•
•
•
•

To reduce inequality by recognising diversity and celebrating difference
To improve and promote the health and wellbeing of local communities
To provide high quality care, in the right place, at the right time
To put people and their families at the heart of care

We will achieve our vision and goals through the following strategic objectives:
•
•
•
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We will improve access to a range of integrated services across the
Black Country which are sustainable and responsive
Our local communities will value the contribution we make to improving
people’s lives
We will attract, retain and develop a capable and flexible workforce

Section 1

About the Trust

Clients at the ‘Have a Gold’ athletics event, Wolverhampton
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1.1
Brief Background and Establishment
The Trust was authorised as Sandwell Mental Health
and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust in February
2009 predominantly providing mental health and
learning disability services in Sandwell.
In 2011, the Trust changed its name to Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in
acknowledgement of the transfer of services from
neighbouring Primary Care Trusts.
The Trust now provides mental health services to
people of all ages in Sandwell and Wolverhampton.
The Trust also delivers specialist learning disability
services to people across the Black Country and also
provides community based children’s healthcare
services in Dudley.
The Trust now employs approximately 2,000 staff
and has a turnover of just over £100 million.
1.2

Description and Summary of
Service Areas
The Trust’s services are predominantly divided
into three main clinical divisions: Mental Health,
Specialist Learning Disabilities and Children, Young
People and Families.
The following section provides an overview
summary of our services. More detailed descriptions
can be found on our website: www.bcpft.nhs.uk
1.2.1 Mental Health
In the mental health division, we support people
aged 18 years and above who are experiencing
both common and severe mental health difficulties.
We provide services within hospital and community
facilities, as well as within people’s own homes.
Inpatient Care
Inpatient care is provided at Hallam Street Hospital,
West Bromwich and Penn Hospital, Wolverhampton.
We provide intensive 24-hour inpatient care to
people aged 18 to 65 years who need more support
than we can give them in the community. To help
people get better, staff encourage them to take
control of their own care. People learn about how
they can get better, and how they can manage their
own medication and symptoms.
The Macarthur Centre Psychiatric Intensive Care
Unit (PICU) supports adult males with severe
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mental health conditions, who need a short period
of intensive care to reduce risk to themselves
and others and enable them to return safely to a
mainstream mental health ward.
At Edward Street Hospital in West Bromwich and on
Meadow Ward at Penn Hospital, Wolverhampton
our staff give 24-hour inpatient care and support
to older people with mental health needs (typically
over 65 years) such as dementia, depression, and
anxiety.
Community-based Care
Comprehensive community support is provided by a
number of staff working in multi-disciplinary teams.
In Sandwell, services are provided by the following
community teams: the Assertive Outreach Team, six
Community Mental Health Teams for both adults
and older adults, the Crisis Resolution and Home
Treatment Team, the Criminal Justice Mental Health
Liaison Team, the Mental Health Liaison Team (based
in Sandwell General Hospital), day services and
three Primary Care Liaison Teams. For older adults
in Sandwell we provide a Memory Disorder Service,
a Mental Health Liaison Nursing Service, a Therapy
and Recovery Outreach Service and a Therapy and
Recovery Unit.
There are three main Community Mental Health
Teams based around Wolverhampton City. These
are Steps to Health in the North East, the Croft
Resource Centre serving the South East and
Corner House Resource Centre in the South West.
All three teams work closely with the Assertive
Outreach Team. Linked to these community
teams is a Forensic Liaison Service which works in
partnership with South Staffordshire and Shropshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Services across
Wolverhampton also include Wolverhampton
Healthy Minds providing support for adults
experiencing common mental health problems, such
as depression and anxiety, and a range of services
for older adults including Wolverhampton Memory
Assessment Service, Older People’s Liaison Team and
Older People’s Home Treatment Service.
These teams all perform different roles in providing
mental health care to the community. Teams are
made up of various staff including psychiatrists,
community nurses, psychologists, occupational
therapists and social workers.
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Substance Misuse Services
The Trust was commissioned to provide
specialist addiction services (drug and alcohol)
in Wolverhampton until 31st March 2013 and
specialist alcohol dependency services in Sandwell.
1.2.2 Learning Disability Services
These services provide specialist health care to adults
with learning disabilities and additional complex
health needs, including autistic spectrum disorders,
mental health difficulties and behaviour problems.
We provide services in Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall
and Wolverhampton. A team of specialist health
staff from different professions provide a range of
inpatient, outpatient and community treatments
and interventions. Specialist healthcare staff work
closely with community nurses and social workers.
Learning Disability Inpatient Care
• The Gerry Simon Clinic in West Bromwich is
a regional low secure service for men with
learning disabilities and complex health needs,
some of whom may have come into contact
with the criminal justice system.
•

Newton House is a specialist step-down and
rehabilitation service for men with learning
disabilities, many of whom have been
discharged from a secure environment.

•

Penrose House is a specialist learning disability
acute assessment and treatment service for both
men and women.

•

Pond Lane is a service for people with a learning
disability between the ages of 18 and 65 who
live in Wolverhampton and who may have
mental health issues as well as challenging
behaviour and physical health conditions.

•

Ridge Hill in Dudley and Suttons Drive in Walsall
provide services for adults who have learning
disabilities and / or additional needs and who
require rehabilitation.

•

Orchard Hill House is our service for people with
learning disabilities and / or additional needs
who require medical admission to a specialist
assessment and treatment unit. This could be
because they are at risk in their current situation
or because they require a period of treatment
and rehabilitation.
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Community Learning Disability Services
In addition, the Trust provides Learning Disability
services in the community. These services include:
Dudley Learning Disabilities Specialist Health Service
(based at The Ridge Hill Centre); Walsall Integrated
Learning Disabilities Service for people with learning
disabilities requiring health and social care support.
There are two locality teams in Walsall: the North /
West Integrated Learning Disability Team based at
the Allens Centre and the South / East Team based
at Broadway North Centre.
Walsall Learning Disabilities Health Facilitation Team
helps people with a learning disability access primary
and secondary health care. The team work with the
Community Learning Disability Nursing Team.
The Trust also provides support to the Sandwell
Integrated Support Service, run by Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council. This is a service for
children and young people (aged 0 to 25 years) who
have profound learning disabilities. We have a team
within the service which can support children and
young people with mental health needs.
Wolverhampton Learning Disabilities Specialist
Healthcare Service supports adults in Wolverhampton
with a learning disability to access mainstream
services. The team is based within Wolverhampton
City Council’s learning disability team.
1.2.3

Children, Young People and
Family Services
We provide children’s community healthcare
services in Dudley as well as a range of services
in Wolverhampton and Sandwell for children and
young people experiencing mental health problems.
Children’s Community Healthcare Services
These services are for children and young people
aged 0 to 18 years, and their families, living in
Dudley. Services are delivered in a range of settings,
including schools, nurseries, children centres and in
people’s homes.
Services include: the Children’s Assessment
Unit, for pre-school children of varying special
needs; Speech and Language Therapy; School
Nursing; the See-Saw Team (providing children’s
palliative care); the Family Nurse Partnership (FNP);
Paediatric Physiotherapy Service; Health Visiting;
Haemoglobinopathies Services (for children and
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young people with blood disorders); Dudley Schools
Health Advisors; Children’s Occupational Therapy
and an Asthma Nurse Specialist for children and
young people.

and adults who are going through a first episode
of psychosis, or who seem at risk of going through
a first episode of psychosis. The service provides
diagnosis and appropriate treatment.

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
(CAMHS)
These services are for young people up to the age of
16 years, and those aged from 16-18 years in fulltime education. Where possible, pre-school children
(aged 0-4 years) are put in touch with health visitors
and children’s centres where they can receive
appropriate support. Our staff work across Sandwell
and Wolverhampton to reach children and young
people who have severe mental health difficulties.

Eating Disorders
We have services in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
for adults, and young people aged 16-18 who are
in full time education, who are dealing with an
eating disorder such as anorexia nervosa, bulimia
nervosa or binge eating disorder. The service offers
a recovery programme to help people get better
psychologically and physically.

Sandwell specialist CAMHS is for children and
young people with complex mental health needs.
The service also aims to support their families and
carers. Specialist CAMHS also run the Sandwell
Deliberate Self-Harm Service for children and
young people who enter Sandwell District General
Hospital’s Paediatric Unit showing signs of deliberate
self-harm.
The Trust also employs CAMHS staff who are based
in services outside the organisation. For example,
there are mental health workers in Sandwell
Integrated Support Service, the Youth Offending
Team, Looked After Children and the Multi Agency
Team Around the Child (MATAC).
In Wolverhampton, the Child and Family Service
provides assessment, diagnosis and treatment
to children and adolescents experiencing mental
health difficulties. The Wolverhampton CAMHS
Crisis and Home Treatment Team provide a more
intensive service with the aim of treating child
and adolescents with more severe illnesses in their
homes. The Key Team provides a specialist CAMHS
service to hard to reach children and young people
and their families.
The INSPIRE team, based at the Gem Centre,
Wolverhampton, supports children and young
people who have a learning disability, and their
families.
Early Intervention
The Trust provides Early Intervention Services in
Sandwell and Wolverhampton for young people
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1.2.4 Carers’ Services
Our Carers’ Team gives carers the chance to have
their own caring, physical, and mental health needs
considered. The team gives support to people, who
must be Sandwell residents, caring for someone
aged 18-65 years, living in or on the boundaries of
Sandwell.
The support comes in many forms including;
offering a daily drop-in service; various psychoeducational and training sessions for carers; care
assessments and health screening for carers; access
to carers social events.
1.2.5 Spiritual Care Team
We have had a Spiritual Care Team (Chaplains)
in Sandwell for eight years and this multi-faith
team now works Trust wide across the different
divisions. For many parts of Walsall, Dudley and
Wolverhampton this has been a new service.
Developments this year have included the addition
of a female Muslim Chaplain to work particularly
with women from an Asian background, and the
establishing of a Trust-wide bereavement support
service to ensure that the Trust responds well when
people die whilst under the care of the Trust.
1.2.6 Therapy Services
We have a number of therapy services which play
a key part in the care and support we provide to
people. There are various counselling teams, a
family therapy team, occupational therapists and
psychologists working across the Trust, and speech
and language therapists and physiotherapists
working with older people and people who have
learning disabilities.
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Section 1

About the Trust

Section 2

Governance Arrangements

Staff nurse at Penrose House, Heath Lane Hospital
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The Assembly of Governors

2.1
Composition
The composition of the Assembly is shown in the table below.
Composition of Assembly of Governors
Category of Governor

Number

Public:
Sandwell
Walsall
Dudley
Wolverhampton
Birmingham and Wider West Midlands
Total Public

7
3
4
7
1
22

Staff:
Medical
Nursing: Mental Health
Nursing: Learning Disabilities
Nursing: Children’s
Social Care
Professional Clinical
Administrative and Management
Support
Total Staff

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
8

Appointed Governors

14

Sandwell Primary Care Trust
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Wolverhampton City Council
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Changing Our Lives
Black Country Carers Forum
West Midlands Faith Forum
The Children’s Society
Total Appointed

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
9

Total

39
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Tenure and attendance

The following table provides the names of Governors in office during 2012/13, the date they became or ceased
to be a Governor, and a record of their attendance at general meetings of the Assembly.
Assembly of Governors
Constituency and
Name of Governor

Date Elected/
Appointed

Date
Ceased

Area,Class, or
Organisation

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

Rani KAUR

1/7/2009

30/6/2012

Sandwell

0/1

Elaine GILES

13/5/2009

12/5/2012

Sandwell

0/0

Peter SELLICK

1/9/2010

Sandwell

4/5

Sandra PRINCE

1/9/2010

Sandwell

3/5

David GRATWICK

2/8/2011

Sandwell

2/5

Gaynor EDWARDS

7/12/2011

Sandwell

5/5

Surendra K. SHARMA (Dr)

1/2/2012

Sandwell

1/5

Jacqueline ANTCLIFF

2/8/2012

Sandwell

2/3

Lorna PETERS

2/8/2012

Sandwell

0/3

Brian BOOTH

2/8/2011

Wolverhampton

5/5

Mary BOLLAND

2/8/2011

Wolverhampton

5/5

Doreen Jean SMITH

2/8/2011

Wolverhampton

4/5

Estine DENNIS BRYAN

2/8/2011

Wolverhampton

4/5

Vijay SHARMA

2/8/2011

Wolverhampton

4/5

Alan DEAN

2/8/2012

Wolverhampton

3/3

Mel PASSMORE

2/8/2012

Wolverhampton

3/3

Matthew MORRISON

2/8/2011

Dudley

4/5

PUBLIC

7/1/2013
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Assembly of Governors
Constituency and
Name of Governor

Date Elected/
Appointed

Date
Ceased

Sally Ann GROGAN

2/8/2011

2/5/2012

Shahab QUERESHI (Dr)

2/8/2011

Doreen TILL

8/6/2009

Area,Class, or
Organisation

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

PUBLIC

7/6/2012

Dudley

0/0

Dudley

3/3

Walsall

1/1

Doreen TILL (*)

9/7/2012 (*)

Walsall

1/4

Mary STAPLES

9/7/2012

Walsall

3/4

Neil STEVENS

1/12/2011

Birmingham and
Wider W Midlands

2/5

Phil COLE

1/12/2011

Nursing: Learning
Disabilities

3/5

Nicole JONGWE

7/12/2011

Nursing: Psychiatry

3/5

Susan LOWE

9/07/2012

Nursing: Children’s

4/4

Jacqueline BOTT

1/12/2011

Social Care

4/5

Susan VAN GENDEREN

7/12/2011

Professional
Clinical

2/4

Salma BI

1/12/2011

Administrative and
Management

3/5

Martyn JINKS

16/7/2010

Support

2/5

STAFF
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Assembly of Governors
Constituency and
Name of Governor

Date Elected/
Appointed

Date
Ceased

Dr Ishraga AWAD

15/5/2009

14/5/2012

Councillor Yvonne
DAVIES

Area,Class, or
Organisation

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

APPOINTED
Sandwell PCT

0/0

1/12/2011

Sandwell MBC

1/5

Councillor David
VICKERS

1/12/2011

Dudley MBC

4/5

Councillor Dr Mike
HARDACRE

1/12/2011

1/5/2012

Wolverhampton City
Council

0/0

Councillor Zahid SHAH

1/7/2012

19/3/2013

Wolverhampton City
Council

0/4

Councillor Mohammed
NAZIR

9/1/2012

1/9/2012

Walsall Council

0/2

Councillor Allah DITTA

1/11/2012

Walsall Council

1/2

Jayne LEESON

1/8/2011

Changing our Lives

2/5

Rev’d Andrew SMITH

1/12/2011

West Midlands Faith
Forum

3/5

Simon COTTINGHAM

1/1/2012

The Children’s
Society

4/5

(*) indicates re-election or
re appointment

2.3

Register of Governors Interests

Governors are required to adhere to a Code of
Conduct as approved by the Board of
Directors, and are required to declare any interest,
which may compromise their objectivity in fulfilling
their duties. A copy of the current register is
published on the Trust website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk
or can be obtained by application to the Company
Secretary,

2.4

Vice Chair of the Assembly
(Lead Governor)
The role of the Vice Chair, as provided for in the
Constitution of the Trust, is identical to that of
“Lead Governor”, as described by Monitor, the
heath sector regulator. Mrs Susan Van Genderen
(Staff – Professional Clinical) held the position
until she resigned from office in March 2013;
arrangements are in place for the appointment
to this role at the meeting of the Assembly of
Governors in May 2013.
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2.5
Elections to the Assembly
Details of elections held during the year are provided in the table below:

Date

Constituency

Area/Class

2/08/2012

Public

Sandwell

2/08/2012

Public

Wolverhampton

As part of the above elections, four governors were
elected by poll, and three governors were elected
unopposed.

The appointment or dismissal of the
Chairman and other Non-Executive
Directors
o During the year, the Assembly, on the
recommendations of the Governor Led
Nominations Committee, approved the
re-appointment of Mr Bob Piper as the
Chairman of the Trust for a term of two
years and two months ending on 31st
January 2015.
o An independent analysis of the skills and
knowledge of the current board was
commissioned (as part of the independent
evaluation of the Board of Directors) by
the Governor Led Nominations Committee
before determining its recommendations
with regards to the re-appointment of other
Non-Executive Directors. Subsequently, the
Assembly of Governors, having considered
the recommendations of the Governor Led
Nominations Committee approved the reappointment of:
•

•
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Mrs Jackie Smart and Mrs Vicky Harris,
each for a further one year term until
31st January 2014 and 28th February
2014 respectively; and
Mr Parmjit Sahota, for a further term
of three years ending on 29th February
2016.

Turnout (%)

2,756

11.7

826

8.4

o The Assembly of Governors also approved
the appointment of two new Associate
Non-Executive Directors, with the
anticipation that successful applicants would
then be more suitable for appointment to
future Non-Executive Director positions.

2.6
Role of the Assembly of Governors
The statutory duties to be undertaken by the
Assembly are:
•

Number of
Eligible Voters

•

The determination of the remuneration and
terms and conditions of the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors
The Remuneration Working Group reviewed
the remuneration of the Chairman and NonExecutive Directors, and on its recommendation
the Assembly approved the following:
o an increase of 5% in the annual
remuneration of the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors, for each year
commencing 1st April 2012 and 1st April
2013. This was in recognition of the very
low levels of remuneration afforded to the
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors when
compared with those from other similar NHS
Foundation Trusts;
o An increase of £5 (five pounds) per session
for attendance at each hearing convened
under the Mental Health Act 1983, at the
same rate as those payments made to
Associate Hospital Managers

•

The approval of the appointment of the
Chief Executive Officer

•

The appointment or removal of the Auditor
to the Trust
o The Assembly had, at the beginning
of the year approved a process, on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee,
for the appointment of the auditor to be
subject to a competitive tender exercise.
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Following this exercise, and on the
recommendation of a working group of
governors, directors and officers which
oversaw the process, the Assembly
appointed Deloitte LLP as the auditor to the
Trust for a period of three years commencing
1st October 2012.
•

•

To receive and consider the Annual Report
and Accounts
o Directors presented the Annual Report, the
Annual Quality Report and the Financial
Accounts for the year ended 31st March
2012 to the annual meeting of the Assembly
on 25th September 2012; the Auditor’s
report on the above was presented at the
same meeting.
To review the Annual Plan, as presented by
the Board of Directors
o Governors have been involved in the
development of the annual plan through
workshops and formal meetings, and
reviewed the annual plan for 2012/13, as
presented by the Directors, at the meeting of
the Assembly in May 2012.
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The Chairman continues to play a significant
role in ensuring a sound and open working
relationship is maintained between the Assembly
and the Board of Directors and the Assembly
continues to receive regular reports from
directors concerning:
o the operational performance of the Trust
as measured against compliance and
contractual requirements
o the progress in delivering the agreed service
developments
o the membership of both the Trust and the
Assembly itself
o any other matters of significant interest.
The Senior Independent (Non-Executive) Director
also attends meetings of the Assembly, and is
accessible to Governors should they need to
obtain his advice.

In addition to its statutory duties, the Assembly
also oversees the implementation of the
membership development strategy, and
has agreed further initiatives to support the
engagement with members and the wider
public, including the pilot use of social media
(“Facebook”), local meetings between public
governors and their constituent members and
drop-in sessions between staff governors and
their members.
Furthermore, there have been several informal
development sessions held between governors,
directors and other senior managers of the
Trust, where governors have received additional
information both to support them in their
current duties, and prepare them for their
additional duties afforded by the Health and
Social Care Act 2012.
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2.8.1

Profiles of members of the Board of
Directors are provided below:
Bob Piper:
Chairman
Bob has been a local
councillor for Sandwell MBC
(SMBC) since May 1999.

He is currently Chair of SMBC
Performance and Policy
Scrutiny Panel and a member
of the Council’s Scrutiny Management Board. He
is a former Non-Executive Director of Birmingham
International Airport Ltd, and former member of
SMBC Diversity and Equality and Scrutiny Panel.
Bob has significant experience within the NHS and
local government and has a sound knowledge of
corporate governance issues in the public sector. He
is an experienced Chairman having chaired meetings
of the Board of Directors, Assembly of Governors
and various other Council Committees.
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Paul Riley;
Non-Executive Director
Paul is the Senior
Independent Director
and Chair of Investment
Committee.
Paul has spent the majority of
his career in commercial roles
for large private and independent organisations in
competitive and complex markets. He has extensive
experience of building successful partnerships
between organisations to deliver services on
behalf of the Department for Education, and has
recently advised local authorities on options for
improvements in their children in care services.
Paul is currently Chief Executive Officer of Core
Assets Consultancy and Resourcing Ltd, which
provides services to disadvantaged groups.
B Eng (Hons) Chemical Engineering; European
Quality Management; Business Excellence Model.

BA (Hons) Politics
Vicky Harris:
Non-Executive Director
Bryan Stock:
Non-Executive Director
Bryan is Chair of the Audit
Committee.
Bryan qualified as a chartered
accountant and served as
Chief Executive and Finance
Director of both Stock
Exchange Listed Companies and Private Businesses.
He has many years of experience of working for
international businesses in a range of product
sectors with extensive involvement in acquisitions
and mergers not only in the UK, but also North
America and Europe.
Until recently Bryan was a Non-Executive Director
and shareholder in a private manufacturing
company.
BSc (Econ); FCA
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Vicky is Chair of the
Governance Committee, and
has been appointed Deputy
Chairman from 1st April
2013.
She has over 11 years
management experience working within mental
health services across voluntary and statutory
providers. Vicky also has extensive experience in
partnership working and developing services within
local community, especially around employment
projects/services for mental health service users,
notably gaining significant external funding
(European) for Mental Health Service projects.
MBA; BSc (Hons) Psychology
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Jackie Smart:
Non-Executive Director
Jackie chairs the Membership
Development Strategy
Steering Group.
Jackie’s appointment to the
Board was with a specific
remit to bring service user
representation. She was a mental health service user
for over six years and former secretary of Sandwell’s
Service User Reference Group (SURG), which she
was instrumental in establishing. She is currently
employed as a Service User Development Officer
for the Mental Health Research Network and was
formerly employed as Detective Constable in West
Midlands Police from 1983 to 2002.

2013

NHS, beginning her career as a Cadet Nurse before
retiring her role as Executive Director of Nursing at
Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust,
a post she held for over five years. She has extensive
knowledge and experience in the development of
corporate and clinical strategy and policy in both
secondary acute and primary care settings, and her
work in developing patient and public engagement
strategies has been commended by the Department
of Health.
Pauline also has experience with children’s services
including direct managerial responsibilities for
Health Visitors and School Health Nurses, and as
Project lead for new ways of working for health
visitors and school health nurses.
In 2002, Pauline was awarded the CBE for services
to nursing.

Parmjit Sahota:
Non-Executive Director

She is now self employed as a health service
consultant

Parmjit is Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

BSc (Hons) Health Studies; RGN; NDN;
PWT;EN(G);OTN

Parmjit has worked for
Sandwell MBC since 1999
and has extensive experience
in the delivery of community
and regeneration projects, and wider strategy
development and partnership working experience
to deliver change and service improvement. He
is presently employed within the Neighbourhood
Services Directorate of Sandwell MBC, working
with other council departments, partner agencies
and end users to help shape and improve service
delivery. Prior to joining Sandwell MBC, Parmjit held
retail management positions with national retailers.
BA (Hons) Business Management; DipM; MCIM

Karen Dowman,
Chief Executive Officer
Karen has been the Chief
Executive of the Trust since
its authorisation in February
2009, and its predecessor
organisations since 1995.
Karen has extensive
leadership and management experience relating
to service integration, service redesign, change
management and partnership working.
Her key achievements include:
•

Pauline Werhun CBE:
Non-Executive Director
Pauline currently Chairs the
Associate Hospital Managers
Committee and was Deputy
Chairman until March 2013.
Pauline has over 40 years
of experience within the

•

Establishing the first Mental Health NHS Trust
in Sandwell (1995), which involved leading the
organisation through the relevant authorisation
process and overseeing the development
and implementation of a new organisational
governance structure
Leading the NHS Trust in its negotiations to
completion of the first PFI scheme (Hallam Street
Hospital) to be concluded in the West Midlands
(2000)
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•

•

•

The establishment in 2003 of Sandwell Mental
Health NHS and Social Care Trust, to become
one of the five Care Trusts in England. This
saw the integration of health and social care
services utilising Section 31 Health Act 1999
(now Section 75 NHS Act 2006) agreements,
and involved extensive partnership working,
significant cultural change and organisation
development
Leading the Trust to successful authorisation as
an NHS Foundation Trust in February 2009, and
since then sound organisational performance in
preparation for the next stage of its evolution
and growth
In 2011, leading the transfer of multiple services
from neighbouring Primary Care Trusts.

MSc Public Sector Management; Dip IHSM; Dip IM

2013

Dr Stephen Edwards:
Medical Director
As one of the first
Consultant Psychiatrists
in Sandwell Stephen has
been clinical lead in the
successful development
of mental health services
within Sandwell, and the
development of mental health services for the
elderly across the West Midlands Region. He has
been an examiner to the Royal College for 10 years
and was Regional Adviser and Member of the
School Board for 5 years. He was elected Chair of
the West Midlands Division of the Royal College
of Psychiatrists in 2009. Stephen retired from his
clinical duties in April 2011.
FRCPsych; MBchB

Paul Stefanoski:
Director of Resources
(Deputy Chief Executive)
Paul was appointed as
Director of Finance to the
predecessor Trust in 2001.
Paul has significant
experience in finance systems
implementation, major service reconfigurations and
organisational mergers predominantly in mental
health services. He has met all financial targets
as Director of Finance and has led the successful
financial transitions from NHS Trust to Care Trust
through to NHS Foundation Trust status. Under his
wider executive portfolio, he has responsibility for
Estates and Facilities and IMT, and under the latter
has initiated a joint marketing agreement with the
Trust’s clinical information system provider to ensure
future development in light of “Payment by Results”
for mental health and the demise of the national
programme for IT.
Paul is Vice-Chair of the HFMA Mental Health
Faculty.
BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance; CPFA
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John Campbell:
Chief Operating Officer
John was appointed in
2007 and has over 20 years
experience working in the
NHS in a range of healthcare
organisations covering
learning disabilities; mental
health; community services;
primary care; maternity and acute services.
He has operated as a Board level Director for the
past nine years and has particular experience
of managing large-scale organisational change
and of developing business cases for significant
service developments. He has gained significant
operational management experience initially within
ICT and subsequently in business management
roles, including the management and integration
of child health departments following an
organisational merger, health records, estates and
information departments.
MSc Healthcare Policy and Management; Chartered
Marketer (CIM); PGC Managing Information
in Healthcare Organisations; King’s Fund Top
Management Programme (2010); WMSHA Aspiring
Chief Executive’s Programme (2009)
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Sue Marshall:
Director of Children’s and
Young Peoples Services.
Sue was appointed to
the Board in 2011 having
previously held the post
of Associate Director of
Governance and Risk since
October 2005, reporting
directly to the Chief Executive with responsibility
for all Professional Clinical Services and the Care
Governance function the latter which she has
retained in her current executive role. Sue has
extensive experience as a senior clinician within
the NHS and was responsible for leading the
development of Professional Clinical Services and
the CAMHS services in Sandwell.
MPhil Clinical Psychology; BA Psychology
Anthropology; Kings Fund Top Managers’
Programme (2009); BPS Management Course
Susan Claire Marshall:
Director of Nursing and
Professional Practice

2013

MSc Health Sciences / Health Services Management;
PGD Family Planning and Sexual Health; PGD
Professional Studies and Health Visiting; RGN;
Midwife
2.9
Structure of the Board
Through regular reviews by both the Non-Executive
and Governor led Nominations Committee, the
Board of Directors is satisfied that the composition
of the Board is balanced and appropriate to the
needs of the Trust.
2.10 The Chairman
The Chairman leads the Board of Directors and
ensures it effectively fulfils its role across its primary
duties.
The Board of Directors confirms that the Chairman
has remained independent in character and
judgement throughout his term of office, and has
no interests which might impair his judgement.
The Chairman has declared his role as a Councillor
for Sandwell MBC, Chair of the Sandwell MBC
Performance Management Scrutiny Committee, and
Trustee of a “Building Understanding of Dementia
Services, a local voluntary body.
2.11

Susan was appointed in
January 2012 and is also the
Trust’s Director for Infection
Prevention and Control.
She is a registered general
nurse, midwife and
registered health visitor and worked for many years
in both acute and community settings in various
posts linked to clinical leadership, operational
management and governance. Susan previously
worked as an Associate Director of Nursing and
Quality for Solent NHS Trust, where she was an
integral member of the senior team responsible
for the successful merger of two high performing
provider organisations. She has extensive knowledge
of working in community services, community
hospitals, mental health and learning disability
services, all underpinned by thirty years of working
in health and social care.
In her present role she is dedicated to the delivery
of quality and governance associated with safe and
effective health care.

The Deputy Chairman and Senior
Independent Director
The appointment to the role of Deputy Chairman is
approved by the Assembly of Governors at one of
its general meetings. Mrs Pauline Werhun held the
post of Deputy Chairman until 31st March 2013,
and Mrs Vicky Harris has been appointed from 1st
April 2013 until her term of office ends on 28th
February 2014.
The role of the Senior Independent Director is
undertaken by Mr Paul Riley, an appointment made
in consultation with the Assembly of Governors.
2.12

Role and Independence of
Non-Executive Directors
In addition to their role as board members, NonExecutive Directors also undertake the duties of
Hospital Managers in accordance with the Mental
Health Act 1983.
The Board of Directors considers that all its NonExecutive Directors are independent in character
and judgment and have no relationships which may
affect their judgment.
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2.13 Register of Directors Interests
The Directors are required to adhere to a Code of
Conduct, based on and incorporating the “Nolan
Principles of Conduct in Public Life”, which includes
a requirement to declare any interests they feel may
compromise their objectivity in fulfilling their duties.
A full register of Directors’ interests is published on
the Trust’s website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk, or may be
obtained on application to the Company Secretary.

2013

2.14 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Public meetings of the Board of Directors are held
on a regular basis. The Board also meets in private
as it considers necessary. Board meetings have
been supplemented by planning and development
sessions during the year. The table below provides
a record of each Director’s attendance at Board
meetings during the year together with the term of
office of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
and the notice period of the Executive Directors.

The Board of Directors
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Name

Role

Term of Office/
Notice period

Attendance
Actual/Possible

Mr Bob Piper

Chairman

31st January 2015

Mrs Vicky Harris

Non-Executive Director

28th February 2014

Mr Paul Riley

Non-Executive Director

30th September 2014

10/12

Mr Parmjit Sahota

Non-Executive Director

29th February 2016

10/12

Mrs Jackie Smart

Non-Executive Director

31st January 2014

8/12

Mr Bryan Stock

Non-Executive Director

28th February 2015

11/12

Mrs Pauline Werhun
CBE

Non-Executive Director

30th November 2013

11/12

Ms Karen Dowman

Chief Executive Officer

6 months

11/12

Mr John Campbell

Chief Operating Officer

3 months

10/12

Dr Stephen Edwards

Medical Director

3 months

12/12

Mr Paul Stefanoski

Director of Resources

3 months

12/12

Ms Sue Marshall

Director of Children and
Young People’s Services

3 months

9/12

Mrs Susan Claire
Marshall

Director of Nursing and
Professional Practice

3 months

11/12

11/12
7/12
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Mr Chris Oakes, the Director of Workforce,
attends meetings of the Board of Directors but has
no voting rights; he attended ten of the twelve
meetings in the year.
Evaluation of the Performance of the
Board and its Sub-Committees
During the year the Board commissioned an
independent review and evaluation of the board
governance arrangements which was completed in
October 2012.

2013

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors have
annual appraisals in accordance with the process
approved by the Assembly of Governors, the
outcome of which also feed the board development
programme.

2.15

Executive and board level directors are appraised
annually by the Chief Executive Officer.
2.16

The Audit Committee

2.16.1 Membership
The review centered on the following key duties of
the board:
•
•
•
•

formulating the strategy
ensuring effective performance in both
delivering the strategy and maintaining
compliance
ensuring robust accountability and internal
control arrangements
shaping a positive culture for the board and the
Trust as a whole.

The Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the
Board of Directors, and its membership is comprised
wholly of Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman
of the Committee is confirmed as having recent and
relevance financial experience.

The Audit Committee
Member

The review concluded that:
“Our overall view is that the Board of Directors
(sic) is a strong Board, demonstrating many areas
of good practice. On a scale including ‘poor, weak,
satisfactory, good, excellent’, we would rate it
as between good and excellent. There are many
individual areas of good practice……This good
practice is, in our view, robust and firmly embedded
in the Board’s way of working. There is also clear
evidence that the Board as a whole operates very
effectively……..The Board is one of the most
open Boards we have seen, preferring issues to
be debated in public, welcoming and addressing
challenge, and involving key stakeholders, including
staff, service users and carers, and Governors
wherever possible.”
Subsequently the Board of Directors has agreed
to implement a plan to improve on those areas
identified within the review as being of benefit to
the ongoing effectiveness of the Board.
An independent review of the effectiveness of the
sub-committees of the Board will be commissioned
in the summer of 2013.

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

Mr Bryan Stock (Chair)

6/6

Mr Bob Piper

5/6

Mr Parmjit Sahota

2/6

Mrs Jackie Smart

2/6

Mrs Pauline Werhun
CBE

2/6

2.16.2 Role and duties
The committee’s key function is to provide assurance
as to both the adequacy and operation of systems
of risk management and internal control within the
Trust, and the integrity of the financial statements
and quality accounts of the Trust.
In discharging its duties during the year the
Committee has:
•
•

reviewed and approved the annual work
programme of both Internal and External Audit
overseen the tender process for the
appointment of the External Auditor and made
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•

recommendations for that appointment to the
Assembly of Governors
reviewed the annual management letter from
External Audit and recommended its acceptance
to the Board of Directors
reviewed the accounting policies of the Trust
reviewed the Assurance Framework and
associated risk management systems of the Trust
reviewed the financial accounts for 2011/12
reviewed the proposed quality report for
2012/13
reviewed and recommended adoption of the
Annual Governance Statement for 2011/12
reviewed the schedules of both losses,
compensation and ex gratia payments, and year
end provisions
received the report from the external auditor as
to the assurance of the Annual Quality Report
for 2011/12
received and reviewed reports from the Internal
Auditor concerning assignments across all
aspects of governance and internal control and
the progress of management in implementation
of agreed recommendations
reviewed arrangements in place for the
introduction of the proposed licensing regime as
proposed to be effective from 1st April 2013 by
“Monitor” the health sector regulator
received regular updates on the work of the
Local Counter Fraud Specialist
reviewed the assessment of the effectiveness of
the committee
reviewed its terms of reference and
recommended amendments to the Board of
Directors

2.17

The Nominations Committee
(Non-Executive Led)

2.17.1 Membership
This committee has membership which is comprised
wholly of Non-Executive Directors. In order to
assist the committee in discharging its duties it
receives advice from the Chief Executive Officer.
The table overleaf provides details of the committee
membership and their attendance at meetings
during the year.

2013

The Nomination Committee
(Non-Executive led)
Member

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

Mr Bob Piper (Chair)

2/2

Mrs Vicky Harris

1/2

Mr Parmjit Sahota

2/2

Mrs Jackie Smart

2/2

Mr Bryan Stock

2/2

Mrs Pauline Werhun
CBE

2/2

2.17.2 Roles and duties
The main duties of the committee are to:
• review the composition of the Board of
Directors, as it relates to Executive roles
• make recommendations for appointment to the
Board of Directors
During the year the committee has:
• Approved the proposal to enable the Executive
Director of Nursing & Professional Practice
to become a full time, rather than part time
position.
• Reviewed and agreed the portfolios of the
Director of Nursing and Professional Practice
and the Director of Children and Young People’s
Services
• Recommended to the Board the appointment
of the Medical Director for a further one year’s
term of office
2.18

The Governance Committee

2.18.1 Role of the Committee
The Governance Committee has a wide remit in
seeking assurance as to the adequacy of governance
systems and processes in place to support the Trust
in delivering services against the mandated and
accredited standards expected of service delivery.
During the year the Committee has gained
assurance through:
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•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

receipt and review of quarterly operational
risk management reports, including details of
incident reporting and analysis, and complaints,
concerns and compliments
internal audit reviews on the adequacy
of arrangements in place for maintaining
compliance with the quality governance
framework and other relevant control areas
reports of Care Quality Commissioners visits in
their review of the application of Mental Health
Act 1983 in our mental health and learning
disability in-patient services
reports from Associate Hospital Managers
concerning their duties under the Mental Health
Act 1983
the review of relevant elements of the High Level
Risk Register and the associated mitigation plans
received reports concerning Infection Control
and wider patient environment matters
a review of the annual clinical audit plan
reviews of arrangement in respect of Research
and Development activities
reports concerning assurance as to the Trust
compliance with Information Governance
standards
reports from the service user led “Making a
Difference” group about their audit of adult
mental health outpatient services
reports from “Changing our Lives”, an
independent organisation commissioned to
undertake quality of life audits of patients in
inpatient units across the Trust
staff stories, where staff provide their experience
in delivering services
updates on the implementation of the Trusts
equality and diversity strategy
reports on the service user and staff opinion
surveys
receiving the annual Health and Safety report
received exceptional reports from the Chair
of the Care Governance Committee (a subcommittee of the Executive Committee)

2.18.2 Membership of the Committee:
The Committee is comprised primarily of
Non-Executive Directors, though includes the
Chief Executive Officer or her/his deputy in
its membership. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is not a member of the committee but
may attend its meetings. The Medical Director,
Director of Nursing and Professional Practice and
the Director of Children and Young People’s Services
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regularly attend meetings of the committee.
The table below provides a summary of attendance
of members at meetings of the committee during
the year.
The Governance Committee
Member

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

Mrs Vicky Harris (Chair)

4/5

Mrs Pauline Werhun
CBE

5/5

Mrs Jackie Smart

4/5

Mr Bob Piper

1/5

Chief Executive/Deputy
Chief Executive

5/5

2.19

The Investment Committee

2.19.1 Role of the Committee
This committee undertakes a range of duties
with the purpose of assuring the adequacy of the
financial and performance management systems,
planning processes and investment plans, and as
necessary the approval of investments and business
plans within limits delegated by the Board of
Directors.
During the year the committee has:
• reviewed in depth the arrangements and
management plans to achieve recurring cost
efficiencies
• reviewed emerging business opportunities and
their relevance to the core business of the Trust
• reviewed the underlying assumptions in the
development of the Annual Budget and Annual
Plan
• reviewed the long term financial plan
• reviewed the annual capital programme
• reviewed the adequacy of high level risk
mitigation plans
• received and considered proposals emanating
from service contract negotiations with
commissioners
• received updates as to the status of service
contracts

27

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
• reviewed service line reporting and management
• received assurance on assumptions made in
financial and treasury management
2.19.2 Membership of the Committee
Members of the committee are Non-Executive
Directors, and whilst the Chairman of the
Audit Committee may not be a member of this
Committee, he may attend its meetings.
Below is a table summarising attendance of
members at meetings of committee held during the
year.
The Investment Committee
Member

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)

Mr Paul Riley (Chair)

5/5

Mr Parmjit Sahota

3/5

Mrs Jackie Smart

2/5

Mr Bob Piper

3/5

Mrs Vicky Harris

3/5

2.20

2013

The Post Acquisition Review Committee

2.20.1 Role of the Committee
The Committee was established as a short life
committee to provide assurance to the Board
as to the delivery of the implementation and
transformation plans agreed following the transfer
of services from Primary Care Trusts during 2011/12.
Membership of the committee comprises three NonExecutive Directors, the Director of Resources and
the Chief Operating Officer.
It met twice during the year and was disestablished
in November 2012 having completed its duties.
2.21

Membership of the Trust

2.21.1 Eligibility
The Trust has two membership constituencies, those
being public and staff.
The public constituency, which includes service
users and carers, is drawn from Sandwell,
the neighbouring Black Country areas of
Wolverhampton, Walsall and Dudley, Birmingham
and other geographical areas that fell within the
scope of responsibility of the former West Midlands
Strategic Health Authority.
The constitution of the Trust provides that the
minimum age for membership is 12.
All staff who are employed by or seconded to the
Trust for at least twelve months are automatically
members of the Trust, unless they expressly choose
otherwise.
2.21.2 Membership Profile
The tables overleaf provide analysis of our
membership at 31st March 2013.
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The Investment Committee
PUBLIC
Area

STAFF
Number

Sandwell

2,784

Class

Number

Medical

63

Wolverhampton

827

Nursing: Psychiatry

411

Walsall

307

Nursing: Learning Disabilities

153

Dudley

609

Nursing: Children

107

Birmingham and Wider
West Midlands

746

Social Care

TOTAL:

5,273

38

Professional/Clinical

436

Support

332

Admin and Management

455

TOTAL:

1,995

Public Membership by gender, age and ethnicity at 31 March 2013

Gender
Male
Female
Age
12-16
17-21
22 and over
Not stated
Ethnicity
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other
Not stated

Number of Members

%

2,178
3,095

41.3
58.7

93
496
4,337
347

1.8
9.4
82.2
6.6

3,672
185
704
438
71
203

69.7
3.5
13.4
8.3
1.3
3.8
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There remains under representation in white people
and the male population, but most significantly
within the age range of 12 to 16 year olds, the
latter which remains a priority to address in the
forthcoming year.

In addition, the Trust has continued to engage and
communicate with its membership through a variety
of ways, including:

Movements in membership within the year are
provided in the table below:

•

Public

Staff

Total

5,313

2,153

7,466

Add Members
joining

153

187

340

Less Members
leaving

193

345

538

At 31st March
2013

5,273

1,995

7,268

At 1st April
2012

There was a net reduction in public membership of
40 during the year, though it is encouraging to note
that the number of “gold” level members,
i.e. those wanting to become more involved with
and supportive of the Trust, increased during
the year by 6%; the number gold and silver
members represents over a third of the total public
membership.
2.21.3 Membership Engagement and
Involvement
The Membership Development Strategy outlines
how the Trust will recruit and engage with a
representative membership. A Governor led steering
group oversees the implementation of the strategy
and a programme of engagement has been
implemented, including:
•
•
•
•
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public governor and constituent member
meetings
staff governor and members drop-in sessions
the pilot use of social media as an alternative
means of communication and engagement
attendance at events held by partner or local
organisations

•

•

the distribution of the Trust’s newsletter
“Grapevine” to all members
the annual membership event which again
attracted a good attendance from our members
and participation from a wide range of partner
and other interested organisations
invitations to attend the meeting of the
Governors at which Directors presented the
annual report

The Membership Development Strategy
can be found on the Trusts website at
www.bcpft.nhs.uk, and members wishing to
contact their elected governors may do so through
the offices of the Membership Support Manager at
Trust headquarters.
2.22

Compliance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
is issued by Monitor, the former Independent
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, and now
health sector regulator. This Code provides an
overarching framework of standards of corporate
governance, drawn from best practice in both
the public and private sector, and is reflective of
mandatory and regulatory obligations placed on
NHS Foundation Trusts. Monitor encourages NHS
Foundation Trusts to comply with the principles
within the Code, and to provide explanations where
such practice has not been applied.
Within this report, the required disclosures are made
as to the application of and compliance with the
principles and provisions of the Code.
The Board of Directors confirms that to the best of
its knowledge, the Trust has complied with the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
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3.1
Directors of the Trust
The following held positions on the Board
of Directors during the financial year ended
31st March 2013.
Non-Executive Chairman:
Mr Bob Piper
Chair of the Nominations Committees
Non-Executive Directors
Vicky Harris
Chair of Governance Committee
Deputy Chairman of the Trust (from 1/4/2013)
Paul Riley
Chair of Investment Committee
Senior Independent Director
Parmjit Sahota
Chair of Remuneration Committee
Jackie Smart
Chair of Membership Strategy Steering Group
Bryan Stock
Chair of Audit Committee
Pauline Werhun CBE
Chair of Hospital Managers Committee
Deputy Chairman of the Trust (until 31/3/2013)
Executive Directors
Karen Dowman
Chief Executive Officer; Chair of Executive
Committee
John Campbell
Chief Operating Officer
Dr Stephen Edwards
Medical Director
Sue Marshall
Director of Children and Young People’s Services
Susan Claire Marshall
Director of Nursing and Professional Practice
Paul Stefanoski
Director of Resources (Deputy Chief Executive)
Other directors regularly attending Board
meetings are:
Chris Oakes
Director of Workforce
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3.2
Principle activities of the Trust
The principal activities of the Trust are the provision
of mental health and specialist health learning
disability services to all age groups, the provision of
children’s community services, and under delegated
authority of Sandwell MBC, the provision of social
care services to adults with mental ill-health.
3.3
Employment Policies
The recruitment of an appropriately skilled and
experienced workforce that represents the diversity
of the population we serve remains an important
objective for the Trust.
Staff from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
background currently represent 27.4% of the
Trust workforce, which compares favourably with
the BME population that the Trust serves. The
BME population that the Trust serves is (from the
2011 census): Sandwell 30.6%, Dudley 10.1%,
Walsall 21.11% and Wolverhampton 31.98%. The
combined BME total population of all the areas is
22.86%.
.
In furtherance of this objective we undertake close
monitoring of the composition of our workforce.
This and other indicators of employment activity
such as the number of grievances and disciplinary
cases; and ethnicity within the recruitment process
have been reviewed during the year by the
Governance Committee and Board of Directors.
It is our aim to encourage applicants from the
widest range of backgrounds to apply to the Trust
and ensure our employment processes are fair
and equitable and meet the highest standards of
practice. The Guaranteed Interview Scheme (two
ticks), in particular is aimed at supporting people
with disabilities, and continues to be in place having
been reassessed and awarded this again in 2012.
An analysis of our workforce as at 31st March 2013
is included in Table 1.
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Analysis

31st March 2011

31st March 2012

2013

31st March 2013

Gender

WTE

%

WTE

%

WTE

%

Female

782

76.29

1689

79.18

1679

79.05

Male

243

23.71

444

20.82

445

20.95

Total

1025

100.00

2133

100.00

2124

100.00

Under 21

12

1.17

13

0.61

15

0.71

22 to 59

952

92.88

2007

94.09

1993

93.83

60 to 64

55

5.37

98

4.59

98

4.61

6

0.59

15

0.70

18

0.85

1025

100.00

2133

100.00

2124

100.00

White

635

61.95

1489

69.81

1475

69.44

Mixed

30

2.93

45

2.11

43

2.02

Asian

145

14.15

233

10.92

251

11.82

Black

182

17.76

256

12.00

252

11.86

Other
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2.34

30

1.41

36

1.69

9

0.88

80

3.75

67

3.15

1025

100.00

2133

100.00

2124

100.00

Age

65 and over
Total

Ethnicity

Not Stated
Total

All our staff have access to a comprehensive
Occupational Health Service which is provided from
BHSF Occupational Health Services. In addition,
the Trust provides a staff support and counselling
service to the whole of the organisation. During
the coming year we will again be looking at further
ways of supporting our staff and improving their
health and wellbeing.

3.4
Managing Sickness Absence
Sickness absence is an area that is currently being
focussed on and a new policy has just been agreed
focussing on short term absence. This will be
implemented along with skills training for managers
to ensure a robust approach to sickness absence
management.

Over the last year, the Trust has continued to work
hard to ensure that the sickness absence rate is
maintained as low as possible. As a result, the
absence rate for the whole of the organisation is
5.19% for the period 2012/13.
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Table 2: Analysis of Sickness Absence Rates
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

%

%

%

Short Term

2.16

1.99

2.13

Long Term

3.27

2.64

3.06

TOTAL

5.43

4.60

5.19

3.5

Employee Involvement –
Staff Engagement
Within the Trust there continues to be a strong
commitment to partnership working and
involvement, and this continues to foster good
relations with staff and their representatives at all
levels. In strong support of this is the staff forum
which continues to be chaired by the staff side lead.
Recent staff side elections have been supported by
the Trust and have resulted in two new staff side
leads being appointed. The continuation of good
relations has proved invaluable during the year as
we continue to progress substantial services changes
following Transforming Community Services.
Partnership working and involvement has been
integral to this both in relation to communication
and to aid the management of change processes
that have been implemented.
What a challenging year for staff working in the
Trust. The media continually appear to question the
values of health workers and suggest public sector
staff have never had it so good. The reality has been
another year of pay freezes, massive increase in
pension contributions and the cost of living rising
insurmountably. Our members have responded to
criticism and pay cuts by demonstrating ever greater
resilience and delivering better quality care to our
patients.
The joint Trade Unions elected a new staff side lead,
two nurses agreed to job share, both of whom
are experienced Unison representatives. We have
elected new staff governors representing staff. We
have trade union representatives regularly attending
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divisional management boards. The staff forum
continues to play host to managers from across the
trust proposing some exciting opportunities and
some not so welcome organisational changes to
staff representatives. We look forward to continue
working together to secure the very best outcomes
for our staff.
Phil Cole
Staff Side Lead and Chair of Staff Forum
3.6
Staff Survey
The 2012 annual staff survey was conducted
between October and December. The purpose
of the survey is to help NHS organisations review
and improve staff experience so that staff can
provide better patient care. Locally the survey not
only supports the assessment of our effectiveness
as a Trust; it also identifies how we can make
improvements in working conditions and practices.
The survey was circulated to all staff with staff side
taking responsibility for distributing reminders.
This helps to reassure staff that the information is
treated confidentially and helps to communicate
the importance for staff to complete the survey.
For 2012 the Trust undertook a full survey across
all staff, with a response rate of 47%. This was a
reduction of 4% on the previous year, however the
national trend is a reduction in response rate with
the national average reducing from 55% to 50%.
Tables 3a and 3b outline response rates and the
Trust five best and five bottom performing areas.
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Table 3a: Staff Survey Response Rate
2011/12

Response
Rate

Trust/National
Improvement/Deterioration

2012/13

Trust
(based on
SMHFT)

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

Trust

National

51%

55%

47%

50%

8%
Deterioration

10%
Deterioration

All key findings within the staff survey results are rated and comparisons made with both the previous year’s
results and a national average for like trusts.
Table 3b: Trusts Top Five Ranking Scores
2011/12

Trust Improvement/
deterioration

2012/13

Top 5 Ranking Scores

Trust

Trust

National
Average

KF14 – Percentage of staff reporting
errors, near misses or incidents
witnessed in the last month

96%

95%

93%

1% deterioration
No statistical change

KF6 – Percentage of staff receiving
job-relevant training, learning or
development in the last 12 months

-

83%

82%

No comparison with
2011

KF5 – Percentage of staff working
extra hours
(lower the better)

56%

68%

70%

12% deterioration

KF2 – Percentage of staff agreeing
that their role makes a difference to
patients

93%

90%

90%

3% deterioration
No statistical change

KF13 – Percentage of staff
witnessing potentially harmful
errors, near misses or incidents in
last month (Lower the better)

20%

27%

27%

7% deterioration

For both KF14, and KF2 there has been no statistical change on 2011, with KF14 still scoring within the
highest (best) 20% of like trusts. KF2 scores the same as the national average. KF5, whilst an increase on
2011, is still below (better) than the national average. KF13 is also a slight deterioration on last year but is
also the same as the national average. For KF6 there is no comparison with last year due to the changes to
the format of the survey questions for 2012.
The overall indicator of staff engagement has remained at over 70%. This is made up of a combination
of key findings including staff member’s perceived ability to contribute to improvements at work, their
willingness to recommend the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment, and the extent to which they
feel motivated and engaged with their work.
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Table 3b: Trusts Top Five Ranking Scores
2011/12

Trust Improvement/
deterioration

Trust

Trust

National
Average

KF4 – Effective team working

76.4%

73.4%

76.6%

3% deterioration
No statistical change

KF15 – Fairness and effectiveness of
incident reporting procedures

67.8%

67.0%

70.4%

0.8% deterioration
No statistical change

KF9 – Support from immediate
managers

75.8%

73.6%

75.4%

2.2% deterioration
No statistical change

KF12 – Percentage of staff saying
hand washing materials are always
available

57.0%

49.0%

55.0%

8% deterioration

KF7 – Percentage of staff appraised
in last 12 months

78.0%

83.0%

87.0%

5% improvement

Bottom 5 Ranking Scores

For three of the five bottom ranking scores there
has been no statistical change on last year. KF4 has
only had a slight reduction of 3%, and KF12, whilst
a reduction of 8% on last year, has only deteriorated
by 6% on the national average.
The Trust has scored below average on a number
of key findings. However, for these results generally
the Trust scores only 1-2% below the national
average, and on the majority of the scores the Trust
has generally improved on last year.
Last year the Trust took a different approach to our
response to the staff survey whereby we focussed
on a small number of key areas for improvement.
As a result of this we have seen improvement in the
targeted areas, the Trust has improved its appraisal
rate and there have been increases in staff receiving
job-relevant training and learning and development.
Therefore, the Trust’s plan to improve areas
highlighted by the 2012 staff survey will include a
focus on management development on HR policies
for our middle managers, on-going improvement
in our appraisal process, significant communication
and staff engagement initiatives, infection control,
reporting concerns and improving our processes to
deal with harassment and bullying.

36

2012/13

3.7

Equality and Diversity

3.7.1 Play Fair
The Trust’s equality strategy is called ‘Play Fair’. A
revised summary version of this strategy covering
the whole Trust was re-launched in September
2012. This was created as an easy read accessible
version to embody work on-going in the Trust
around making information and documents more
accessible. ‘Play Fair’ includes our revised set of
simplified equality objectives and outlines things
we are doing as a Trust to promote equality and
challenge discrimination.
3.7.2 Equality Objectives
In line with the Equality Act (2010) we are required
to publish Equality Objectives for our organisation.
We are focussing on four new simplified objectives
which were formed through work with local
interests and staff consultation.
They are in the areas of:
• Ensure that ‘Play Fair’ is embedded into the
business and governance structures of the Trust
so that promoting equality and celebrating
diversity are a shared responsibility.
• Increase and make better use of the equality
information we gather to improve the
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•

•

experience of people who use our services and
our workforce.
Develop an inclusive working culture that values
equality and diversity and where staff feel
supported and equipped to treat people with
fairness and respect.
Build stronger relationships within our diverse
local communities to better understand their
needs, priorities and experiences in relation to
health and wellbeing.

3.7.3

Embedding Equality and Diversity
priorities across the organisation
This year we improved on the amount of equality
information we are required to publish as part of
our compliance with specific duties of the Equality
Act (2010). Available on our Trust website is
information relating to our Workforce, Learning and
Development, Membership, Volunteers, Experts by
Experience and those who use our services across
the Divisions. It reflects, as far as possible, the nine
personal characteristics as protected by the Equality
Act (2010) of: Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment,
Marriage & Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and
Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual
Orientation.
The NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS) was
evaluated nationally during 2012 and has shown to
be a useful tool to help Trusts be compliant with the
Equality Act. The EDS has helped us particularly to
consider how best we engage with local interests
and supports our focus to develop the ‘Play Fair’
strategy. The Trust has strengthened the line of
responsibility from the Board through to clinical
areas which ensures that equality work is embedded
across the organisation and so that issues can
be raised to make a difference to outcomes
and practise. Some of the areas currently being
considered include attitudes towards LGBT staff,
perceptions of racism within the Trust, Census data,
creating a transgender policy, and interpreting.
Further to this, the Trust is investing in staff to
ensure they are equipped and confident to respond
to and understand equality issues, through annual
mandatory training. Additionally, a more in-depth
cultural competency training will be rolled out from
April 2013 for public facing staff.
We continue to use EqIAs to help us help us to think
about how a policy, strategy, project, or service,
may impact differently on different people. They
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also help us to fulfil our legal obligations under
equality legislation by providing a way of carrying
out equality analysis. We now have over 150 EqIAs
completed and published on our Website. They
have accompanied all the policies required for
NHSLA, and have been crucial in processes around
changes to roles or de-commissioning of services.
As an example, they have been used at the planning
stages of major redesign at Penn Hospital with
special consideration being given to all nine personal
protected characteristics and human rights. As a
result, the new wards at Penn Hospital highlight
how the particular needs of different age and
gender groups have been met as well as identifying
the need for further work around making the
environment suitable for those with sight or hearing
difficulties. To meet the needs of people from
different faith backgrounds purpose built multifaith prayer rooms with washing facilities have been
included as an integral part of the design.
3.8

Key Developments During the Year

3.8.1

Mental Health - Penn Hospital Site
Redevelopment
Metal Health inpatient services in Wolverhampton
are provided at Penn Hospital. In 2011, the Trust
recognised that significant investment in the
facilities were required to ensure that services
meet the on-going needs of patients to aid their
advancement in treatment, rehabilitation and
recovery. This was affirmed by a Care Quality
Commission inspection which found a number of
issues with the physical build which could pose risks
to the effective delivery of clinical services.
Plans involving clinicians, commissioners and
technical experts were used to redesign the
existing Penn Hospital site in order that the physical
environment would enable the delivery of high
quality care. The refurbishment will provide all
bedrooms with ensuite facilities, separate female
and male lounges and better therapeutic space and
environment. In addition to the reprovision of the
two adult wards, the older adult ward (Cedar) will
also benefit from being relocated within the main
block into the same standard of accommodation.
The year-long programme of work (costing circa £10
million) started in April 2012 with the first phase
completed in early 2013 with the opening of the
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male ward and the older adult ward. The female
ward is due to open in August 2013.
3.8.2 PICU
The Male Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit is now
provided at the Macarthur Centre (West Bromwich).
This 12 bedded unit supports adult males with
severe mental health conditions, who need a short
period of intensive care to reduce risk to themselves
and to others and enable them to return safely to a
mainstream mental health ward.
3.8.3 Community Mental Health Services
Mental health services in Wolverhampton saw the
implementation of the final stages of a three year
strategy. Significant work was undertaken to create
a Complex Care team which went live in June 2012.
Previously three Community Mental Health Teams
and an Assertive Outreach team, this new service
is based on a stepped care model. By supporting
it with a Wellbeing Service that focuses on service
users with less complex needs, the Complex Care
service is able to work with a smaller caseload of
Service users. This means the team can concentrate
their efforts on helping this more intensive group of
clients on a recovery pathway. It also allows staff to
spend more time with service users at home rather
than in outpatient settings.
Alongside the Complex Care team is the Referral
Assessment Service. This will be the single point of
contact for referrals into Wolverhampton mental
health services. Work has been done with GPs
to develop this service, and this has resulted in a
greater emphasis on GPs actively assessing needs
prior to referral.
During 2012/13, a new model of service for
community mental health in Sandwell has been
developed. This focuses on making access to our
Adult and Older Adult services easier through
a single point of access and clarifying and
enhancing the role of our community teams. The
Transformation Team will be working with frontline
clinicians during 2013/14 to develop the detail of
this model and start its implementation.
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3.8.4 Learning Disabilities
The Trust’s Learning Disability Strategy was
approved by the Trust Board in October 2011 and
has been endorsed by Commissioners across the
Black Country. This strategy is consistent with
the recommendations of both the interim (June
2012) and the final Winterborne View Reports
(December 2012). The Trust is focused on enhancing
community services and reducing reliance on
inpatient beds, particularly for acute assessment.
The Trust has already implemented some models
in line with this Strategy, for example the
establishment of a Community Behavioural Support
Team in Sandwell has reduced the likelihood
of service users going into crisis and needing
hospital admission. Specifically for assessment
and treatment services, a 16 week care pathway
has been developed, endorsed by Black Country
Commissioners which provides checkpoints and a
duration in which someone would normally receive
a service.
The Trust has also focused on reducing the number
of delayed transfers of care, although this is often
impacted by the number of placements available
under Local Authority social care. These initiatives
focus on ensuring that service users are only in
hospital when needed and do not stay in hospital
any longer than is necessary.
The Strategy over the next three years, supported
by Commissioners, aims to extend the range of
specialist learning disability services available across
the Black Country, whilst enhancing community
support.
To afford these improvements, it is recognised that
inpatient services will need to be provided from a
smaller number of sites. It is also recognised that
under Winterbourne a number of service users will
be repatriated to the local area will inform the Trust’s
future configuration of services. The Trust aims to
develop services specifically for those presenting
with challenging behaviour; separate male and
female units and enhancement to low secure and
step down services. The Trust will be exploring the
possibility of operating some of these services in
partnership.
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3.8.5

Children Young People and their
Families (CYPF)
In universal children’s services, commissioners have
continued to articulate a desire to develop more
integrated models of service delivery between
Dudley CCG and Dudley Metropolitan Borough
Council. The delivery of children’s services will also
focus on the Healthy Child Programme, emphasising
prevention, protection and health promotion,
ensuring that there is early help and advice available
to young people at the times when they need
it. We aim to reduce duplication, enhance early
intervention and ultimately secure better outcomes
for children, young people and families.
As a Trust, we have recruited to health visiting
roles as part of the national ‘Call to Action’, this
has included service modelling, re-structuring and
re-design of the health visiting service. The phased
investment in additional health visitors will mean an
additional 17 staff by 2015.
Phased implementation of a Family Nurse
Partnership (FNP) service has meant 6 more FNP
practitioners in 2012 (and subject to their success) a
further five planning to start in 2013.
Additionally, public health commissioners have
supported us in a one year pilot for an additional
four peer support workers to improve breast feeding
initiation rates across the Dudley locality.
Coupled with this, the Trust continues to enhance
its Early Intervention services, CAMHS and eating
disorders to detect issues early in life and support
the recovery of individuals proactively before more
serious problems develop.
3.9
Market/Operating Environment
A significant proportion of the Trusts services are
either funded directly or jointly by health and
local authority funding streams. The economic
environment continues to pose risks to the Trust
as commissioners seek to prioritise funding and
find value for money through significant redesign
programmes including tendering of existing
services. This can potentially destabilise the
delivery of services currently provided by the Trust
and may in some cases fragment pathways. The
pooled arrangements themselves become risks to
commissioners as individual health and social care
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contributions have different pressures and this too
becomes a challenge to continuity in funding.
The radical re-shaping of the commissioning
landscape resulting from the Health and Social
Care Act 2012 means that GPs are responsible for
managing the majority of NHS budgets in future.
The commissioning infrastructure nationally and
locally sees Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs)
taking the lead in contracting for the majority of
the Trust’s existing contracts (transferring from
PCTs). However, the NHS Commissioning Board
will commission specialist services (forensic learning
disabilities) and health visiting before the latter is
transferred to public health services alongside school
nursing.
Further changes see the increased penetration of
third sector and independent sector providers in
traditional NHS markets. It is anticipated that this
will continue as services are increasingly tendered.
However, providers will also need to be responsive
to the Francis Report and Winterbourne View
recommendations as commissioners review their
commissioning processes. This will include ensuring
that providers actively seek and react to patient
feedback.
3.10

Developments Planned

3.10.1 Transformation Programme
The Transformation Programme is a Trust-wide
agenda aiming to deliver large scale change within
the organisation. It is owned at Board level and
delivered through clinical divisions and corporate
services. The programme will focus on the following
key objectives:
•
•
•
•

To develop models of care
To implement the outcomes from service reviews
To support organisational development
Work with ICT and Information to implement IT
developments

Notable clinical service developments include the
following:
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Division
Mental Health

Service Development
Transforming
Community Services
adults of all ages
(not including Early
Intervention)

Description
All community services
in Sandwell will be going
through a process of
transformation.
The model that is in existence
does not support the primary
care model and is difficult for
service users, their carers and
professionals to navigate.

2013

Quality Improvements
A service that is easy
to navigate reduces
assessments and
reduces the risk of
service users not
receiving the most
appropriate care for
their needs.

The Transformation team will
be working with the division
to introduce a single point of
access service for over 18s.
In addition, where clinically
appropriate, the Trust will
work with GPs to support
some patients(deemed as
stable) to move back into
primary care, allowing
secondary care to support
those with more complex
mental and physical health
needs
Mental Health

Transforming older
adult inpatient care at
Edward Street Hospital
and the formation of
the Resource Hub

The older adult service in
Sandwell has been successful
in the stage 1 Department of
Health (DoH) dementia bid.
This bid (known as the
Lighthouse Project) will
enable Edward Street Hospital
to provide a community hub
for Sandwell residents and
professionals.
The project also supports
the refurbishment of the
unit providing 36 beds for
older adults with functional
or dementia related illness
and will also allow funding
to transfer from hospital
to community (crisis/home
treatment) services.
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If successful, this
development will
enable the release of
funding to develop
the environment and
improve staffing levels.
The project will
also support a new
community model.
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Division
Mental Health

Service Development
Estates development
examining inpatient/
bed need in both
adults and older adult
services.

Description
During 2013 the Penn
Hospital redevelopment will
have completed.
This work will result in the
Trust having fit for purpose
acute hospital wards for both
adults and older people in
Wolverhampton.

2013

Quality Improvements
Improved Environment
Equity of service
provision for both
males and female PICU
reducing the need for
out of area beds.

The development will also
provide a fully functional 136
suite and extra care facilities.
Trust to examine the
opportunity for female
Psychiatric Intensive Care
(PICU) services.

Learning
Disabilities

Community Services
Hub and Improved
Community Response

A Community Services Hub
located in each of the Black
Country localities to offer a
central point of contact to all
services.
The hubs will offer a facility
for the community to use
safely and easily.

To support:
- Keeping people well
- Respond quickly and
effectively
– Respond
appropriately to
crisis, - Resolution
at home where
possible.

The redesign of the
assessment and treatment
pathway will mean that more
people are maintained in the
community in an environment
which is familiar to them.
Improved access to
community service and an
improved multi-disciplinary
team approach will all
assist in reducing the
admission rate by reducing
the incidence of crisis and
ensuring an appropriate and
responsive service.
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Division
Learning
Disabilities

Service Development
Inpatient Services

Description
The Trust currently has a
total of 62 inpatient beds
located throughout the area.
These cover both forensic
services and assessment and
treatment.
As part of the Learning
Disability Service
Transformation Programme,
work has been undertaken
on the design and delivery
of assessment and treatment
services including the
development of a 16 week
pathway.

2013

Quality Improvements
The implementation of
the 16 week pathway
and the improved
community pathways
will further reduce
lengths of stay and
result in reductions in
bed numbers whilst
improving outcomes
for service users.

Through improving the
community response, it is
envisaged that over a period
of three years, there is the
potential to almost halve the
total number of assessment
and treatment inpatient beds
for the Black Country.
CYPF

Pre-School Services

Extension of Family Nurse
Partnership, Health visiting
and Breast Feeding Buddies
programmes.

Enhanced pre-school
services improving
access and outcomes.

CYPF

School Age Services

Enable the release of capacity
through service re-design,
reduction in duplication and
a skill mix review (with the
introduction of new roles).

Create capacity to
provide a modern
all- year round service
for up to 18 years of
age (currently term
time only and up to 16
years).

CYPF

Children with
Additional Needs

Development of children’s
complex care and palliative
care service Tiers 1 to 4
(from clinic at home at tier
1 to paediatric end of life at
tier 4).

Address the gaps in
provision resulting
from fragmented
commissioning and
duplication across
health; education
and local authority
agencies.

Work force re-design and
integration of therapy
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Division

Service Development

Description
services and care pathways to
enable seamless and
co-ordinated intervention.
Single point of contact with
one referral process

2013

Quality Improvements
Ensure children
and young people
have responsive and
equitable access to
community based
health care provision.

Review of estate and service
co-location options with
voluntary sector
Review and transfer of
child assessment unit from
hospital to community based
peripatetic outreach service.
Expansion of specialist
nursing teams/long term
conditions services such as:
haemoglobinopathy, Asthma,
Diabetes, Epilepsy and
continence services.
CYPF

Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Service
(CAMHS)

Develop and enhance
crisis and home treatment
services across Sandwell and
Wolverhampton.
Development of single point
of access.
Develop a Young Adult
Service - The Trust will
continue to hold discussions
with commissioners and
other stakeholders regarding
the on-going development
of a Young Adults Service.
The intention is to develop
a service that can support
young people with mental
health problems (with and
without learning disabilities)
that will support them from
16-25 years of age.

A single point of access
will allow the Trust to
ensure that there is a
centralised, effective
mechanism of referral
management and
allocation; this will
include clinical triage
and management of
referrals.
Between the ages
16 and 25 is when
young people are
most vulnerable to
developing mental
health problems and
a seamless provision
anchored within
young people services
would help to reduce
any unsettlement for
young people that can
often arise at points of
transition.

43

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts

2013

3.11 Quality Governance Arrangements
Following on from the internal audit review of
Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework and a
new quality strategy being approved by the Board
of Directors, work commenced during the year, on
the development of a quality dashboard. This tool
has been reported to the Board of Directors during
2012/13. It is viewed as a work in progress and
further developments are planned for 2013/14. In
particular the Board of Directors had requested
greater interrogation of performance, finance,
quality and human resource information.

had “undertaken a significant amount of work to
improve the service provided at this location” and
found the Organisation to be compliant with these
regulations.

Work has continued to further develop
opportunities for members of the Board of Directors
to gain positive assurance regarding safety and
quality. The Board of Directors have continued to
hear “patient stories” in private sessions before
the Board of Directors meetings. In addition
during 2012/13 the Board of Directors agreed to
developing opportunities to receive “staff stories”.
The first of these were heard at the Governance
Committee towards the end of this reporting
period.

3.13 Research and Development
During 2012/13 the Trust with the support of the
Mental Health Research Network undertook a gap
analysis to identify the organisations readiness to
participate in commercial research studies. The
work identified a number of areas for development
which taken together would require significant
capacity to achieve. The Trust has agreed to revisit
the outcome of the gap analysis in 2013/14.

The format of the Governance Committee has also
been reviewed in 2012/2013. The new format
allows for more detailed exploration of themes
based on the areas of patient safety, patient
outcomes and patient experience.
3.12

Registration with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC)
The Board of Directors has continued to be
registered with the CQC for all the activities it
undertakes and without conditions.
During 2012 however the CQC did issue three
warning letters to the Trust in respect of activity at
Penn Hospital.
These warning notices followed on from a visit in
April 2012. The areas of concern related to:
• Regulation 10 – Assessing and monitoring the
quality of service provision
• Regulation 18 – Consent to care and treatment
• Regulation 9 – Care and welfare of service users
The Board of Directors acted swiftly and put a
Quality Improvement Business Plan in place. This
plan addressed the issues raised and a follow up visit
by the CQC in July 2012 found that the organisation
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A large scale estates project is on-going on the Penn
Hospital site. It will be completed in the early part
of 2013/14. The CQC are aware of and supportive
of this work and the Trust is confident that this will
produce a significantly improved and a high quality
improvement for people who use the service at
Penn Hospital.

With regard to portfolio research the Trust was
confirmed to exceed recruitment targets and was
a net gainer in funding to support Clinical Studies
Officers for 2013/14.
3.14 Health and Fire Safety
The Trust is committed to ensuring the health and
safety of its staff, people who use services, visitors
and onsite contractors.
An audit of compliance regarding health and safety
was carried out prior to the start of 2012/13 and has
developed a work programme for this year. Progress
against this work programme has been monitored
through the Health and Safety Group and its parent
group the Care Governance Committee.
During 2012/13 a new post dedicated to fire safety
was developed to ensure that as an enlarged
organisation there is sufficient capacity to ensure fire
safety compliance.
3.15

Improve service user and carer
experience – priorities
A creative strategy has been developed and service
users are encouraged to express their feeling
through art, which has resulted in service users
displaying their art work and generating income to
take forward further creative activities.
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Maintaining privacy and dignity of patients and
service users is also a key priority for us and is a key
measure in our audit activity programme. Numerous
audits were conducted by service users and “experts
by experience” across a number of services this
year and unannounced dignity walk rounds were
also conducted within in in-patient services. Service
users agreed that most staff treated them with
privacy and dignity but that it could be dependent
on the member of staff. As a result of this top tips
for promoting dignity have been developed and
dignity champions within all service areas have been
identified
Further priority areas that will be taken forward in
2013/14 include:
• Review of recruitment processes to ensure staff
are recruited who demonstrate the right values
as well as the right skill set
• Roll out of the competency framework to ensure
staff have the right skill set to deliver high
quality care
• The development and roll out of a family friendly
survey test for all in-patient users
• The development and roll out of additional ways
to capture a patients experience of using our
services.
3.16

Improve the accessibility and quality of
information currently available to
service users and carers
All complaints and concerns are currently reported
monthly to service areas and issues are discussed.
Areas where it is felt improvements could be made
are taken forward and reported through to the
Board of Directors.
We are currently mapping all existing involvement
activity and the information service users receive to
determine what we need to develop and how we
can coordinate a consistent approach in involvement
and experience activity across the Trust. Although
there are good examples of effective partnership
working with service users, there needs to be a
clearer strategic direction and coordination of
involvement and its link with improving service user
experience.

•
•
•
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Development of a Patient Experience Strategy to
provide strategic direction
Review of current patient information
literature to streamline literature and ensure all
information meets identified standards
Review the ways in which information is passed
on to service users e.g. Information Boards
in waiting areas, consultation events and the
development of partnerships with partner
agencies

3.17 National Patient Satisfaction Survey
The National Community Mental Health Survey
was completed in 2012 and an action plan was
developed by the Adult Mental Health Community
Services.
The survey indicated a poor response from users,
following the key areas:
• Talking Therapy
• User Satisfaction
• Day to Day Living
• Care Plans
An action plan was developed to address shortfalls
in the key areas.
3.17.1 Talking Therapy
The survey identified that users felt they had not
received talking therapy and the plan was to
improve users understanding and awareness of
talking therapies. Many actions were consistent
across the services and the teams are working
to ensure users have a clear understanding of
psychological terminology without the over-use of
jargon.
Staff in these services is encouraged to use their
skills and appropriate terminology during one to
one interventions with users, in reviews and all
correspondence. Care Plans should also reflect the
use of psychological therapies, identifying the users’
specific goals.
Staff have access to on-going Cognitive Behavioural
Therapy supervision which will improve the
psychological competencies of staff and ultimately
reflect on the quality of talking therapies delivered.

As such, the following priorities will be continued in
the forth coming year to demonstrate how we will
get there:
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3.17.2 User Satisfaction
The services intend to obtain feedback from users
following a period of intervention through the use
of satisfaction surveys and focus groups.
3.17.3 Day to Day Living
Health Minds and Wellbeing Service initial
assessments will include a screen for preventative
physical health and pathways between the service
and Healthy Lifestyles Service.
Complex Care has trained 34 staff in Making Every
Contact Counts (MECC) to assess and address the
physical health needs of service users in partnership
with general practice. Referrals are being made to
healthy lifestyles in line with good practice. MECC
champions are being established.
3.17.4 Care Plan
The user survey indicated that some users did not
have a care plan, they did not understand their
content or purpose, and that mental health services
had not helped the user to achieve their goals or
identified what they should do in a crisis.
Healthy Minds and Wellbeing Services plan to
produce an integrated treatment contract to include
personal goals and agreed treatment plan along
with a statement of responsibilities (client and staff),
information on crisis services and a statement of
services agreed with the patient with review date.
The assessment, care planning and review process
has been redesigned in Complex Care and is
currently in a pilot phase. Their aim is to ensure
that all care plans contain information about goals
and crisis management as appropriate, are regularly
updated and independently audited to ensure
compliance with Trust policies.
The Recovery Services highlighted that care coordinators use a client centred approach, spending
time with users explaining the purpose of their
reviews and care plans. The users are given a team
leaflet prior to their assessment which includes
details of care planning while in the service.
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3.17.5 Summary
There are strong indications of positive actions
being undertaken by the services to improve the
user satisfaction; in particular, with talking therapies
and care plans. This is a continuous process of
developments, implementation, monitoring,
review and evaluation. The Adult Mental Health
Community Services Managers are committed to
improving the quality of their services to obtain
better outcomes and experiences for users.
3.18 Financial Performance
This report relates to the twelve-month period from
1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013.
The Trust has reported a surplus on income and
expenditure (excluding impairments) of £1.6m
for the period, against an original plan surplus of
£1.6m.
Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA) for the year was £3.8m
(3.6%) compared to the plan of £3.5m (3.3%).
Income received during the year was £1.2m lower
than that received in 2011/12 due in the main
to the decommissioned services of integrated
psychotherapy service, Sandwell drug services
and group homes, being partially offset by overperformance on activity related income and the
provision of additional activity by the Trust for which
there was a corresponding additional costs incurred.
During 2012/13 the Trust received 86% of its
income from other NHS organisations and 14%
from local authorities or private entities.
Income received that is classed as other operating
income £2.7m has been used to support education
and training (£2.2m), mental health research
(£0.2m), canteen provision (£0.2m), other (£0.1m).
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Key performance measures for the Trust were as outlined below:
•

Risk ratings:
Q1
2011/12

Q2
2011/12

Q3
2011/12

Q4
2011/12

Annual
Plan
2011/12

Plan

3

3

3

3

3

Actual

3

3

3

3

3

Amber Red

Amber Red

Amber Red

Amber Red

Q1
2012/13

Q2
2012/13

Q3
2012/13

Q4
2012/13

Annual
Plan
2012/13

Plan

3

3

3

3

3

Actual

3

3

3

3

3

Plan

Red

Red

Green

Green

Actual

Red

Green

Green

Green

Financial Risk Rating
Plan
Governace Risk
Rating

Actual

Financial Risk Rating

Governace Risk
Rating

Over the last two financial years the Trust has maintained a stable financial risk rating of a 3 in line with its
Annual Plan.
•

Surplus for the financial year:
Plan £M

Actual £M

Variance £M

2011/12

1.19

-0.53

-1.72

2012/13

1.57

1.49

-0.08
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A loss on revaluation of £0.095m was taken to the Income and Expenditure Account during 2012/13, of which
£0.065m related to Heath Lane site and £0.03m related to Delta House where no corresponding balances were
held in the revaluation reserve.
Within the financial position 2011/12 a “loss on revaluation and disposals” of assets was accounted for
totalling £1.5m, of which £1.3m related to the disposal of Metro Court.
•

Cash balance:
Plan £M

Actual £M

Variance £M

2011/12

7.96

8.91

0.95

2012/13

11.72

15.35

3.63

Plan £M

Actual £M

Variance £M

Operating Income

105.3

108.2

2.9

Operating Expenses

-101.8

-104.4

-2.6

EBITDA

3.5

3.8

-0.3

Non-Operating Income
and Expenditure

-1.9

-2.2

0.3

Net Surplus/(Deficit)
(excluding loss on
revaluation)

1.6

1.6

0.0

Loss on Revaluation

-

-0.1

-0.1

Table 1: Summary of Overall Financial Performance 2012/13

During 2012/13 the income received was £2.9m
above plan for a number of reasons. £1.2m of
this relates to income contracts over-performing;
£0.5m relates to charges made to Wolverhampton
PCT for mental health services received not
contracted for (off-set by bad debt provision);
£0.8m relating to Children Young People and
Families (CYPF) developments.
Although the income received in 2012/13 was
well above plan, the Trust has had to increase the
bad debt provision to £1.1m which is significantly
higher than previously. This provision has partly
been driven by structural changes in the NHS and
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the risk of legacy issues post April 2013. The Trust
has continued to have difficulties in receiving owed
funds from councils (Wolverhampton, Sandwell
and Staffordshire), but expects that some changes
to commissioning arrangements will alleviate
this issue. Given the level of bad debt provision
in 2012/13 compared to previous years the Trust
intends to improve credit control checks and
challenge Commissioners at an earlier stage in the
process to act on non-payment/disputed charges.
The largest proportion of the Trust’s costs have
been managed to plan in 2012/13 with pay costs
only exceeding plan by £0.7m (less than 1%
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variance to plan). The majority of that (£0.6m) was
caused by the transfer of facilities management
services at Hallam (PFI) in–house. The costs also
included provision for potential redundancies
caused by decommissioning and service redesign
that were higher than had been originally planned.
Reducing agency costs for Wolverhampton mental
health services was identified as a key efficiency
requirement after the transfer of Transforming
Community Services (TCS) services. The Trust has
successfully managed to reduce these costs more
quickly than planned and therefore offset the
pressures from redundancy provisions. Costs on
agency continue to be above the target level set by
the Trust and therefore this will continue to form
part of the Cost Improvement Programme (CIP).
The higher than normal provisions on employment
tribunals, and bad debts has been offset by the
benefits described on the income position. The
Trust seeks compensation via the indemnities in
the Business Transfer Agreement (between the
Trust and the former PCT) to recover some of these
costs such as the redundancy costs incurred as
part of the decommissioning of drug services in
Wolverhampton.
3.18.1 Capital Investment
Dividend payments made by the Trust on past
capital expenditure as an NHS Trust were £0.49m in
September 2012 and £0.13m in March 2013.

2013

Capital expenditure incurred during the year was
£0.99m of which the majority of expenditure was
on schemes as shown in Table 2.
Scheme Name

Expenditure £000s

IT Programme and new
Ledger system

492

Edward Street Hospital

136

Hallam Street Hospital

247

Heath Lane Hospital

30

Other

87

During 2012/13 the Trust also managed significant
works at Penn Hospital, Wolverhampton on behalf
of Wolverhampton PCT – the owner of the property
until 1st April 2013. As it was expected that the
Trust would take ownership of the asset under TCS
it was agreed that the Trust would manage the
£10.2m project. The PCT contributed £8.5m of the
funding with the balance being funded from Trust
resources.

Operating as a Foundation Trust, capital funds are
expected to be sourced internally (accumulated
surplus and depreciation charges) or through an
interest-bearing loan. A Prudential Borrowing Limit
is set by Monitor (the former Independent Regulator
for Foundation Trusts), which for the Trust is as
follows:
•
•

Maximum cumulative long term borrowing of
£15.0m, and
Approved working capital facility not greater
than £8.3m.

As at 31st March 2013, the Trust had not required
any external finance, or used its working capital
facility.
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3.18.2 Liquidity and Cash Management
The cashflow summary for 2012/13 is shown in Table 3 below:

EBITDA
Net movement in Current Receivables
Net movement in Creditors (payables)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
Capital expenditure
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing
Net interest
PDC dividends (paid)
PDC dividends (received)
Capital Payment of PFI
Interest Payment of PFI
Net cash inflow/outflow
Period Start Cash
Period end cash

The significant variances on PDC dividends received
was caused by the transfer of assets under TCS
occurring on 1st April 2013 rather than originally
anticipated on 31st March 2013. This also resulted
in the savings made on dividends paid as they
are based on the value of assets; and most of the
variance on capital expenditure.
3.19 Change in Accounting Treatment of PFI
The Trust’s Hallam Hospital, used for adult mental
health services, is a Private Finance Initiative (PFI).
The unit was opened in February 2000 as the first
PFI in the West Midlands. The business case for
the unit was completed in the mid-1990s and at
the time PFI was the only way of funding such a
development for the Trust.
The financial assumptions within the accounts
have changed, with the PFI being transferred from
being off-balance sheet in 2011/12 to on-balance
sheet in 2012/13 following a review of the relevant
International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee Standards (IFRIC’s)
and agreement with the Trust’s new external audit
providers.
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Plan
£m
3.5
1.0
1.2
5.7
-22.5
-16.8
0.1
-1.0
20.5
0.0
0.0
2.8

Actual
£m
3.8
0.5
1.4
5.7
1.8
7.5
0.1
-0.6
0.0
-0.1
-0.5
6.4

Variance
£m
0.3
-0.5
0.2
0.0
24.3
24.3
0.0
0.4
-20.5
-0.1
-0.5
3.6

8.9

8.9

0.0

11.7

15.3

3.6

In arriving at the new assumption the Trust explored
the following issues:
1. Extract from FT Annual Reporting Manual (ARM)
identifying whether the arrangement meets
the criteria of IFRIC 12 – Service Concession
Arrangements shown in italics. Trust assessment
shown in normal font below each extract:
To determine the appropriate accounting
treatment of a PFI scheme the NHS foundation
trust should, in the first instance, determine
whether the scheme falls within the scope of
IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’. A
scheme will be within the IFRIC’s scope where
an infrastructure asset is constructed or acquired
for the scheme, or is a pre-existing asset of the
NHS foundation trust or of the operator and:
(i) The NHS foundation trust controls or
regulates what services the operator
must provide with the property, to
whom it must provide them and at what
price; and

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
Trust view – The operator must provide services
as set out in the specification, and must comply
with the Method Statements and the terms
and conditions of agreement and contract
documents. Should the operator wish to make
any changes to this they must submit the
proposed variation to the Trust director who
must give written approval, and the operator
shall not be entitled to exclusive occupation
possession or to use the site or the premises and
shall not at any time or in any manner do any
act which may impede the Trust or any person
authorised by the Trust in the proper exercise of
the Trust’s rights of possession and control
of the site or the premises. In addition as the
Trust is able to terminate the agreement at the
expiry of 25 years or every five years following
that date provided that 36 months notice is
provided and at the expiry of 40 years the
agreement expires the Trust considers that it has
control over the residual value of the asset.
(ii) The NHS foundation trust controls –
through beneficial entitlement or otherwise
– any significant residual interest in the
infrastructure at the end of the term of the
arrangement (in accordance with paragraph
6 of the IFRIC, where the residual interest
is not significant because the property has
been used for its entire useful life during
the scheme, this second criteria should be
ignored).
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2. Extract from FT ARM:
Where a scheme falls within the scope of IFRIC
12, the NHS foundation trust should recognise
an asset of the property and a corresponding
financial liability. The annual unitary payment
should be separated between an amount
for services and an amount for property.
The services element should be recognised
in operating expenses to reflect the services
received. The property element should be split
between repayment of the financial liability
and an annual finance charge calculated using
the implicit rate of interest in the scheme in
accordance with the principles of IAS 17.
Given the above the Trust has made the
necessary adjustments to the accounts and now
includes the value of the asset on the balance
sheet with associated entries for the outstanding
debt, the service element and lifecycle costs as a
charge within operating expenses split out from
depreciation and finance costs.

Trust view – the land is owned by the Trust and
the building reverts back to the Trust at 40 years.
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Financial Outlook

The financial projections for the Trust for the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 are shown in Table 4.
Table 4: Financial Projections 2013/14 to 2015/16
2013/14 £M

2014/15 £M

2015/16 £M

Income

100.3

97.8

96.7

Operating Expenses

-96.0

-92.4

-91.0

EBITDA Margin

4.3

5.4

5.7

Non-Operating Income and
Expenditure

-2.7

-3.6

-3.9

Surplus Margin

1.6

1.8

1.8

These are based on the following inflation and cost assumptions, shown in Table 5.
Table 5: Key Assumptions in Financial Projections 2013/14 to 2015/2016
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

Income Inflation

-1.3%

-1.3%

-1.3%

Pay Inflation

1.0%

1.0%

1.0%

Drug Inflation

3.2%

3.3%

3.4%

Clinical Supplies and Services
Inflation

3.2%

3.3%

3.4%

PFI Inflation

3.2%

3.3%

3.4%

The anticipated financial risk ratings resulting from the projections are shown in Table 6 below.
The financial forecasts have been developed in consultation with budget holders based on prior year
performance and taking account of service changes highlighted in the Trust’s Business Plan.
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Table 6: Anticipated Financial Risk Ratings 2013/2014 to 2015/16
Weighting

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

EBITDA Margin

25%

2 (4.3%)

3 (5.6%)

3 (6.0%)

EBITDA Plan

10%

5 (110.5%)

5 (110.5%)

5 (110.5%)

Return on Assets

20%

5 (4.0%)

5 (3.4%)

5 (3.3%)

I&E Surplus Margin

20%

3 (1.6%)

3 (1.8%)

3 (1.9%)

Liquidity Ratio

25%

4 (33.3)

4 (25.1)

4 (28.4)

3.6

3.9

3.9

3

4

4

Weighted Average
Risk Score

Given the challenging economic climate, the future financial health of the Trust will depend significantly on the
ability to identify and secure recurring cost efficiencies whilst building upon the quality of services provided.
Table 7 below shows the level of planned efficiencies required over the next three years.
Table 7: Efficiency Savings Required 2013/14 to 2015/16
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

6.7

5.7

4.8

6.9%

6.0%

5.2%

Cost Efficiencies (£M)
As a % of relevant Operating Cost

In response to the expected efficiency requirement, the Trust has developed plans that are expected to produce
recurrent savings; the key programmes are shown in Table 8 below.
Table 8: Planned Efficiency Savings 2013/2014 to 2015/16
2013/14 £M

2014/15 £M

2015/16 £M

Workforce, Pay and Conditions

0.4

0.7

0.7

Financial and Budgetary Controls

3.7

1.6

0.6

Infrastructure and Procurement

1.3

0.5

0.4

Service Redesign and Transformation

1.2

1.7

2.3

Productivity and Service Line Management

0.1

1.2

0.8

TOTAL

6.7

5.7

4.8
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The Trust uses a programme management
approach to the delivery of significant CIPs. The
schemes are a mixture of cost savings, which are
generally managed by budget managers, and
transformational schemes which are supported
by Transformation leads in each of the Divisions.
The Trust is also managing schemes through the
Infrastructure strategy implementation group which
oversees the schemes associated with IT and estates.

•

The further development of service line reporting
and patient level costing is key to ensuring that the
Trust, and all services, are financially sustainable
in the future and will mitigate some of the risk
associated with the move towards payment by
results in Mental Health.

•

The Trust is able to confirm that there are no
significant issues since the balance sheet date
that have had an impact on the Foundation Trust
accounts.
3.21 Risks to objectives
The management of risks is a key duty of the Board
of Directors, which regularly reviews the register
of those significant risks that if not addressed
and managed, would potentially compromise
the ability of the Trust to either fulfil its statutory
and contractual obligations or deliver its strategic
objectives.
Through its review processes the Board of Directors
has identified the following key risks as it moves
forward:
• a potential inability to generate recurring
efficiency savings to the level required, without
impairing the quality of service provision
• the potential adverse effect on services and
consequent loss of service income due to the
absence of clear commissioning intentions
• not being able to maintain compliance with the
Care Quality Commission registration standards
for services provided
• not being able to meet the requirements of
the new license (effective from 1st April 2013)
as prescribed by “Monitor”, the health sector
regulator
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•

•
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the demise of models of integrated care,
as Local Authorities seek to retract from
established partnership agreements and/or
impose reductions in funding of associated
services
the inability to deliver the infrastructure
strategy to required timescales and within
planned budget, thereby adversely affecting
the transformation and cost improvement
programme
the possibility that the Trust will be unable to
tender for and/or lose tenders for new and
existing services that the commissioners decide
to market test
the uncertainty as to the introduction of a
national tariff (“payment by results”) for mental
health services may result in commissioners
seeking to arbitrarily reduce contract values

Plans to mitigate these risks have been developed
and will be managed by lead directors agreed by
the Board, and progress in delivering the mitigation
plans is regularly monitored by both the Executive
Committee and the Board of Directors.
3.22 Audit Arrangements
The External Auditors to the Trust are Deloitte LLP, 4
Brindley Place, Birmingham, B1 2HZ.
Their remuneration for 2012/13 was £46,800.
Additional work relating to the Trust’s Quality Report
was conducted at a cost of £12,000.
Where the Trusts Auditors provide non-audit
services, these would be considered on a case by
case basis, by the Board of Directors to ensure the
Auditors independence would not be compromised.
Such appointments would be reported to the
Audit Committee which would receive reports on
outcomes of their work.
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3.23 Counter Fraud Arrangements
The Trust employs its own Local Counter Fraud
Specialist who is accountable to the Director of
Resources.
The Audit Committee receive and review reports
on counter fraud activities and associated
recommendations.
There were seven referrals received and investigated
during the year, notwithstanding a number of
enquiries from managers and staff across the Trust,
which the LCFS gave advice and guidance but
which, did not require an investigation.
Examples of the additional activities undertaken are:
• On-going work regarding staff having correct
paperwork/permits to work at the Trust
• Liaison with external agencies i.e. UK Border
Agency, local police, HMRC.
• Promotion of fraud awareness, including
presentations and corporate induction
• Setting up and maintenance of joint protocols
with internal/external departments i.e. human
resources, communications, and internal audit
• As a member of the Policy Ratification Group the review of all Trust policies and procedures for
‘fraud-proofing’
• Undertaking of mandatory national and local
exercises i.e. recruitment agencies, creditor
data for the Trust, staff timesheets, Trust mobile
telephones
• Continuing liaison with internal and external
audit and internal departments i.e. human
resources, communications
• Issuing LCFS staff survey to all staff in order to
assist in tailoring fraud work plans to cover any
risks which may apply to the Trust
• Undertaking the Audit Commissions ‘National
Fraud Initiative’, in analysing and working on
relevant matches from other Trusts and local
authorities.
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3.25 Risk in the use of Financial Instruments
There are no identified risks in the use of financial
instruments.
3.26 Pension and Remuneration
Accounting Policies for pensions and other
retirement benefits are set out in note 1.4 to
the accounts. Details of senior employees’
remuneration can be found in page 68 of the
remuneration report.
3.27 Significant events Post 31st March 2013
Following changes in the NHS resulting from the
Transforming Community Services agenda, services
were transferred from Wolverhampton PCT, Dudley
PCT and Walsall PCT during 2011/12.
Further to this, the Department of Health, in
August 2011, issued formal guidance setting out
the arrangements for the future of the PCT-owned
estate and its transfer to new owners or retention
by the PCT.
On 1st April 2013 the Trust acquired four properties
from Wolverhampton PCT, namely Penn Hospital,
Pond Lane, Brooklands Parade and Steps to Health
and two properties from Walsall PCT, namely
Orchard Hills House and Daisybank. In total these
assets are valued at c. £20m.
The Trust is not expected to make any further
significant estate acquisitions in the new financial
year.
3.28 Going Concern
After making enquiries, the Board of Directors has a
reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate
resources to enable it to continue to operate for the
foreseeable future and for this reason has continued
to adopt the ‘Going Concern’ basis in preparing the
accounts.

3.24 Statement as to disclosure to Auditors
As far as the directors are aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware, and that the directors have taken all of
the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditors
are aware of that information.
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Section 4
1

Remuneration
About theReport
Trust

Staff and client in the courtyard at the Gerry Simon Clinic, Sandwell
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4.1
The Remuneration Committee
In accordance with the Constitution of the
Trust and “The Code of Governance for NHS
Foundation Trusts”, as issued by “Monitor”, the
Board of Directors has established a Remuneration
Committee, whose membership is comprised
wholly of Non-Executive Directors, to determine the
remuneration and terms and conditions of Executive
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Directors and other very senior management
posts that are not governed by those nationally
negotiated frameworks, such as “Agenda for
Change”.
Attendance at meetings of the Committee during
2012/13 is provided in the table below.

The Remuneration Committee
Name

Attendance
Actual/Possible
3/3
1/3
2/3
2/3
2/3
3/3
3/3

Mr Parmjit Sahota (Chair)
Mrs Vicky Harris
Mr Bob Piper
Mr Paul Riley
Mrs Jackie Smart
Mr Bryan Stock
Mrs Pauline Werhun CBE

During the year the Committee has in accordance
with its agreed Remuneration Policy:
•
•

•
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agreed to increase the annual remuneration of
the Director of Workforce
maintained remuneration levels for all positions
at the same level prevailing at 31st March
2011until 31st March 2013. Thereafter the
committee has agreed increases in remuneration
of Executive and Board level directors effective
from 1st April 2013, such increases being
considered following the benchmarking of
remuneration of comparable positions within
the NHS Foundation Trust sector, and that
increases in subsequent years would be subject
to the satisfactory performance of the individual
director.
completed a review of the remuneration for
Associate Hospital Managers in respect of their
duties under the Mental Health Act 1983 and
agreed a moderate increase in the sessional
payment made

•

recommended proposals for the development of
a local pay framework for other levels of senior
management

The Board of Directors confirms that no Executive
Director held other Non-Executive Directorships
within other bodies during 2012/13.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive
Dated: 22nd May 2013
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2012/13 Salary Entitlements of Senior Managers
2012/13
Remuneration

2011/12

Salary

Benefits
in Kind

Salary

Benefits
in Kind

Bands of
£5,000
£‘000

To the
nearest
100

Bands of
£5,000
£‘000

To the
nearest
100

30-35

100

30-35

100

Karen Dowman, Chief Executive Officer

110-115

800

120-125

900

Paul Stefanoski, Director of Resources (Deputy CEO)

95-100

200

95-100

300

John Campbell, Chief Operating Officer

85-90

200

85-90

1700

Stephen Edwards, Medical Director

40-45

500

40-45

600

100-105

500

100-105

300

85-90

100

10-15

10-15

Chris Oakes, Director of Workforce

75-80

-

5-10

5-10

Andy Green, Company Secretary

80-85

-

-

5-10

Lesley Writtle, Associate Chief Operating Officer/
Divisional Director Learning Disability

80-85

2300

-

-

Deborah Mason, Divisional Director Mental Health

80-85

200

-

-

Anna Dodd, Divisional Director of Children,
Young People and Family Services

80-85

-

-

-

Enno Kuttner, Consultant Psychiatrist

135-140

100

-

-

Jaswant Lidher, Consultant Psychiatrist

145-150

-

-

-

Saleh El-Hilu, Consultant Psychiatrist

140-150

700

-

-

Pauline Werhun CBE, Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

10-15

10-15

Paul Riley, Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

10-15

10-15

Bryan Stock, Non-Executive Director

10-15

100

10-15

10-15

Vicky Harris, Non-Executive Director

10-15

100

10-15

10-15

Jackie Smart, Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

10-15

10-15

Parmjit Sahota, Non-Executive Director

10-15

-

10-15

10-15

Name
Robert Piper, Chairman

Sue Marshall, Director of Children, Young People
and Family Services
Susan Claire Marshall, Director of Nursing and
Professional Practice
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2012/13 Pension Benefits
Real
increase
in
pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase
in
pension
lump sum
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2013
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2013
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2012

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2013

Real
increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer’s
contribution to
stakeholder pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

-

50-55

155-160

1163

-

-

-

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

55-60

263

289

12

-

-

-

20-25

65-70

316

341

9

-

Sue Marshall, Director of children,
Young People and Family Services

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

125-130

765

838

32

-

Susan Claire Marshall, Director of
Nursing and Professional Practice

0-2.5

5-7.5

20-25

65-70

366

429

44

-

Chris Oakes, Director of Workforce

0-2.5

-

5-10

-

60

1

-

-

-

30-35

90-95

565

-

-

Deborah Mason, Divisional Director
Mental Health

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

120-125

780

26

-

Anna Dodd, Divisional Director of Children,
Young People and Family Services

0-2.5

5-7.5

10-15

40-45

261

43

-

Enno Kuttner, Consultant Psychiatrist

3-5.5

12.5-15

40-50

120-125

919

130

-

Jaswant Lidher, Consultant Psychiatrist

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

105-110

530

42

-

2012-13 Pension Benefits

Karen Dowman, Chief Executive Officer
Paul Stefanoski, Director of Resources
(Deputy CEO)
John Campbell, Chief Operating Officer

Lesley Writtle, Associate Chief Operating
Officer/Divisional Director Learning Disability

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no enteries in respect of
pensions for Non-Executive members.
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued
benefits and any contingent spouses.
Real increase in CETV - this reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account
of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value
of any benefits transferred)
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Staff and patient in the dining room, Macarthur Centre
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5.1

Annual Governance Statement for the
year ended 31st March 2013

5.1.1 Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation
Trust’s policies, aims and objectives whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental
assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to
me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the
NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
5.1.2

The purpose of the system of
internal control
The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The system of internal control is
based on an ongoing process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the
policies, aims and objectives of Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The
system of internal control has been in place in Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2013 and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts.
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systems and have delegated certain risk
management responsibilities to Executive Directors,
and other senior managers within the Trust.
Governance arrangements within the Trust
provide for the identification, assessment,
analysis and management of risk at appropriate
levels representing a systematic approach to risk
management and thus enabling a fair, responsible
and learning culture to develop.
Staff at all levels are required to attend mandatory
and statutory training courses relating to key
elements of risk management and are provided with
risk management training information at corporate
and local induction sessions. More specific training
(for example physical intervention skills) appropriate
to individual roles and responsibilities is provided in
accordance with the risk management and learning
and development strategies of the Trust.
Staff also have access to risk specialists employed by
the Trust in functions such as Health and Fire Safety,
Infection Control, Information Governance, Local
Security Management, Counter Fraud, and general
risk management.
The Trust seeks to learn from good practice in a
number of ways including incident reporting and
reviews, complaints and claims management and
the review of safety alerts, the outcomes of which
are cascaded through the Trust’s governance
structure and through the publication of regular
bulletins via the Trust intranet and email system.
Consequent improvements to systems and practice
are included within service quality improvement
plans.

5.1.3 Capacity to handle risk
The Trust is committed to ensuring that risk
management forms an integral part of its
philosophy, practices and development, where
responsibility for its application and implementation
is accepted at all levels within the Trust.

5.1.4 The risk and control framework
The Risk Management Strategy, which was last
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors
in December 2010, describes in detail the approach
to risk management and defines clearly where
responsibility lies at each stage of the process.

At a collective level, the Board of Directors is
responsible for approving the Risk Management
Strategy and monitoring and reviewing its
implementation.

All staff are required to report risks, including
hazards that they encounter in their work, through
well-defined incident reporting procedures. Risks are
also identified from the review of complaints and
concerns, through clinical and operational audit and
research and development activities. Management’s
review of functional control systems against

I as the Chief Executive Officer, have overall
responsibility for establishing internal control

62

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
mandated and other standards of good practice and
the ongoing assessment of our performance against
plans provide mechanisms for the identification of
clinical, operational, financial, strategic and external
risks.
Once identified, risks are recorded and evaluated
for their potential to adversely affect service delivery
and the objectives of the Trust. Evaluation of the
risk includes an assessment of both the likelihood
of the occurrence and the consequence of the risk
being realised, using a risk matrix adapted from the
Australian/New Zealand risk management standard
(AS/NZS 4360:1999). The descriptions allocated to
each level of likelihood and consequence within
the risk matrix enable a consistent approach to risk
evaluation across the Trust.
The authority to treat risk is determined by the
level of risk assigned, and treatment plans will be
reviewed and monitored at relevant managerial
levels, both individually, e.g. service manager
or director, and collectively, e.g. Divisional
Management Team.
Those risks which are assessed as high level are
reported on a regular basis to the Executive
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of
Directors via the High Level Risk Register. This
Register includes reference to the risk mitigation
plans, the identification of lead directors responsible
for the execution of mitigation plans, indicative
timescale for mitigation to be implemented, and an
assessment of the residual risk. This process enables
ongoing monitoring of the high level risks and
progress with mitigation.
The High Level Risk Register is regularly reviewed
by the Board of Directors, and reports to the Board
of Directors and its sub-committees require the
identification and assessment of risk to be included
for consideration.
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In each case the Board of Directors reviews those
controls in place to mitigate the risks, and the
source of assurance for each. Any gaps in control
or assurance are identified and action plans put in
place to address the gaps. The Board Assurance
Framework, and the supporting processes for
its production and review, are then subject to
independent review by Internal Audit.
The Executive and Governance Committees
regularly receive and review reports which provide
an overview of risk management activity, including
incident reporting and analysis, investigations
into serious untoward incidents and complaints
management.
The Audit Committee has a key responsibility to
review the adequacy of the organisational systems
of risk management and internal control and in
so doing considers the adequacy of the Board
Assurance Framework in its entirety and as reviewed
by Internal Audit.
Both the Governance and Investment Committees
undertake assurance of the high level risks through
their business agendas, the outcome of which is
regularly reported to the Board. The Governance
Committee also has a specific duty to review the
adequacy of arrangements the Trust has in place
to meet the required standards of Information
Governance, as mandated by the Department of
Health.
During the year the Board of Directors agreed
further measures to obtain more positive assurance
as to the quality of services provided and these
include:
•

•

receiving the experiences of service users directly
to board members, and for any learning from
such to be acted upon, with progress reports to
the Board
the ongoing development of “board to ward”
visits, including both executive and
non-executive board members;
for the presentation of experiences of staff to be
heard by board members in future.

The High Level Risk Register is also presented to
and discussed with service commissioners in service
quality review meetings.

•

The Board of Directors also reviews and approves
the Board Assurance Framework, which identifies
the principal objectives being pursued in furtherance
of each strategic objective, and those principal risks
likely to compromise realisation of the objective.

The Assembly of Governors is actively engaged in
the development of the Annual Plan, and is alerted
to those key risks to the achievement of strategic
objectives as identified by the Board of Directors.
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The Board of Directors has identified a number
of key risks which are to be managed during the
coming year, and these are detailed elsewhere
within the Annual Report and the Annual Plan.
However of those, the most significant include the
following:
•
•
•
•

•

•

•

a potential inability to generate recurring
efficiency savings to the level required, without
impairing the quality of service provision;
the potential adverse effect on services and
consequent loss of service income due to the
absence of clear commissioning intentions;
not being able to maintain compliance with the
Care Quality Commission registration standards
for services provided;
not being able to meet the requirements of
the new license (effective from 1st April 2013)
as prescribed by “Monitor”, the heath sector
regulator;
the demise of models of integrated care,
as Local Authorities seek to retract from
established partnership agreements and/or
impose reductions in funding of associated
services;
the inability to deliver the infrastructure
strategy to required timescales and within
planned budget, thereby adversely affecting
the transformation and cost improvement
programme;
the possibility that the Trust will be unable to
tender for and/or lose tenders for new and
existing services that the commissioners decide
to market test.

Responsibility for the mitigation plans has
been agreed for each of the risks and these
are monitored during the year by the Board of
Directors.
Risk management is an essential element of the
wider quality governance framework within the
Trust. The Quality Strategy, which was reviewed
by the Board of Directors in March 2012, sets out
the approach and philosophy towards achieving
its goal to “provide high quality care, in the right
place at the right time”.
Ultimate responsibility for ensuring the quality and
safety of services provided rests with the Board
of Directors, which regularly receives and reviews
the “Quality and Risk Profiles” as published by
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the Care Quality Commission, together with
performance reports on quality initiatives, such as
performance against “CQUIN”(Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation) targets, and reports from
the Governance Committee, a sub-committee of
the Board which has a duty to obtain assurance as
to the delivery of services to the standards of safety
and quality expected, be those nationally or locally
determined.
The Director of Children Young People and Family
Services heads the care governance function, and
along with the Medical Director and the Director of
Nursing and Professional Practice are key members
of the Care Governance Committee which, as a
sub-group of the Executive Committee oversees
the development and monitoring of the quality
governance framework.
Each division has its own care governance group
reporting to the divisional management team, and
has representatives on subject specific corporate
groups, such as the Infection Control Committee,
the Safeguarding Forum, the Medicines
Management Committee and the Essence of
Care Group, thus ensuring consistency in the
development of policy. The Clinical Directors of
each division are also members of the corporate
Care Governance Committee.
At the interface with governors, members and
the wider public lies the Quality Council, which
meets twice a year and presents an opportunity for
governors and members especially to learn about
and inform the quality improvement programmes
that are to be delivered by each division within the
Trust. These, together with agreed commissioned
quality initiatives (CQUIN) and other mandated and
locally agreed quality indicators are reported on
within the Annual Quality Report, the development
of which is discussed below.
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the
registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission. The Trust had received warning
notices from the Care Quality Commission relating
to services provided from Penn Hospital and the
implementation of an improvement programme,
overseen by the Board of Directors, ensured that
the warning notices were lifted in July 2012 which
was within the timescales required by the Care
Quality Commission.

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
The Trust has put in place appropriate governance
arrangements for data and information security
in accordance with the standards laid out
within the national Information Governance
framework. The roles of Caldicott Guardian and
Senior Information Responsible Officer are both
undertaken by Executive Directors of the Trust
and the job requirements of other key corporate
officers include relevant responsibilities associated
with information and data security. All staff within
the Trust receive relevant training at induction
and throughout their employment. Any incidents
and/or risks associated with data and information
security are reported and dealt with in accordance
with the Trust risk management and incident
reporting policies. There were four potential
breaches of our obligations under the Data
Protection Act 1998. Of these, three concerned
one individual and one concerned two individuals.
The incidents were reported to the Information
Commissioner; two instances have been without
any penalty and two remain under investigation.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity
and human rights legislation are complied with.
The Board is fully aware of its obligations under
the Equality Act 2010 and has made arrangements
to ensure the Trust not only complies with the legal
requirements but more importantly harnesses and
embeds the principles of equality into everyday
operations.
Significantly the Trust uses Equality Impact
Assessments (EqIA) as a proactive approach
to positively promoting equality, challenging
discrimination, and creating accessibility for
staff, those who use our services, and the local
community.
An EqIA is carried out whenever the Trust is
developing or amending strategies, policies,
projects and services. Managers have a
responsibility to complete the EqIA and to ensure
that any other relevant staff are involved in the
process so as to provide different perspectives and
challenge the established way of doing things. The
EqIA process and accompanying online forms are
kept on the Trust intranet to provide easy access
for staff.
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The Head of Diversity reviews each completed EqIA
to ensure it has been completed appropriately,
is added to the corporate register and that any
overarching themes which arise are addressed at
divisional level and as necessary are brought to the
attention of the Equality and Diversity Strategic
Group and/or the Executive Committee. It is the
responsibility of the division in which the EqIA has
been undertaken, to ensure that any resulting
actions are incorporated into the on-going delivery
and review of services. All completed EqIAs are
published on the Trust’s intranet and website.
At its meeting in March 2013, the Board of Directors
approved four new objectives for its equality
strategy, and in accordance with the requirements
of the Equality Act 2010 these are published on the
Trust’s website.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership
of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in
place to ensure all employer obligations contained
within the Scheme regulations are complied
with. This includes ensuring that deductions from
salary, employer’s contributions and payments into
the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme
rules, and the member Pension Scheme records
are accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the Regulations.
The Foundation Trust continues to undertake risk
assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans
are being developed in accordance with emergency
preparedness and civil contingency requirements,
as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to
ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the
Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting
requirements are complied with.
In February 2013, the “Report of the Mid
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry”
was published. The Board of Directors reviewed the
report and recommendations and has initiated both
a review of those areas within the recommendations
that it felt were of direct relevance to the Trust, and
a series of independently facilitated focus groups
to include front line staff, service users and carers
in order to develop a shared understanding of
the issues raised within the report and to identify
whether these could become or were relevant to
the Trust.
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5.1.5 Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring
systems are in place to maintain the economic,
efficient and effective use of resources within the
Trust. The Executive Committee, a sub-committee of
the Board, whose membership includes Executive,
Clinical and Divisional Directors meets on a monthly
basis to monitor the performance of the Trust,
against the agreed financial, contractual, service and
quality targets as set by the Board of Directors.
The Investment Committee reviews and assures
the rationale and adequacy of investment and cost
improvement plans, and their potential impact
on the effectiveness of service provision, and the
Governance Committee reviews the Quality Impact
Assessments relating to individual cost improvement
schemes.
An integrated performance report, covering finance,
workforce, compliance targets, contractual targets
and service line activity is regularly presented to
the Board of Directors, which in turn approves
the quarterly compliance report for submission to
Monitor, the Independent Regulator.
The Audit Committee receives regular reports from
the Internal Auditors concerning their review of
internal control systems and procedures and the
progress of management in implementation of
agreed recommendations. It also receives regular
updates on key issues emerging from the work
programme of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.
5.1.6 Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health Act
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation
trust boards on the form and content of annual
Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual.
The development of the Quality Report is led by the
Director of Children and Young People’s Services.
The report contains performance data on specific
measures of quality that have been agreed by the
Board of Directors and Assembly of Governors.
The majority of the measures rely on data and
information that is already known and captured by
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the Trust in its everyday operations. Some of the
metrics used are identical to those used within the
mandated performance targets of the compliance
regime, e.g. “CPA 7 day follow up” and are subject
to the same data and information management
policies and validation procedures that the Trust
relies on for its performance reporting.
Where other local and new measures are required,
these have been consulted on and the systems have
been developed to ensure correct capture and staff
have been trained as necessary in recording of such
data.
During the year assurance as to the reliance of these
systems has been provided by internal audit, and
through the specific assurance report undertaken by
the external auditor.
The Annual Quality Report has, in accordance
with directions by the Secretary of State, also been
shared with local commissioners, involvement
networks and overview and scrutiny committees
of local councils, and comments received by these
bodies have been included in the report.
In accordance with directions from “Monitor”, the
external auditors published their limited assurance
report to the Assembly of Governors which for
2011/12 concluded that “nothing has come to
our attention that causes us to believe that for the
year ended 31st March 2012, the content of the
Quality Report is not in accordance with the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual”.
5.1.7 Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control is informed by the work
of the internal auditors, and the executive managers
within the NHS Foundation Trust who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on
the content of the Quality Report attached to this
Annual Report and other performance information
available to me. My review is also informed by
comments made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports. I have been
advised on the implications of the result of my
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the Board, the audit committee, and
other sub-committees of the Board, and a plan
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
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improvement of the system is in place.

•

In particular the process applied in maintaining and
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control includes the following:

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

The regular reviews of the High Level Risk
Register by the Board of Directors, and the
Executive, Governance and Investment
Committees;
The reviews of the Board Assurance Framework
by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors;
The work of the Audit Committee and in
particular its assurance of the adequacy of the
Trust wide systems of risk management and
internal control;
The accreditation of compliance with level 1 of
the risk management standards awarded by the
NHS Litigation Authority in January 2013;
The duties of the Governance Committee in
its assurance of quality governance and risk
management, and in particular its review of
assurance of the Trust’s compliance against
Information Governance standards;
The ongoing compliance with the standards of
registration with the Care Quality Commission,
as evidenced by the publication of its review
reports;
The publication of Quality Risk Profiles for the
Trust, as issued by the Care Quality Commission;
The role of the Investment Committee in both
assuring the adequacy of plans to mitigate high
level business, financial and strategic risks, and
reviewing the financial and performance reports
and forecasts;
The ongoing application of the risk management
strategy and processes by Executive Directors
and other senior management;
The work of the Post Acquisition Review
Committee in seeking assurance as to the
implementation of the integration and
transformation plans;
The interim report of the External Auditor;
The work of Internal Audit and specifically the
opinion of the Head of Internal Audit which
states “that significant assurance can be given
that there is a generally sound system of control
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives,
and that controls are generally being applied
consistently”;

•
•
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The reports received by the Governance
Committee of Associate Hospital Managers in
relation to their duties under the Mental Health
Act 1983;
The in-year reports of external inspection
agencies, such as the Care Quality (formerly
Mental Health Act ) Commission;
The work programme of the Local Counter
Fraud Specialist;
Reviews of the adult safeguarding and child
protection arrangements.

With regard to the specific processes applied in
maintaining and reviewing the Quality Report, over
and above those cited above, these include
•
•
•
•
•
•

The regular reports on quality metrics to the
Board of Directors;
The ongoing work of the Quality Council;
The implementation of the Quality Strategy;
The limited assurance report of the External
Auditor;
The assurance provided by Internal Audit;
The views and comments received from external
organisations.

Conclusion
There are no significant internal control issues have
either been identified during the reporting period,
or anticipated to occur in the future that require
disclosure in this statement.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive
Date: 22nd May 2013
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Section 6

Statement of Accounting
Officer’s Responsibilities

Staff nurse at Hallam Street Hospital, Sandwell
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as
the Accounting Officer of Black Country Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust.
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is
the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting
Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety
and regularity of public finances for which they are
answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts,
are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair
view of the affairs of Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure,
total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
and in particular to:
•

•
•

•
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Observe the Accounts Direction issued by
Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in
the financial statements; and
Prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with
requirements outlined in the above mentioned
Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation
Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive
Date: 22nd May 2013
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Section 7

Accounts and
Associated Notes

Paediatric physiotherapy at The Sunflower Centre, Stourbridge
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Foreword to the Financial Statements
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
These financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2013 have been prepared by Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 of the National
Health Service Act 2006 in the form which Monitor has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.

K. E. Dowman
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
Date: 22nd May 2013
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Black Country
Partnership NHS
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
ENDING 31 MARCH 2013

Year Ending Year Ending 31
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
Note
£'000
*Restated

Operating
Revenue
Operating expenses
Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year

2
3

Non Operating
Restructuring costs
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Loss on the disposal of non-current asset
Non operating expenses before financing

3
10
10
10

Financing
Finance income
Finance cost
PDC Dividends payable
Net Finance cost

7
7
8

Retained surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Impairments
Revaluations
Asset disposals
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension
Other reserve movements
Other comprehensive income for the year

2013

10
10
10
21

Total comprehensive income for the year

108,259
(105,561)
2,698

109,297
(106,821)
2,476

(5)
(95)
(100)

(433)
(133)
89
(1,310)
(1,787)

76
(566)
(616)
(1,106)

25
(576)
(665)
(1,216)

1,492

(527)

(265)
(365)
(1)
(631)

525
46
298
(252)
617

861

90

Year Ending Year Ending 31
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000

Allocation of Profits/(Losses) for the period:

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period attributable to:
(i) minority interest, and
(ii) owners of the parent.
Total
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
(i) minority interest, and
(ii) owners of the parent.
Total

1,492
1,492

(527)
(527)

861
861

90
90

* The prior year has been restated to include the capital repayment element of unitary charge, finance cost and
lifecycle element of unitary charge in relation to the Hallam Street Hospital PFI scheme accounted for on-SOFP
as it meets the requirements of IFRIC 12 Service Concessions and therefore IAS 17 Leases.
All Income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 8 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

2013

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2013
Year Ended Year Ended 31 Year Ended 31
March 2012
March 2011
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
Note
£'000
*Restated
*Restated
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

11
10

27,430
27,430

27,953
27,953

13
28,451
28,464

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12

5,298
15,352
20,650
48,080

5,783
8,905
14,688
42,641

2,590
3,263
5,853
34,317

15
16
19
20

(15,842)
(171)
(970)
(49)
(17,032)
31,048

(11,610)
(137)
(214)
(776)
(12,737)
29,904

(4,621)
(107)
(38)
(611)
(5,377)
28,940

16
21

(5,069)
(1,225)
(23,326)
24,754

(5,240)
(771)
(18,748)
23,893

(5,270)
(501)
(11,148)
23,169

16,246
10,030
(849)
736
(1,409)
24,754

16,246
10,296
(484)
736
(2,901)
23,893

16,246
9,733
(232)
(2,578)
23,169

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Local government pension liability
Total liabilities
Total assets employed
Taxpayers' equity
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Local government pension reserve
Merger reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

21

* The prior year has been restated to recognise on-SOFP the Hallam Street Hospital PFI scheme as it meets the requirements
of IFRIC 12 Service Concessions and therefore IAS 17 Leases.
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 May 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

22nd
…………………………………………
May May
20132013
…………………………………………………………………………………….. Date: 22
Karen Dowman, Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Dividend Reserve
Pension Reserve Expenditure
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013
Capital
Reserve
Reserve

2012/13
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2012
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Revaluation gains / (losses) on property
Asset disposals
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension
Other reserve movements
Total taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2013

£'000
16,246
-

£'000
10,296
(265)

£'000
(484)
(365)

2013
Total

(849)

£'000
736
736

£'000
(2,901)
1,492
(1,409)

£'000
23,893
1,492
(265)
(365)
(1)
24,754

(182)
(2,498)
(2,680)
(527)
306
(2,901)

25,565
(2,498)
23,067
(527)
523
48
298
(252)
736
23,893

16,246

(1)
10,030

16,246

9,733

(232)

-

16,246
-

9,733
523
48
(8)
10,296

(232)
-

736
736

2011/12
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2011
Prior period adjustment
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2011 - restated
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Reversal of impairments
Revaluation gains / (losses) on property
Asset disposals
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension
Merger reserve
Total taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2012

16,246

(252)
(484)
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS AS AT 31 MARCH 2013
Year Ending Year Ending 31
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
Note
*Restated
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year from continuing operations
Non cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
(Gain)/Loss on disposal
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities
Other movements in operating cashflows
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations
Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations
PDC dividends received
PDC dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

3
10
11
15
19
20

7
10

8

2,598

689

1,155
95
485
4,232
756
(727)
88
8,682

1,115
133
(89)
1,310
(3,192)
7,532
176
165
261
8,100

76
(992)
(916)

25
(1,105)
(1,080)

(137)
(566)
(616)
(1,319)

(137)
(576)
(665)
(1,378)

6,447
8,905
15,352

5,642
3,263
8,905

* The prior year has been restated as a result of recognising on-SOFP the Hallam Street Hospital PFI scheme
as it meets the requirements of IFRIC 12 Service Concessions and therefore IAS 17 Leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the European Union,
applicable at 31 March 2013 and appropriate to Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2012/13 NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.
The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury’s 2012/13 Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS
foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.
1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.2 Income recognition
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the trust is contracts with
commissioners in respect of healthcare services and the main types of income this relates to are cost and volume
income, block contract income and clinical partnerships providing mandatory services.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is
deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met,
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
1.3. Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the
following period.
1.4 Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of
these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period.
Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated membership
data and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the
scheme liability as at 31 March 2013 is based on the valuation data as 31 March 2012, updated to 31 March 2013
with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology
prescribed in IAS 19 Employee Benefits, relevant Treasury Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) interpretations, and
the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

Page 8 of 32

77

2012-13
Financial
Statements
BlackAudited
Country
Partnership
NHS
Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts

2013

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008.
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future
scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015.
The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and
employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out at as at March 2012 and will be used to
inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015.
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met
before these benefits can be obtained:
•

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section
and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008
section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the
Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant
pensionable service.

•

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an
additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is
known as “pension commutation”.

•

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971,
and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous
calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices
Index (RPI).

•

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are
permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of
twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after
retirement is payable

•

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by
the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

•

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s
run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions
(FSAVC) providers.

Local Government Superannuation Scheme
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme (LGPS) which is a “final salary”
defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to these employees can be identified
and are recognised in the Trust’s accounts as part of ‘IAS 19 Employee Benefits’ accounting requirements. The
assets are measured at fair value, and the liabilities at the present value of future obligations.
Staff who transferred to the Care Trust on 01 March 2003 from Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council contribute to
the LGPS locally administered by the West Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund. From 1 April 2010 to
March 2013, the Care Trust paid employer's contribution of 14.5%. The contribution rate is determined by the Fund's
actuary based on 3 yearly valuations, with the last review being 31 March 2010.
The LGPS is subject to a full actuarial valuation every three years. Between the full valuations the LGPS is subject to
an IAS 19 Employee Benefits valuation every year.
The purpose of this valuation in accord with IAS 19 Employee Benefits is to assess the level of liability in respect of
the benefits due under the LGPS taking into account its recent demographic experience and to recommend the
contribution rates to be paid by employers and LGPS members.
From 1 April 2008, employee’s contributions are on a tiered scale from 5.5% up to 7.5% of their pensionable pay
depending on total earnings.
Further information can be found in the Pension Fund's Annual Report which is available on request from The West
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pensions Fund, Care of Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Suite, St Peter's
Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1SL or the Fund’s website at www.wmpfonline.com.
The increase or decrease in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within
operating expenses.
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the pensions reserve and reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
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LGPS Provisions as at 31 March 2013
The LGPS is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/60th of the best of the last 3 years
pensionable pay for each year of service. No lump sum is payable on membership accrued from 1 April 2008 and
previous membership rights prior to this date were frozen at that point with certain protections being applicable to
some employees.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 and are
based on changes in consumer prices (CPI) in the twelve months ending 30 September in a previous calendar year.
On death, a pension of 50% of the member's pension is normally payable to the surviving eligible beneficiaries.
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the LGPS who are permanently incapable
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of three times the final year's
pensionable pay is payable for death in service.
For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the LGPS.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of comprehensive income at the
time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The LGPS provides the opportunity to members to increase their benefits through money purchase Additional
Voluntary Contributions provided by an approved life company. Under the arrangement the employee can make
contributions to enhance their pension benefits. The benefits payable relate directly to the value of the investments
made.
1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
1.6 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
•
•
•
•

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow or service potential be provided;
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year and they:
•

individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or

•

collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or

•

form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost (for leased assets at fair value), representing
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured
subsequently at fair value.
Land and Buildings are restated to current value by undergoing a full valuation by external professionally qualified
valuers every five years with an interim valuation to take place annually. The interim valuation is carried out by
external professionally qualified valuers unless the Trust can provide sufficient evidence that the valuation could be
carried out by a professionally qualified valuer employed by the Trust.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers having regard to International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as applied to the United Kingdom public sector and in accordance with HM Treasury guidance,
International Valuation Standards and the requirements of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
Valuation Standards – Global and UK (7th Edition).
An interim valuation has been undertaken on 31 January 2013 on Trust properties with inspection being carried out
only on properties that have been subject to physical changes completed, or programmed to be so, between 31
January 2012 and 31 January 2013.
Operational equipment is carried at current value. Where assets are of low value and, or have short useful economic
lives, they are carried at depreciated historic cost as a proxy for current value.
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Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
added to the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the specification
assumed by its economic useful life then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses.
Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for
recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not
generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance is charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are
depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or
service delivery benefits. The useful economic lives of assets are reviewed on an annual basis and the effects of any
change are recognised on a prospective basis. The economic life applied to buildings is dependent on the building it
relates to.
In accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment the Trust uses the following economic lives to depreciate
its assets on a component basis:
Estimated useful economic lives
Buildings (excluding dwellings
Plant and Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

Minimum life
Years
14
5
5
7

Maximum life
Years
39
15
8
10

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised
in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the Monitor FT Annual Reporting Manual, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits
or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the
impairment.
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that,
the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any
remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer
was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation
gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposals are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
•
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
customary for such sales;
•

80

the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
o

management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;

o

an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

o

the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

o

the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for
Sale’; and
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the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or
significant changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract
conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for
Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donation or grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation or grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the
condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property,
plant and equipment.
1.7 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to the Trust and where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in the Trust's activities for more than one year;
they can be valued, and they have a cost of at least £5,000.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least £5,000
is incurred. They are amortised over the shorter of the term of the licence and their useful economic lives.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not
capitalised as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:
•

the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or
use;

•

the trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;

•

the trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;

•

how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the
presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the
asset;

•

adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the trust to complete the development
and sell or use the asset; and

•

the trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where and to the extent that they reverse impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an
available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses
recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other
comprehensive income’.
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Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits and charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Revenue government and other grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for
the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.
Protected and non-protected assets
Property needed for the purposes of providing mandatory goods and services and mandatory training and education
is protected.
The Trust may not dispose any protected property without the approval of Monitor.
The Trust shall establish and maintain an asset register in respect of protected property, in accordance with guidance
to be issued by Monitor.
Assets which are not required for the provision of mandatory goods and services and the mandatory training and
education are not protected and may be disposed of by the Trust without the approval of Monitor.
1.8 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or
‘Available-for-sale financial assets’.
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets. The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current
investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and ‘other receivables’.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or when appropriate a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or when appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at
‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash-flows of the asset.
1.9 Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS foundation trust, the
asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of
finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged directly to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
1.10 Operating Leases
Land operating leases - Trust as lessee
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.
Building operating leases - Trust as lessee
Building operating lease rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of
the lease.
1.11 Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) transactions
Recognition
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure PFI schemes following the
principles of the requirements of IFRIC 12. Where the government body (the Grantor) meets the following conditions
the PFI scheme falls within the scope of a ‘service concession’ under IFRIC 12:
•

The grantor controls the use of the infrastructure and regulates the services to be provided to whom and at
what price; and

•

The grantor controls the residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service
concession arrangements.

The Trust therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant and equipment on the Statement of
Financial Position together with a liability to pay for it. The PFI asset recognised is the ‘Hallam Street Hospital’ as
detailed in note 10.4 to the financial statements on page 24. The services received under the contract are recorded
as operating expenses.
Measurement
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use, in accordance with the
HM Treasury interpretation of IFRIC 12. The assets are measured initially at fair value in accordance with the
principles of IAS 17 Leases. HM Treasury guidance for PFI assets is the construction cost and capitalised fees
incurred as at financial close, disclosed in the PFI contract.
Subsequently, the assets are measured at fair value, which is kept up to date in accordance with the Trust’s
approach for each relevant class of asset in accordance with the principles of IAS 16, as detailed in accounting policy
note 1.6 ‘Property, plant and equipment - measurement’. For specialised buildings this is depreciated replacement
cost.
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI asset is recognised. It is measured initially at the same
amount as the fair value of the PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance
with IAS 17 Leases. The PFI lease obligations due at the reporting date are detailed in note 16 to the financial
statements on page 26.
Subsequent expenditure
The annual unitary payments are apportioned, using appropriate estimation techniques between the repayment of
the liability, a finance cost, lifecycle replacement and the charge for services. The element of the annual unitary
payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet the annual finance expense and to repay the
lease liability over the contract term. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the
lease to the opening lease liability for the period, and is recognised under the relevant finance costs heading within
note 7 to the financial statements on page 22. The fair value of services received in the year is recognised under the
relevant operating expenses headings within note 3 to the financial statements on page 19.
Lifecycle replacement
Lifecycle costs in respect of components of assets replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle
replacement’) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
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1.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the current values of these balances in the NHS Foundation
Trust's cash book. These balances exclude monies held in the Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to
patients (see "third party assets" – note 13 on page 25).
Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement has been made with the bank to do so. In all other
cases overdrafts are disclosed within other creditors. Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on
overdrafts is recorded as, respectively, "finance income" and "finance cost" in the periods to which they relate. Bank
charges are recorded as an operating expense in the periods to which they relate.
1.13 Provisions
The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted
using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms, except for early retirement provisions and injury benefit
provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 2.9% (2011/12 2.9%) in real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS foundation trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS foundation trust.
The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS foundation trust is
disclosed at note 17 on page 26 but is not recognised in the NHS foundation trust’s accounts.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS foundation trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and
in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any
‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
1.14 Contingencies
Contingent assets
These are assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future events not
wholly within the entity’s control are not recognised as assets.
Contingent liabilities
These liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 18 on page 26, unless the probability of a transfer of
economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
•

Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

•

Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

1.15 Public dividend capital
At any time the Secretary of State can issue new public dividend capital to, and request payment of public dividend
capital from the Trust. Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of
assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that
PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets
of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year.
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated
assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) net cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS),
excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC
dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for
the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit
of the annual accounts.
1.16. Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts
are stated net of VAT.
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1.17 Foreign exchange
The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling.
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.
Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:
•

monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’)
are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March;

•

non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate
at the date of the transaction; and

•

non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at
the date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the
Statement of Financial Position date are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains
and losses on these items.
1.18 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the
accounts (see note 13 on page 25) in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s 2012-13 Financial
Reporting Manual.
1.19 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS trusts not been bearing their
own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register
which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses. (See note 23 on page 30).
1.20 Key sources of judgement in and estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
The main areas which require the exercise of judgement are in accounting for:
•
•
•

Valuation of non-current assets
Actuarial assumptions in respect of post-employment benefits; and
Assumptions underlying the likelihood and outcome of material provisions

1.21 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and IFRIC but
are not yet required to be adopted by the European Union (EU):
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Published Financial year for which
by IASB
the change first applies

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
Financial Assets:
Financial Liabilities:

Uncertain. Not likely to be
adopted by the EU until the
Nov 2009
IASB has finished the rest of
Oct 2010
its financial instruments
project

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

May-2011

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

May-2011

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

May-2011

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

May-2011

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment

Dec-2010

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, on other comprehensive
income (OCI)

Jun-2011

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

May-2011

IAS 28 Associates and Joint Ventures

May-2011

IAS 19 (Revised 2011) Employee Benefits

Jun-2011 Effective date of 2013/14

IAS 32 Financial Statements: amendment 'offsetting financial assets
and liabilities'
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - amendment 'offsetting
financial assets and liabilities'

Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU

Effective date of 2013/14 but
not yet adopted by the EU
Effective date of 2013/14 but
Dec-2011
not yet adopted by the EU
Dec-2011

The Trust has considered the above new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are
yet effective and concluded that they are either not relevant to the Trust or that they would not have a significant
impact on the Trust’s financial statements, apart from some additional disclosures.
1.22 Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued that have been adopted early
The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting standards, amendments or interpretations.
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Revenue Analysis
The Board (the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by IFRS 8 Operating Segments) has determined that the Trust
operates one material business segment, which is the provision of healthcare services. The operating results of this
segment are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The provision of healthcare (including medical treatment, research and education) is within one main geographical segment,
the United kingdom, and materially from Departments of HM Government in England.
Revenue from activities (medical treatment of patients) is analysed by revenue source and revenue type in note 2 to the
financial statements on page 18. Other operating revenue is also analysed in note 2 to the financial statements on page 18
and materially consists of revenues from healthcare research and development, medical education and the provision of
services to other NHS bodies. Total revenue by individual customers within the whole of HM Government and considered
material, is disclosed in the related parties transactions note 22 to the financial statements on page 30.
The percentage of total revenue receivable from within the whole of HM Government is disclosed below. The significant
factor behind which is the 'mandatory services requirement' (NHS healthcare), as set out in the Trust's Terms of
Authorisation from Monitor and defined by legislation.
2.1 Total revenue
Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
%
£'000
%
105,578 97.52%
104,903 95.98%
2,681
2.48%
4,394 4.02%
109,297 100%
108,259
100%

Revenue from activites
Other operating revenue
Total revenue
2.2. Revenue from Activities - by Source

Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
%
£'000
£'000
594
0.56%
604
760
0.72%
580
0.00%
26
600
0.57%
133
88,975 84.27%
87,184
14,491 13.73%
16,030
0.00%
2
158
0.15%
344
104,903
105,578
100%

Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
Department of Health
Strategic Health Authorities
Primary Care Trusts
Local Authorities
NHS Other
Non-NHS Other
Total

%
0.58%
1.00%
0.00%
0.13%
83.11%
15.28%
0.00%
0.33%
100%

A breakdown of the income received from Primary Care Trusts and Local Authorities is provided in note 22 on page 30.
2.3 Revenue from Activities - by Type
Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
%
7,649
7.24%
33,578
83,168 78.77%
56,728
4,012
3.80%
8,329
1,683
1.59%
9,066
8.59%
6,100
0.00%
168
104,903
105,578
100%

Cost and volume contract revenue
Block contract revenue
Clinicial partnerships providing mandatory services
Other clinical income from mandatory services
Community Trusts - income from PCTs
Community Trusts - income from non PCTs
Total

%
32.01%
54.08%
7.94%
0.00%
5.81%
0.16%
100%

All of the above revenue from activities arises from mandatory services as set out in the Trust's Terms of Authorisation from
Monitor.
2.4 Other Operating Revenue
Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
%
0.00%
157
5.86%
13
2,185 81.50%
2,190
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
339 12.64%
2,191
4,394
2,681
100%

Education and research
Research and development
Education and training
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfers from donated asset reserve
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Rental revenue
Other revenue
Total

%
0.00%
0.30%
49.84%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
49.86%
100%

Revenue from activities, education and research arises from mandatory services as set out in the Trust's Term's of reference.
Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services.
2.5 Analysis of Other Operating Revenue: Other
Catering £113k (2011-12, £85k); Other £225k (2011-12, £1,779k); Recharges (2011-12, 327)
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Operating expenses

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from PCTs
Purchases of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Employee expenses- executive directors
Employee expenses- non-executive directors
Employee expenses- staff
Drug costs
Supplies and services- clinical (excluding drugs costs)
Supplies and services- general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Provision for impairment of receivables
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Audit services- statutory audit
Audit services- regulatory reporting
Legal fees
Consultancy
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking and security
Redundancy
Hospitality
Insurance
Other services. eg external payroll
Loss, ex gratia and special payments
Other expenses
Total Operating expenses

Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
%
214
0.20%
169
520
1.00%
443
0.01%
3
3,233
3.05%
3,128
867
0.82%
906
100
0.09%
100
78,633 74.14%
79,469
1,391
1.31%
1,638
341
0.32%
383
1,215
1.24%
1,158
2,270
2.14%
2,647
181
0.17%
177
6,582
6.11%
8,566
1,043
1.09%
201
4,449
4.86%
4,040
1,155
0.88%
1,102
0.00%
13
48
0.04%
115
12
0.01%
11
359
0.34%
147
500
1.00%
588
409
0.39%
468
323
0.30%
310
52
0.05%
28
759
0.72%
328
10
0.01%
10
438
1.00%
284
202
0.19%
116
22
0.02%
26
233
0.11%
247
105,561
100%
106,821

%
0.16%
1.00%
0.00%
2.93%
0.85%
0.09%
74.39%
1.53%
0.36%
1.08%
2.48%
0.17%
8.02%
0.19%
3.78%
1.03%
0.01%
0.11%
0.01%
0.14%
0.55%
1.00%
0.29%
0.44%
0.31%
0.01%
1.00%
0.11%
0.02%
0.23%
100%

The Trust's contract with its external auditors, Deloitte LLP, dated 15 January 2013, provides for a limitation of the auditors
liability of one million (£1,000,000) pounds sterling.
PFI - Service & Lifecycle costs included in premises amount to £486k (2011-12 £486k) plus and adjustment gain for RPI of
£12k.
3.1 Restructuring costs
Following Transforming Community Services in 2011/12 the Trust went through a restructuring process resulting in incurring
additional costs totalling £5k this year for one post that was removed from the corporate division (2011-12 £433k)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4. Operating leases
4.1 As lessee - payments recognised in operating expenses
Land

Total

£'000
-

Buildings
£'000
4,222

4.2 Total future minimum operating lease payments payable
Land

Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After 5 years
Total

£'000
-

Buildings
£'000
5,014
1,416
2,280
8,710

Plant and
Machinary

Year Ending
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
227
4,449

Plant and
Machinary
£'000
161
12
173

Year Ending 31
March 2012
£'000
4,040

Year Ending 31
Year Ending
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
5,419
5,175 58.26%
1,863
1,428 16.08%
2,114
2,280 25.67%
9,395
8,883
100%

The trust holds the following operating leases on its properties:
Operating lease buildings
St Michaels Court
323 High Street
Hill Crest
LIFT
Delta House
Penn Hospital
Brooklands
Steps to Health
West Park Hotel
Pond Lane
Pendeford Health Clinic
Primrose Clinic
Gem Children Centre
Phoenix Centre
Regent house
St Johns House
Mayfields Centre
Corner House Mental Health Resource Centre
Croft Mental Health Resource Centre
Central Clinic
Cross Street Health Centre
Halesowen Health Centre
Kingswinford Health Centre
Lower Gornal Health Centre
Netherton Health Centre
Ridge Hill Centre
Stourbridge H&Scc
Brierly Hill H&Scc
Falcon House
Feldon lane Clinic
The Greens
Ladies Walk
Stepping Stones
St James Medical Practice
Quarry Bank
Sunflower Centre
Coseley Health and Family Centre
Orchards Hill
Suttons Drive
Total annual operating lease costs

Annual Rent
£'000
%
37 0.74%
23 0.46%
38 0.76%
85 2.00%
220 4.39%
852 16.99%
64 2.00%
195 3.89%
67 2.00%
88 1.76%
1 0.02%
1 0.02%
257 5.13%
3 0.06%
42 0.84%
35 0.70%
6 0.12%
29 0.58%
21 0.42%
9 0.18%
14 0.28%
21 0.42%
6 0.12%
2 0.04%
8 0.16%
1,398 27.88%
245 4.89%
641 12.78%
65 1.30%
14 0.28%
2 0.04%
54 1.08%
8 0.16%
17 0.34%
18 0.36%
87 1.74%
7 0.14%
256 5.11%
78 2.00%
5,014 100%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5.5 Early retirements due to ill-health
During the year there was 1 early retirement on the grounds of ill-health (31 March 2012; 2). The estimated additional pension liability of this
ill-health retirements will be £94k (31 March 2012; £227k). This information has been supplied by NHS Pension and the cost of this early illhealth retirement will be borne by NHS Pension.

Year Ending Year Ending 31
March 2013
31 March 2013
Number
Number
15,732
20,822
11,725
14,431
35,253
27,457

5.6 Staff sickness absence

Days Lost (Long Term)
Days Lost (Short Term)
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost
Total Staff Employed In Period (Headcount)
Total Staff Employed In Period with No Absence
(Headcount)
Percentage Staff With No Sick Leave

2,133

2,059

743
34.8%

678
32.9%

5.7 Exit packages
Reporting of other compensation schemes exit packages 2012/13

<£10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - 50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,001
Total

Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit
packages 2011/12

<£10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - 50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,001
Total

Number of
Number of
Cost of
other
compulsory
compulsory
departures
redundancies redundancies agreed
Number
£000s
Number
4
55
7
193
1
1
72
2
201
1
203
15
724
1

Cost of other Total number Total cost
departures
of exit
of exit
agreed
packages
packages
Number
£000s
£000s
4
55
37
8
229
1
72
2
201
1
203
37
16
760

Number of
Number of
Cost of
other
compulsory
compulsory
departures
redundancies redundancies agreed
Number
£000s
Number
8
45
5
106
7
236
5
285
1
131
26
803
-

Cost of other
departures
agreed
£000s
-

6. The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998
Nil interest was charged to the Trust in the year for late payment of commercial debts (year ending 31 March 2012 £nil).
7. Financing
Finance income in respect of bank interest for year ending 31 March 2013 was £76k (year ending 31 March 2012 £25k)
Finance costs in relation to PFI interest repayment for the year ending 31 March 2013 was £566k (year ending 31 March
2012 £566k).
8. Public dividend capital dividends
Public dividend capital dividends paid to the Department of Health for the year ending 31 March 2013 was £616k (year
ending 31 March 2012 £665k).
9. Taxation
The activities of the Trust have not given rise to any corporation tax liability in period to 31 March 2013. (year ending 31
March 2012 £nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Non current assets
2012/13
Valuation at 1 April 2012
Additions - purchased
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Gross cost at 31 March 2013
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2012
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Amortisation and depreciation at 31 March 2013

Software
Licences
£'000
80
80

Land
£'000
8,138
8,138

80
80

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£'000
21,994
207
(102)
(280)
21,819

Plant and
Machinery
£'000

Information
Technology

Fixtures and
Fittings

724
50
774

£'000
1,226
497
1,723

£'000
1,011
238
1,249

Property,
Plant and
Grand Total
Equipment
£'000
£'000
33,093
33,173
992
992
(102)
(102)
(280)
(280)
33,703
33,783

-

3,349
783
(7)
(15)
4,110

369
58
427

817
179
996

605
135
740

5,140
1,155
(7)
(15)
6,337

5,220
1,155
(7)
(15)
6,353

8,138
8,138

17,709
17,709

347
347

727
727

509
509

25,847
1,583
27,430

25,847
1,583
27,430

* Buildings
excluding
dwellings

* Plant and
machinery

* Fixtures
and fittings

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Grand Total

Net book value - purchased assets at 31 March 2013
Protected purchased assets at 31 March 2013
Unprotected purchased assets at 31 March 2013
Total Net Book Value at 31 March 2013

2011/12

Valuation at 1 April 2011
TCS adjustments
Prior Period Adjustment
Valuation at 1 April 2011 - restated
Additions - purchased
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
Gross cost at 31 March 2012
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2011
Prior period Adjustment
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 - restated
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
Amortisation and depreciation at 31 March 2012

-

Software
Licences
£'000
80
80
80

Land
£'000
8,138
8,138
8,138

67

-

67
13
80

£'000
16,641
5,572
22,213
604
571
(1,394)
21,994

£'000

*Information
Technology
£'000

£'000

623
38
661
63
-

975
7
982
244
-

862
16
878
133
-

724

1,226

1,011

£'000
27,239
61
5,572
32,872
1,044
571
(1,394)
33,093

£'000
27,319
61
5,572
32,952
1,044
571
(1,394)
33,173
1,504
2,472
3,976
1,115
133
(89)
85
5,220

26,783
1,170
27,953

320

635

476

-

6
2,472
2,478
742
133
(89)
85
3,349

320
49
369

635
182
817

476
129
605

1,437
2,472
3,909
1,102
133
(89)
85
5,140

8,138
8,138

18,645
18,645

355
355

409
409

406
406

26,783
1,170
27,953

Net book value - purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Net book value
Protected purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Unprotected purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Total Net Book Value at 31 March 2012

-

Condition 9(1) of the Trust's Terms of Authorisation defines protected assets as "Property needed for the purposes of providing any of the mandatory goods and services". This comprises NHS
healthcare and related education and training services. Such properties cannot be sold without the prior approval of Monitor.
10.1 Valuation at the reporting date
The land, buildings and dwellings were valued at the reporting date by an independent valuer, the District Valuation Service 'DVS'. The purpose of this exercise being to determine a fair value for Trust
property, as detailed in accounting policy note 1.6.
The surpluses and deficits upon revaluation exercise resulted in an impairment charge to operating expenses as shown in the statement of comprehensive income on page 6 of the financial statements
amounting to £95k (year ending 31 March 2012 £133k). The key assets affected were Heath Lane site £65k and Delta House £30k ( year ending 31 March 2012, Heath Lane site £66k and Delta House
£67k).
The surpluses and deficits upon revaluation exercise also resulted in gains and (losses) charged to the revaluation reserves as shown in the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity on page 6 of the
financial statements amounting to £265k (year ending 31 March 2012 £(571k)). The key assets affected were Edward Street Hospital £237k, Lodge Road £17k and Heath Lane site £12k (year ending
31 March 2012, Edward Street Hospital £(529k), Lodge Road £27k, Heath Lane site £(15k)).
10.2 * Prior year figures
The prior year figures have been brought in line with the underlying records with no change to the NBV.
10.3 Gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed asset
There were no fixed asset disposals in the year ended31 March 2013 (31 March 2012, loss on disposal of Metro Court amounting to £1.3m. An element of this asset was a donated asset which makes
up the £298k amount shown in other comprehensive income).
10.4 Contractural capital commitments
Propery, plant and equipment contractual commitments are £0k (31 March 2010 £298k)
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10.4. Fixed Assets held under PFI arrangements
2012/13
Valuation at 1 April
Prior Period Adjustment
Gross cost at 31 March
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April
Prior period Adjustment
Provided during the year
Amortisation and depreciation at 31 March

Year Ended
31 March
2013
£'000
5,572
5,572

Year Ended
31 March
2012
£'000
5,572
5,572

2,693
221
2,914

2,472
221
2,693

2,658
2,658

2,879
2,879

Net book value - purchased assets at 31 March
Private Finance Initiative at 31 March
Total Net Book Value at 31 March

The overall scheme sees the Trust entering into a Project Agreement with Black Country PPP Health Services Ltd for a period of 25 years for the provision of serviced Acute Mental
Health facilities. The facilities, Hallam Street Hospital, have been constructed by Black Country PPP Health Services Ltd on land in the ownership of the Trust.
The facilities comprise:
1. A Resource Centre for use by Inpatients and other Patients attending on a day basis.
2. Five residential blocks including a small Learning Disabilities bungalow.
Within the Project Agreement Ryhurst provide the following services for the Trust:
1. Domestic Services

4. Portering Services

2. Catering Services

5. Site Security Services

3. Laundry and Linen Services

6. Maintenance Services

Within the main agreement a payment mechanism has been agreed, with the Trust paying an annual unitary charge. The payment mechanism has the following main features:
1. Payment for the fair value for the services received
2. Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and
3. Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract (lifecycle replacement).
The contract which has a period of twenty-five (25) year ending in 2024/25 is classified as a finance lease under the current IAS 17 Lease guidance.

Gross PFI liabilities
of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net PFI obligation
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
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Year Ended
31 March
2013
£'000

Year Ended
31 March
2012
£'000

9,687
722
3,036
5,929
(4,447)
5,240
171
1,047
4,022

9,932
703
2,977
6,252
(4,555)
5,377
137
894
4,346
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Current

Non current

11. Trade and other receivables
Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
2,506
2,565
3,111
2,509
(1,155)
(234)
420
431
(37)
49
2
2
81
(27)
106
370
382
5,298
5,783
-

NHS Receivables - Revenue
Other receivables with related parties - Revenue
Provision for impaired receivables
Prepayments (Non-PFI)
Accrued income
Interest Receivable
Operating lease receivables
VAT receivable
Other receivables
Total

NHS receivables consist of balances owed by NHS bodies in England, receivables with other related parties consist of balances owed by
other HM Government organisations. Related party transactions are detailed in note 22 to the financial statements on page 30.
Current

Non current

11.1 Provision for impaired receivables
Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
234
33
1,043
216
(122)
(15)
1,155
234
-

Balance at 1 April
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Total

Current

Non current

11.2 Aged analysis of impaired receivables
Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
462
24
71
669
163
1,155
234
-

0 - 30 days
30-60 Days
60-90 days
90- 180 days
over 180 days
Total

Current
11.3 Aged analysis of non-impaired receivables past their due
date

0 - 30 days
30-60 Days
60-90 days
90- 180 days
over 180 days
Total

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
March 2012
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
897
3,481
1,201
237
381
763
866
360
433
3,458
5,161
Current

Non current

12. Cash and cash equivalents

At 1 April
Net change in year
At 31 March
Broken down into:
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in SOFP
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft - Commercial banks
Cash and cash equivalents as in SOCF

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
8,905
3,263
6,447
5,642
15,352
8,905
394
14,958
15,352
15,352

238
8,667
8,905
8,905

-

-

-

-

13. Third party assets
The Trust held £75k cash at bank at 31 March 2013 (£101k at 31 March 2012) which relates to monies held by the NHS Foundation Trust
on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the statement of financial position.
14. Non-current assets held for sale
The Trust has no non-current assets held for sale for year ended 31 March 2013 ( 31 March 2012 - £nil).
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Current
15.Trade and other payables

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
2,074
3,959
2,230
614
2,527
499
221
426
761
738
718
806
1,111
1,763
6,200
2,805
15,842
11,610
-

NHS payables - revenue
Amounts due to other related parties - revenue
Other trade payables - capital
Other trade payables - revenue
Social Security costs
Other taxes payable
Other payables
Accruals
Total

NHS payables consist of balances owed to NHS bodies in England, amounts due to other related parties consist of balances owed to
other HM Government organisations. Related party transactions are detailed in note 22 to the financial statements on page 30.
Current
16. Borrowings

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
171
137
5,069
5,240

Obligations under PFI contracts (excl. lifecycle)

The current year liability is in relation to the interest repayment expensed to statement of comprehensive in respect of the on-SOFP
Hallam Street Hospital Private Finance Initiative scheme. The non-current liability is respect of capital and finance costs outstanding.

16.1 Prudential borrowing limit
Current

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
15,000
18,600
8,300
8,300
8,300
8,300
15,000
18,600

Limits set by Monitor
Total long term borrowing
Working capital facility
Working capital borrowing at 31st March
Long term borrowing at 1st April
Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year

566
-

566

3,762
(566)

4,328
(566)

Long term borrowing at 31st March

566

566

3,196

3,762

The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two elements:
1. the maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing. This is set by reference to the four ratios test set out in Monitor's Prudential
Borrowing Code. The financial risk rating set under Monitor's Compliance Framework determines one of the ratios and therefore can
impact on the long term borrowing limit.
2. the amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.

The ratio tests used to determine the maximum long-term borrowing limit and the Trust's performance against them is set out below.
Current
16.2 Prudential borrowing limit ratios
Maximum Debt/Capital Ratio
Minimum Dividend Cover
Minimum Interest Cover
Minimum Debt Service Cover
Minimum Debt Service to Revenue

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
0%
0%
1x
1x
0x
0x
100x
100x
0%
0%
-

The Trust has achieved the ratio's above laid down by Monitor in the Prudential Borrowing Code. There has been no necessity to make
use of the Trust's Prudential Borrowing Limit or use its overdraft.
Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on the website of
Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.
17. Clinical negligence liabilities
The provision for clinical negligence recognised in the books of the NHS litigation authority on behalf of Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust amounts to £31k (31 March 2012 £nil).
18. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities of £26k at 31 March 2013 relating to amounts notified by the NHSLA for potential employer and public liability claims
(March 2012, £27k).
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19. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Total
£000

2012/13
At 1 April 2012
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year - accruals
Utilised during the year - cash
Reversed unused
At 31 December 2013
Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
TOTAL

214
902
(37)
(8)
(101)
970

Pensions former
directors
£000
-

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Total
£000

2011/12
At 1 April 2011
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year - accruals
At 31 March 2012
Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
TOTAL

38
214
(38)
214

Pensions former
directors
£000
-

214
214
Current

-

157
782
(8)
(101)
830

-

830
830

20
20

Other legal
claims

£000

£000

-

970
970

-

Agenda
for
Change
£000
57
(37)
20

Pensions other staff

Pensions other staff
£000
-

Agenda
for
Change
£000
£000
38
157
57
(38)
157
57

Other legal
claims

-

157
157

57
57

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
427
83
403
75
120
20
56
214
970

19.1 Provisions analysis

Employment tribunal cases
NHSLA Claims
Information Commissioner's Office - Penalty Notice
Annual leave
Total

Current

Non current

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
776
49
-

20. Other liabilities
Deferred income
Total
Deferred income is in relation to transactions with other NHS bodies.
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Current

Non current

21. Trust local government pension fund liability breakdown

Gross local government pension scheme (LGPS) liability
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council liability
Trust local government pension liability

Year Ended Year Ended 31
Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012 31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
1,380
926
(155)
(155)
1,225
771

21.1 Trust local government pension fund analysis
Changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
during the year for the amounts recognised in the SoFP
Present Value of the defined benefit obligation at 1 April
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contribution by plan participants
Actuarial gain/(losses)
Benefits paid
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 31 March
Plan assets at fair value at 1 April
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain/(losses)
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by the plan participants
Benefits paid
Plan assets at fair value at 31 Dec / 31 Mar
Plan surplus/(deficit) at 31 Dec / 31 Mar
21.2 Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation and the present value of the plan assets to the assets
and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 31 Mar
Plan assets at fair value at 31 Mar
Net Liability/(asset) recognised in the SoFP at 31 March
21.3 Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income
Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Total pension cost recognised in SOCI

21.4 Amounts disclosed in the Other Comprehensive Income

Effect of paragraph 41 limit
Total pension cost disclosed in OCI
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Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
(4,326)
(3,920)
(135)
(134)
(219)
(218)
(41)
(44)
(616)
(118)
51
108
(5,286)
(4,326)
3,555
194
251
93
39
(51)
4,081
(1,205)

3,419
223
(134)
111
44
(108)
3,555
(771)

Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
(5,286)
(4,326)
4,081
3,555
(1,205)
(771)

Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
(135)
(134)
(47)
(218)
223
(182)
(129)

Year Ended Year Ended 31
31 March 2013
March 2012
£'000
£'000
365
252
365
252
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21.5 Further breakdown of actuarial valuation
Change in benefit obligation during period to 31 March 2013
Benefit obligation at beginning of period
Current service cost
Interest on pension liabilities
Member contributions
Past service cost (gain)
Remeasurement (liabilities)
Curtailments
Settlements
Benefits/transfers paid
Business combinations
Benefit obligation at end of period

£'000
4,326
135
219
41
616
(51)
5,286

Change in plan assets during period to 31 March 2013
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period
Interest on plan assets
Remeasurement (assets)
Administration expenses
Business combinations
Settlements
Employer contributions
Member contributions
Benefits/transfers paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of period

£'000
3,400
174
251
(2)
93
41
(51)
3,906

Actual return on plan assets

425

Remeasurements (assets):
Experience gain/(loss) on assets

251

Remeasurements (liabilites):
Gain/(loss) on financial assumptions
Gain/(loss) on demographic assumptions

(616)
-
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21.6 Actuarial assumptions
Duration information as at the end of the accounting period
Estimation Macaulay duration of benefit obligation (at the 31 March 2010 valuation):
Duration profile used to determine assumptions:
Financial assumptions
Rate of CPI inflation
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions
Discount rate

Start of period (p.a)
2.60%
4.35%
2.60%
5.05%

17 years
Mature
End of period (p.a)
2.40%
4.15%
2.40%
4.20%

Post retirement mortality assumptions (normal health)
Non-retired members

S1PA CMI_2009_[1.25%]
S1PA CMI_2009_[1.25%]
(103% Males, 96% Females) (103% Males, 96% Females)

Retired members

S1PA CMI_2009_[1.25%]
S1PA CMI_2009_[1.25%]
(103% Males, 96% Females) (103% Males, 96% Females)

Life expectancy of a male (female)
Future pensioner aged 65 in 20 years time
Current pensioner aged 65
Commutation of pension for lump sum at retirement
50% take maximum cash, 50% take 3/80ths cash
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23.8 (26.6) years
22 (24.7) years

23.9 (26.7) years
22.1 (24.8) years
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22. Related party balances and transactions

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is a corporate body established by order of Monitor. During the year none of the
Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions with
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
The Trust considers all government related bodies as related parties with the Department of Health being the Parent. In addition the
Trust is a Corporate Trustee of Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust Charity, is a member of the NHS Pension Scheme and
a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme which are also considered to be a related party.
Receivables
Organisation

Payables

Revenue

Expenditure

Year Ending Year Ending Year Ending Year Ending
31 March 2013 31 March 2013 31 March 2013 31 March 2013
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

Local Authorities
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Wolverhampton City Council
Staffordshire City Council
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Sub Total

1,532
1,048
331
176
3,087

2,983
153
51
3,187

9,111
4,347
594
209
245
14,506

3,140
153
81
3,374

Department of Health
Other
NHS Supply Chain
Subtotal

-

55
55

-

Special Health Authorities

-

236

-

Strategic Health Authorities
East of England Strategic Health Authority
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority
Other
Subtotal

5
61
66

-

2,700
2,700

Charitable Fund

-

-

145

118

10
70

401
426

718
819

1,284
1,219

Primary Care Trusts
Sandwell Primary Care Trust
Wolverhampton Primary Care Trust
Walsall Primary Care Trust
Other PCTs
Sub Total

273
688
98
1,307
2,366

18
882
99
180
1,179

31,214
35,803
443
21,518
88,978

24
2,263
366
3,037
5,690

Total

5,599

5,484

107,867

11,820

Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts

1

1
-

1

1

129

4
1
5

23. Losses and Special Payments
There were 13 cases of losses and special payments totalling five thousand, two hundred and sixty-six pounds approved in the
year. (2011-12, 8 cases totalling six hundred and forty-nine pounds)
The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an
accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
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24. Financial instruments and related disclosures
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures require an explanation of the role that financial
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one body and a financial liability or equity instrument in another
body.
The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative trading purposes
and because of the continuing service provider relationship the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and the way those Primary Care Trusts are
financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed companies to which IFRS 7
mainly applies. Due to the Trust's terms of authorisation it has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.
The Trust's financial instruments comprise provisions, cash at bank and in hand and various items, such as trade debtors and trade creditors
that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Trust's operations.
24.1 Financial risk
Due to the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with primary care trusts (PCTs) and the way those PCTs are financed, the
Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.
The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational
activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
24.2 Interest rate risk
The majority of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust are not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
24.3 Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.
The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
24.4 Credit risk
The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other NHS organisations as disclosed in Note
22. Bad debt provisions are calculated based on the Trust's bad debt provision policy which considers the type of debtor, age of the
outstanding debt and knowledge of specific balances.
24.5 Liquidity risk
The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service level agreements with local Primary Care Trusts which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure from funds made available from Government
under agreed borrowing limits. Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust are not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risk.
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arms-length transaction. All the financial instruments of the Trust are initially measured at fair value on recognition and
subsequently at amortised cost. The following table is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Trust’s
financial assets and financial liabilities:
Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying Value

Fair
Value

Carrying values and fair values of financial instruments
Year Ended
31 March
2013
£'000
Current financial assets
NHS trade and other receivables
Non NHS trade and other receivables
Other investments
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current financial assets
Trade and receivables
Total financial assets
Current financial liabilities
NHS trade and other payables
Non NHS trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Obligations under PFI contracts
Non-current financial liabilities
Obligations under PFI contracts
Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets / (liabilities)

100
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Year Ended
31 March
2013
£'000

Year Ended
31 March
2012
£'000

Year Ended
31 March
2012
£'000

2,506
1,919
2
451
15,352
20,230

2,506
1,919
2
451
15,352
20,230

2,565
2,324
2
461
8,905
14,257

2,565
2,324
2
461
8,905
14,257

20,230

20,230

14,257

14,257

(2,074)
(13,905)
(49)
(970)
(566)

(2,074)
(13,905)
(49)
(970)
(566)

(3,959)
(7,788)
(776)
(214)
(566)

(3,959)
(7,788)
(776)
(214)
(566)

(4,537)
(22,101)
(1,871)

(4,537)
(22,101)
(1,871)

(4,674)
(17,977)
(3,720)

(4,674)
(17,977)
(3,720)
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25. Events after the reporting period
Post Balance Sheet Events
Following changes in the NHS resulting from the Transforming Community Services agenda, services were transferred from Wolverhampton PCT,
Dudley PCT and Walsall PCT during 2011/12.
Further to this, the Department of Health, in August 2011, issued formal guidance setting out the arrangements for the future of the PCT-owned
estate and its transfer to new owners or retention by the PCT in PCT Estate: Future ownership and management of the estate in the ownership of
Primary Care trusts in England.
On 1st April 2013 the Trust is set to acquire 4 properties from Wolverhampton PCT and 2 properties from Walsall PCT. Property details due to be
transferred are listed below

From Wolverhampton PCT
Penn Hospital – providing Adult Mental Health Inpatient Care for patients who need more support than can be provided in the Community and older
adults with Mental Health needs such as dementia, depression and anxiety
Brooklands Parade – providing Community Services for Older Adults
Pond Lane – providing an Assessment and Treatment Service for people with a Learning Disability and a Community base for Learning Disabilities
staff
Steps to Health – proving community support to people with severe and enduring mental health problems such as schizophrenia and bipolar
disorder
The Net Book Value of these properties is in the region of £18m, with final figures currently being finalised as part of the Financial Year End
process for the PCT
From Walsall PCT
Orchard Hills House and Daisybank – providing a service for people with learning disabilities and / or additional needs who require medical
admission to a specialist assessment and treatment unit
The Net Book Value of these properties is £1.33m.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE ASSEMBLY OF GOVERNORS AND
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF BLACK COUNTRY PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION
TRUST
We have audited the financial statements of Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2013 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and
the related notes 1 to 25. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by Monitor – Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts.
This report is made solely to the Assembly of Governors and Board of Directors (“the Boards”) of
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, as a body, in accordance with paragraph 4 of
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Boards those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Trust and the Boards as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accounting
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law, the Audit Code of NHS Foundation Trusts and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accounting
Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•
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give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by Monitor –
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act
2006.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the National Health Service Act 2006
In our opinion:
•
•

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006; and
the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

•
•

the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading or inconsistent with
information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have
we considered, whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or
that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls; or
proper practices have not been observed in the compilation of the financial statements; or
the NHS foundation trust has not made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation
Trusts.

Gus Miah (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, United Kingdom
29 May 2013
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Section 9
Quality Report

Staff nurse at the Macarthur Centre, Sandwell
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9.1

Statement by the Chief Executive

This has been the first full year of operation as
the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust bringing together a range of services from
across the Black Country. As an organiation we
focused our initial efforts on the safe transfer
of these services but during this year 2012/13
we have begun to look at service developments
and transformations that will deliver quality
improvement. In addition, we have been able to
look at the synergies that were identified as part
of the planning around the national Transforming
Community Services policy. Locally, this has meant
reviewing how these services can be bought
together to develop something better for local
people. The most effective example of this is where
previously there were very small local services
operating as best they could to provide high quality
care but where was not sufficient critical mass
to develop - bring two or three of these services
together and suddenly you have something more
substantial to develop and a larger group of staff
working together for the same end who can get
greater support from each other.
The transfers have not been without difficulty
and we have been under the spotlight from the
regulators - particularly in Wolverhampton where
we have done a huge amount of work particularly
on the Penn Hospital site. This work has led to
new wards being built which offer a much safer
and more therapeutic environment for people who
need an inpatient stay. Alongside this, the staff have
had new training opportunities to support them
providing high quality care.
During the year that is being reported on, the
scandal at Winterbourne View - a service for people
with learning disabilities - was reported in the press.
Locally, we reviewed our services reflecting on the
findings of the investigation at Winterbourne View.
As a Trust, we believe it is important to learn from
these events. We have also asked external reviewers
- independent of the Trust to review the inpatient
services not only for people with learning disabilities
but those for people with mental health problems.
These reviews gave us honest feedback about the
services we provide which we have been able to
use to ensure that we offer the highest quality to all
people in our care.
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This quality report highlights a range of activities that
we have undertaken across the Trust all of which has
been focused on further improving the quality of
the services offered. I hope from it you will be able
to appreciate the hard work and dedication that our
staff have, to provide safe and high quality care.
We have very little flexibility in the wording used
in large parts of the report but we will make an
accessible version available on our internet site so
that as many people as possible that use our services
can read about our organisation’s commitment to
continually improving our services.
In publishing the report the Board of Directors have
reviewed its content and verified the accuracy of
the details contained therein. I therefore confirm, in
accordance with my statutory duty, that to the best
of my knowledge, the information provided in this
Quality Report is accurate.

K. E. Dowman
Chief Executive
What is a Quality Report?
Quality Reports are annual reports to the public
from providers of NHS healthcare about the quality
of services they deliver and their priorities for
improvement as required under the Health Act
2009. It allows our directors, clinicians, governors
and staff to demonstrate their commitment to
continuous, evidence-based quality improvement,
and to explain their progress to the public.
By putting information about the quality of services
we provide into the public domain, we are offering
our approach to quality up for scrutiny, debate and
reflection.
How this report is produced
The Executive Director for Children’s Services is also
the lead executive with responsibility for quality
and is responsible for the production of this quality
report. Clinical staff from the three divisions of
mental health, learning disabilities and children’s
services are involved in producing the content
of the quality report. The Trust routinely reports
quality measures to both executive and board level.
Data quality is assured through the Trust’s data
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quality governance structures, with Board Directors
confirming a statement of compliance with
responsibilities in completing the quality report. Key
partners get sight of a draft of the quality report in a
timely manner. A draft is also reviewed by the Trust’s
Audit Committee as part of the annual report. Final
approval for the quality report is given by the Board
of Directors.
9.2

Review of Our Priorities for
Improvement in 2012/13
We undertook a process of involvement and
engagement with key stakeholders to establish
views on what our priorities for improvement should
be in 2012/13. These priorities reflect the three
domains of quality, patient experience, patient
safety and effective care.
9.2.1

Patient Safety - Reduction in
Absconding Behaviour - Mental Health
Division
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
The number of episodes of absconding behaviour
i.e. the problem of patients going missing without
permission from inpatient areas has not fallen
significantly in the last few years. Analysis showed
that the majority of all absconds originated from
the three wards at Hallam Street Hospital in West
Bromwich although the level of risk to self and
others is mainly moderate or low. Nonetheless, a
project to reduce the continuing upward trend was
launched at Hallam Street Hospital with all three
wards involved. The project used the ‘Strategies
to reduce Missing patients,’ a practical workbook
(National Mental Health Development Unit 2009)
as a framework for tackling the problem. However,
despite the work undertaken during 2011/12, the
number of absconds at Hallam Street Hospital did
not reduce significantly and the Board of Directors in
consultation with stakeholders agreed that this work
should therefore remain a priority for improvement
for 2012/13.

We said we would …
• Continue to look at the motivators to leave what reason did people give for leaving
• Why and how people left - what made it possible
for people to abscond and how they left
• The processes in place that made absconding
possible/more likely

•
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The solution/potential solutions to reduce the
number of episodes of absconding

The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o to develop a greater understanding of the
reasons why some patients are motivated to
abscond
o to develop strategies to reduce the number of
episodes of absconding behaviour taking place
at Hallam Street Hospital
How well did we do?
During 2012, a number of actions were taken:- Clinical risk training for all staff
- Introduction of activity champions and activity
training for all staff, increased resources were
purchased (e.g. Wii Fit) and the resource centre
made available out of hours
- Handover process for resource centre and the
wards for patients moving between the 2 areas
who are on observations were improved
- Entry and exit strategy developed and notice
displayed for patients
▼ Hallam Street Hospital admits between 3040 patients each month and the majority are
generally engaged and supportive of their
treatment programme. However, despite the
work undertaken during 2012/13, the number
of episodes of absconding behaviour at Hallam
Street Hospital has not decreased (see table 1
below).
Table 1: Absconding Behaviour at Hallam
Street Hospital
Year

Total No of
Absconds

No of
Absconds
at Hallam
Street

2012/13

223

132

2011/12

213

133

2010/11

158

140

2009/10

132

109

2008/09

146

137
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What will we do next?
Many of the absconds taking place are due to
patients who are able to climb over the fences
outside the wards. Planning permission has been
applied for and granted to raise the fences. Work is
due to commence by the end of March 2013. This
decision was put off in the past and has only been
taken now after lengthy and careful consideration,
to ensure that the right balance is made between
providing friendly and therapeutic surroundings
for patients while also ensuring a safe and secure
environment. In addition, further measures are
planned for 2013:- Review of entrance and exit strategies
- Regular supervision of staff to include support
for their management of absconding
- Risk rating recording on patient status boards
- Recruitment of an additional practitioner
to support out of hours activities to reduce
boredom
- The Trust’s Abscond Policy to be reviewed in
conjunction with the Police
- A site wide review with clinical staff involved in
reviewing all patient related risk
- All temporary staff to be made fully aware of
building security, local protocols and procedures
9.2.2

Patient Experience - Nutrition/Healthy
Eating - Learning Disabilities Division
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
People with a learning disability want and have
the right to access the same health care services as
everyone else. At the present time, there is still a
need to develop and raise the profile of the needs
of people with learning disabilities who are obese,
or at risk of becoming obese. Research has shown
that levels of obesity are higher in people with
learning disabilities, particularly women. Obesity
can have secondary effects on health and increase
the likelihood of heart disease, stroke and Type 2
diabetes. People with learning disabilities can be
at increased risk because they may have difficulties
understanding health promotion material they may
take medication that has weight gain side-effects
or due to poor lifestyle choices. In addition, some
genetic conditions are associated with obesity such
as Down’s and Prader-Willi syndromes, two different
disorders characterised by some common clinical
features, such as obesity, poor muscle tone, loose
ligaments (strong, flexible bands that hold bones
together) and difficulty learning and developing.
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We said we would …
o Develop a person-centred referral process for
people with learning disabilities who require
weight management support in partnership with
Dudley NHS Public Health Weight Management
Team. People would be assessed and directed
onto a specific pathway based on their degree
of learning disability and the level of support
they would require.
o Identify suitable candidates and invite them
to attend a healthier lifestyle improvement
group and receive health checks at the outset
to identify any risks. This would be undertaken
by the Dudley learning disabilities community
health access team, who could identify suitable
candidates from the obesity register they
maintain and from people who are referred to
the team by their GP for one to one support for
weight management.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:To provide a person-centred pathway service to
suit the individual needs of people referred to the
team who required weight management support.
We would use the following criteria to measure
improvement:• Number of referrals made to the team
• Attendance rate at two Slimmers’ Kitchen 15
week programme
• Reduction in weight of between 2½% and 5%
• Reduced BMI*
• Number of Dudley care providers who received
training in weight management
* Body mass index (BMI), estimates the ideal weight
of a person based on their size and weight
How well did we do?
Table 2 below shows a summary of the referrals
made to the Health Access Service for weight
management and the action taken.
Table 2: Summary of Referrals
No. Referrals to the Health Access Service

60

No referred for One to one
intervention

19

No. referred to Slimmers’ Kitchen 15
week programme

21

No. Weighing Clinic Fortnightly clinic at
Ridge Hill

9

No of people offered support but not
ready to engage

11
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Slimmers’ Kitchen is a 15 week programme adapted
to meet the learning needs of people with varying
levels of Learning Disability. The sessions consist
of a weekly two hour intervention. Its aim is to
promote weight loss by empowering participants to
make lifestyle changes, through healthy eating and
exercise. Table 3 below provides details:Table 3: Slimmers’ Kitchen Groups
Number of participants in groups

21

Number of participants who
completed the group

17

Number who attended 50% of the
group

17

Number of people who dropped
out

4

% of participants who lost weight

62%

Average weight loss

1.6kg

19 people received one to one intervention for
weight loss. Due to different commencement dates
data collection is active and the data shown below
is for nine people.
Table 4: One to One Programme
No of people on one to one
programme
Average weight Loss
Average BMI Reduction

19
4.5kg
1.7

▲ Using a person-centered approach information
and delivery was adapted to meet individual
levels of understanding. This included signs,
pictures, food models and accessible information
depending on their level of understanding and
ability. Sessions were carried out where the
person was most happy, the family home, Ridge
Hill Centre, Day Care provision, or at their GP
Practice.
▲ Accessible easy to read questionnaires were
successful in measuring individual experience
and satisfaction. The feedback from accessible
questionnaires was positive. Participation and
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attendance in all groups was high. Many of the
people who attended the programme saw this
more of an opportunity to meet socially, not
fully understanding the importance of weight
loss. However, we were able to establish that
information delivery and the physical activity did
meet individual need.
▼ Weight loss in some cases was slow and
individual 5% target weight loss has been hard
to achieve in most cases. Some participants were
close to 5% at the end of their programme
and were beginning to understand some of the
information being given.
The role of care provider support in the prevention,
intervention and maintenance of healthy eating
and physical exercise plans is vital for all people
with learning disabilities, who mostly depend on
others for advice and support to plan, budget,
shop and cook their meals. Training for care staff
on the principles of healthy eating and physical
activity is therefore important.
Table 5: Training for Care providers in Dudley
No of care providers in Dudley invited
for training

68

No of care providers who responded

20

No of people who attended two day
Training

30

▲ A six week weight management training
programme was developed and piloted for
Dudley care providers. Almost half of the total
number of care providers in Dudley attended
which was a very encouraging start.
What will we do next?
Participants who have attended Slimmers Kitchen
programmes will be invited to make appointments
at three months, six months, nine months and
twelve months. Individuals who commence one
to one sessions will be offered regular sessions
within the first 6 months, this then reduces to
maintenance sessions and depending on individual
need and progress this can be for 18 months.
Further training will be arranged to encourage a
greater uptake by care providers in Dudley.
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9.2.3

Effective Care - Quality of Safeguarding
Children Record Keeping - Children’s
Division
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Well-kept records are essential to good child
protection practice. Safeguarding children requires
information to be brought together from a number
of sources and careful professional judgements
to be made on the basis of this information.
Records must therefore be clear, accessible, and
comprehensive.
A joint inspection of safeguarding and looked
after children services in Dudley by the Office
for Standards in Education (Ofsted) and the
Care Quality Commission in 2011 highlighted
the need to improve the quality of safeguarding
record keeping by health visitors. A health visitor
is a qualified registered nurse. Every family with
children under five has a named health visitor
whose role is to offer support and encouragement
to families through the early years from pregnancy
and birth to primary school and beyond; they work
closely with GPs.
The Board of Directors shared this concern and in
consultation with stakeholders, identified it as a
priority for improvement in 2012/13.
We said we would …
o Organise a record skills workshop for health
visitors in April 2012 and record training within
each team
o Standards of record keeping would be based
on the model developed by the London
Safeguarding Children Board, which is widely
recognised as the preferred model
o Every month 5 sets of records would be
randomly selected for auditing to measure if
they have improved or not
o In addition, an annual record keeping audit
would be carried out as part of the service’s local
audit programme when 10% of each health
visitor’s case load is audited in September 2012.
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The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:• Standards of record keeping to be based on the
model developed by the London Safeguarding
Children Board
• Comparisons to the required standards for
record keeping to identify any concerns so
appropriate action can be taken to address them
• To improve the quality of record keeping for
health visitors’ care records essential to the
provision of safe and effective care
How well did we do?
▼ Due to organisational problems we have not
been able to check as many case records as we
originally planned to. 18 case records from five
health visitor teams have been audited. The
case notes were selected randomly and included
children and young people categorised as in
need, looked after or child protection.
▼ Across all of the records audited there is
evidence of both good practice and areas
for improvement. The findings indicated
that practitioners maintain links with other
professionals, are aware of case history and are
up to date with the progress of individual plans
but there is still a need for clearer documented
communication between agencies.
▲ The Trust has implemented new records
that contain a ‘significant event form’ for all
children - these forms record all events for
each individual case chronologically to ensure
better communication between practitioners,
particularly around transfer of records. It
provides an ‘at a glance’ chronological picture
which can help inform important decisions
regarding a child.
What will we do next?
In view of our underperformance, a programme of
regular audits across health visitors’ teams will be
drawn up to provide greater assurance on whether the standards of record keeping is improving,
which will inform what further action needs to be
taken as necessary.
For all existing cases that are in the old records
we will be looking to add significant event forms
retrospectively to improve and strengthen communication.
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9.2.4

West Midlands Quality Review of
Dementia Services
In last year’s quality report we made a commitment
to report on our progress to improve dementia
services following an independent review by
the West Midlands Quality Review Service in
January 2012. The review was carried out across
NHS organisations’ in the West Midlands to
help improve the quality of health services and
develop evidence-based quality standards. The
report revealed that substantial improvement was
required in a number of areas and particularly
highlighted the importance of working in
partnership with commissioners to provide an
effective service.
We said we would …
o Begin work to comply with a number of
standards to improve the quality of our services
o Develop an action plan to deliver these
improvements
o Improve the way we involve and work with the
people who commission dementia services
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:• Patients, their families and carers will know more
about the services they can expect
• Work together with commissioners to improve
service quality
• Work towards achieving compliance with all
fifty-six quality standards to improve upon the
quality of services we currently provide
What have we achieved so far?
▲ When the review was undertaken there were no
appointed specialist commissioners for older adult
mental health services for the Trust to work in
partnership with. In the last twelve months, the
Trust has worked hard to rectify this situation and
commissioners have been appointed by Sandwell
Primary Care Trust to commission older adult
mental health services for the people of Sandwell.
At the present time, there are no specialist
appointed commissioners to commission services
for people living in Wolverhampton but the Trust
will continue to work to rectify this situation.
▲ The older adults’ ward at Penn Hospital has been
completely refurbished to provide a welcoming,
modern purpose-built environment for patients
admitted with dementia and re-opened on
schedule in February 2013.
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▲ Dementia training for staff working in our
hospitals and community services has been
successfully implemented and at Penn Hospital
we have also completed carrying out a range of
competency checks for all nursing staff to help
them carry out their duties more effectively.
▲ We have launched a major service redesign
project in Sandwell to review and improve the
way we provide services in the community for
both adults and older adults, which will include
the way we provide services for people with
dementia.
▲ At Edward Street Hospital in West Bromwich,
staff have worked very hard in collaboration
with Social Services to achieve a reduction in the
number of patients whose discharge is delayed
due suitable accommodation not being available
to allow them to live in the community.
▲ At Penn Hospital, a project is underway to
look at improving the care pathway (patient’s
journey) for people who are admitted suffering
from dementia.
For more information: http://www.wmqi.
westmidlands.nhs.uk/wmqrs/publications/forreview-programme/85
What will we do next?
As part of Sandwell’s Dementia strategy, the Trust
has put in a bid to the NHS Capital Fund to create
a world class dementia friendly environment
at Edward Street Hospital. The bid sets out a
vision for a community resource centre that destigmatises the illness and provides holistic care
for people with dementia and their carers. A great
deal of effort has been put into working up the
bid, including workshops with staff, service users
and carers. At the beginning of March 2013, we
heard that our bid has got through to Round
2, one of only three shortlisted bids from the
West Midlands. This is very exciting news but we
realise that we must not let up and do our very
best to secure this funding to improve the quality
of dementia services at Edward Street Hospital.
Regardless of the success of our bid, work is
continuing to develop a model of care for patients
with dementia across our inpatient and community
services.
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9.3

Looking Ahead - Our Priorities for
Quality Improvement in 2013/14
We have listened to feedback from service users,
staff and stakeholders over the past year and
reviewed national guidance in order to develop
a set of priorities for the year ahead. See table 6
below.

However, patient safety has to be balanced with
independence, rehabilitation, privacy, and dignity
- a patient who is not allowed to walk alone will
very quickly become a patient who is unable to
walk alone. Addressing inpatient falls and fallrelated injuries is therefore a significant challenge
for all health care organisations.

Table 6: Quality Improvement Priorities for
2013/14

How we will monitor, measure and report on
progress
All incidents including those involving falls are
reported on the Trust’s electronic incident reporting
system and collated centrally. This allows clinical
managers and modern matrons to identify and
monitor the frequency, severity and places where
falls occur. In addition, the introduction of the
National Safety Thermometer provides another
way of monitoring and reporting falls.

Domain
Patient
Safety
Patient
Experience

Patient
Experience

Division

Priority

Mental
Health

Reduction in the
number of Falls

Learning
Disabilities

Improvement in
patient activities
within inpatient
services

Children

Listen to and learn
from regular user
feedback across all
services

9.3.1

Patient Safety - Mental Health Division Reduction in the number of Falls
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Across England and Wales over 26,000 falls are
reported from mental health units every year.
A significant number of falls result in severe or
moderate injury at an estimated cost of £15 million
per year and that does not include the costs for
rehabilitation and social care. Then there is the
human cost of falling - distress, pain, injury, loss of
confidence and loss of independence.

A Falls Group is leading on a number of initiatives
to produce a reduction in the number of falls
including the introduction of ‘FallSafe’ a project
designed by the Royal College of Physicians in
partnership with the Royal College of Nursing. It
enables hospital wards to carefully assess patients’
risk of falling, and introduce simple, but effective
and evidence-based measures to prevent falls in
future. With the introduction of new initiatives,
the division is aiming to reduce the overall number
of falls by 10% for 2013/14. As indicated above,
this will be closely monitored using the Trust’s
electronic incident reporting system. Reporting
on progress will be included in the Integrated
Performance Report which is reviewed by the
Board of Directors at their monthly meetings
throughout the year.
9.3.2

The causes of falls are complex and patients of all
ages fall. Certain risk factors are more common in
younger people e.g. faints, trips, acute illness but
older hospital patients are particularly likely to be
vulnerable to falling through medical conditions or
problems with their balance, strength or mobility.
Problems like poor eyesight or poor memory can
create a greater risk of falls when someone is out
of their normal environment on a hospital ward, as
they are less able to spot and avoid any hazards,
whilst continence problems can mean patients are
vulnerable to falling whilst making urgent journeys
to the toilet.
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Patient Experience - Improvement in
patient activities within inpatient
services - Learning Disabilities Division
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Evidence suggests that boredom and reduced
motivation results in poorer clinical outcomes for
all patients who stay in hospital for any length of
time. In 2011/12, the Care Quality Commission
carried out a national review of learning
disability services and identified providing more
meaningful activities for patients as a key area for
improvement.
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Meaningful activity is time spent doing activities on
their own or with others, which are personal and
important to patients and will impact on the way
they feel and drive their treatment and recovery.
Examples will include time spent in personal care,
sport and physical fitness, ward based therapeutic
and recreational activities, outdoor sports and
trips, activities outside the hospital building such as
gardening and therapeutic walks. It also includes
quality time spent with staff in one to one sessions
and therapeutic group activities.
How we will monitor, measure and report on
progress
Each learning disabilities inpatient unit will
promote a balanced and structured day involving
meaningful activity linked to patients’ agreed
care plans that promote recovery. Every patient
will have a personal activity timetable which is
planned weekly and determined by the patient, in
partnership with their clinical team. Information
about activities will be clearly displayed on the
ward in each unit, which will include present
activities and ideas for future activities. Patients will
be supported to lead and influence group activities
and social events.
Each patient has an activity diary to hold their own
record of activities, both planned and unplanned
and is supported to record their personal activities.
The diaries enable staff to review the different
activities people engage in as well as ensuring
there is some degree of balance in the types of
activities they undertake. The diaries will provide
the necessary information to map individual activity
as well as activity across each unit as a whole.
The intention is to aim to provide a minimum of
25 hours meaningful activity a week. Reporting on
progress to achieve this target will be made to the
Learning Disabilities Care Governance Group at
their monthly meetings throughout the year.
9.3.3

Patient Experience - Children’s Division Listen to and learn from regular user
feedback across all services
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
There is increasing emphasis from the Government
on the need to establish an organisational culture
where listening to and learning from patients
is at the heart of NHS organisations such as
Foundation Trusts. In Children, Young People and
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Families services the ‘patient’ is frequently not
just the individual child but also his/her parent(s)
and carer(s) and sometimes the whole family
group. This objective will help us to demonstrate
that the ‘think families’ agenda is fully integrated
into our current service provision as well as an
integral part of service planning, development and
transformation.
How we will monitor, measure and report on
progress
Some of our services already have a track record of
service user involvement, whilst others have more
work to do in this area. We will collaborate with
the ‘Expert by Experience’ Group and establish a
steering group within each locality. The following
steps will then be implemented:-

-

A reporting framework will be established
All service areas will be required to implement
appropriate methods to engage users feedback/
experience and to submit the results/analysis
from the application of at least one approach to
engaging service user feedback
Leads within each service area to be identified
and compile an initial report for presentation at
divisional meetings
Completion will be monitored by the project
lead who will provide regular updates to the
Clinical Director and to Divisional meetings
An annual report from each service lead will
be required that details how this information
was used to inform design planning and service
improvement

9.4

Statements of Assurance from the
Board of Directors
The aim of this section is to provide information
to the public which will be common across all
quality reports, thereby enabling people to gain a
more informed and transparent view about what
different healthcare organisations have reported.
The statements in this section will aim to offer
assurance from the Board of Directors to the public
that the Trust is:• Performing to essential standards
• Measuring our clinical processes and
performance
• Involved in national projects and initiatives aimed
at improving quality

115

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
9.4.1 Review of Services
During 2012/13 the Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust provided and/or sub-contracted
11 NHS services:- Adult mental health inpatient services for people
in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Adult mental health community services for
people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Older adult mental health inpatient services for
people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Older adult mental health community services
for people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Learning disabilities inpatient services for people
in Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Learning disabilities community-based services
for people in Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell and
Wolverhampton
- Community healthcare services for children,
young people and their families in Dudley
- Child and adolescent mental health services
(CAMHS) for children and young people in
Sandwell and Wolverhampton
- Community services for adults and young
people in Wolverhampton who are dependent
upon alcohol and drugs
- Community services for adults living in Sandwell
who are dependent upon alcohol
- Counselling services for adults living in Sandwell
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The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on
the quality of care in all of these NHS services.
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2012/13 represents 100% per cent of
the total income generated from the provision of
NHS services by the Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust for 2012/13
9.4.2 Participation in Clinical Audits
During 2012/13, six national clinical audits and one
national confidential inquiry covered NHS services
that Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust provides.
During that period the Trust participated in
100% national clinical audits and 100% national
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits
and national confidential enquiries which it was
eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that the Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2012/13 (see table 7 below)
were as follows:-

Table 7: Eligibility to Participate in National Clinical Audits
Sponsor

Title

Royal College of Psychiatrists

Psychological Therapies

Royal College of Psychiatrists Prescribing
Observatory for Mental Health

Prescribing for People with Personality Disorder

Royal College of Psychiatrists Prescribing
Observatory for Mental Health

Screening for metabolic side effects of
anti-psychotic medication

Royal College of Psychiatrists Prescribing
Observatory for Mental Health

Prescribing anti-psychotics for People with
Dementia

Royal College of Psychiatrists Prescribing
Observatory for Mental Health

Prescribing Anti-dementia Drugs

Royal College of Psychiatrists Prescribing
Observatory for Mental Health

Prescribing for ADHD

Department of Health and Healthcare Quality
Improvement Partnership (HQIP)

National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and
Homicide by People with Mental Illness

For more information:
http://www.hqip.org.uk/national-clinical-audits-for-inclusion-in-quality-accounts/#current
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The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Trust participated in, and for which
data collection was completed during 2012/13, are listed in Table 8 below alongside the number of cases
submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms
of that audit or enquiry.
Table 8: Participation in National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries
Title
Psychological Therapies

Cases submitted
54%

Prescribing for People with Personality Disorder

*

Screening for metabolic side effects of anti-psychotic medication

*

Prescribing anti-psychotics for People with Dementia

*

Prescribing anti-dementia Drugs

*

Prescribing for ADHD
National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People
with Mental Illness

in progress
100%

*due to changes in the organisation we are not able to provide this information
The reports of one completed National Clinical Audit and one National Confidential Enquiry were reviewed
by the Trust in 2012/13 and it has taken the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:-

-

A Review of prescribing practices of anti-psychotics for treatment resistant schizophrenia
Ensure that information leaflets on medication are readily available on all wards and in community areas for
patients to make use of
Every time we discuss and involve patients in decisions about their medication that this is recorded in their
health records
Our mental health teams have reviewed their risk assessments and management procedures and how they
screen for risk of harm to others in this process. They encourage family members to be involved in risk
assessment and care planning as far as possible. If risks are identified to the family a multi-agency approach
will be adopted and a protection plan will be agreed and put in place.
A Psychosis Network of health professionals and stakeholders across adult mental health services has been
established to develop a care pathway for psychosis, from primary care right through to inpatient services
and provide a forum for linking and sharing good practice.
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The Trust also uses local clinical audit as a way
to improve the quality of its services. The reports
of ten local clinical audits were reviewed by the
Trust in 2012/13 and it intends to take/has taken
the following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:-

-

-

-
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Clinical Tutors to continue to develop and
improve education and awareness of the
guidelines for prescribing in psychiatry for junior
doctors not just at induction but through further
refreshers where necessary.
Clinical Directors to remind medical staff of the
importance of:Amending prescriptions rather than re-writing
them as recommended by the guidelines
together with an accompanying signature and
date
Prescriptions should be cancelled with the use
of one diagonal line as recommended by the
guidelines. Signature and date to accompany
discontinued prescription
The timely completion of discharge summaries
Regularly reviewing PRN (as required) medication
in the ward rounds
Clinicians making changes to the dose of the
depot (medication that is released over several
days) should make amendments in the treatment
card as far as possible on the same day

2013

9.4.3 Participation in research
The Trust continues to be research active and
has an established Research and Development
Group which meets every month and is attended
by senior clinicians representing their different
services and professions. It is a member of both
the Birmingham and Black Country Comprehensive
Local Research Network (BBC CLRN) and the Heart
of England Hub of the Mental Health Research
Network. This collaborative approach enables the
Trust to participate in national, large scale research
projects designed to improve the quality of care we
offer and make a contribution to the wider health
economy.
We have exceeded the 2012/13 target of 81
set by BBC CLRN for the number of participants
voluntarily taking part in national, large scale
research projects. The number of participants
receiving NHS services provided by the Trust in
2012/13 that were recruited during that period
to participate in research approved by a research
ethics committee was 187 as at 31st March 2013.
Table 9 overleaf gives details of the research
projects we have participated in.
For more information: http://www.mhrn.
info/pages/heart-of-england-hub.html http://
www.crncc.nihr.ac.uk/about_us/ccrn/bbc/rmg/
BBC+CLRN+RMG+Consortium
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Table 9: Research Activity 2012/13
Study Title

Division

Recruitment Patients
Target
Recruited

Status

A pilot study of Expert Carers Helping
Others (ECHO) intervention for
anorexia nervosa sufferers

Children’s

5

3

Completed

ADEPT - Understanding and preventing
adverse effects of psychological
therapies

Mental Health

10

11

Completed

PARADES - Study on Mental Capacity
and Bipolar Disorder

Mental Health

40

41

Completed

(OASIS) Seoquel XL Hospital-Event
Monitoring Study

Mental Health

60

46

Completed*

The Association between autism
spectrum conditions (ASCc) and
psychosis investigating the importance
of chromosome
15q11-13

Mental Health

6

9

Ongoing

Molecular Genetic Investigation of
Bipolar Disorder and related mood
disorders

Mental Health

80

70

Ongoing

DNA Polymorphisms in Mental Illness
Genetic Case-Control and Brain
Imaging Studies of Mental Illness and
Alzheimer's Dementia (Alcohol arm)

Mental Health

50

65

Ongoing

DNA Polymorphisms in Mental Illness
Genetic Case-Control and Brain
Imaging Studies of Mental Illness and
Alzheimer's Dementia (Schizophrenia
arm)

Mental Health

10

16

Ongoing

A Non-Interventional Prospective
Cohort Study of Patients with
Persistent Symptoms of Schizophrenia
to describe the course and burden
of Illness. ROCHE MN28151Pattern
Schizophrenia Study _v10

Mental Health

10

2

New study

DNA Variations in Adults with Learning
Disabilities

Learning

15

7

New study

*Study finished early as national recruitment target met
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9.4.4 Goals agreed with Commissioners
A proportion of the Trust’s income in 2012/2013
was conditional on achieving quality improvement
and innovation goals agreed between the Trust and
any person or body they entered into a contract,
agreement or arrangement with for the provision
of NHS services, through the Commissioning
for Quality and Innovation Payment Framework
(CQUIN). Further details of the agreed goals for
2012/13 and for the following 12 month period
are available online at:
http://www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/
modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/_openTKFile.
php?id=3275
The statement below (tables 10 and 11) includes
a monetary total for the amount of income in
2012/13 conditional upon achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals, and a
monetary total for the associated payment in
2011/12.

2013

Table 10: Income 2012/13
2012/13
CQUIN @ 2.5%
Sandwell Contracts
Sandwell - Sandwell PCT

875,053

Wolverhampton
- Sandwell PCT
Dudley - Sandwell PCT
Sub total

946
6,977
882,976

Wolverhampton Contracts
Wolverhampton PCT
Sandwell
- Wolverhampton PCT

792,313
4,745

Dudley - Wolverhampton PCT
Sub total

356
797,414

Dudley Contracts
Dudley - Dudley PCT
Sandwell - Dudley PCT
Wolverhampton - Dudley PCT
Sub total

366,003
10,567
8,148
384,718

Walsall Contracts
Wolverhampton - Walsall PCT

4,462

Sandwell - Walsall PCT

1,841

Sub total

6,303

South Staffs Contract
Wolverhampton
- South Staffs PCT

5,309

Sub total

5,309

Birmingham PCTs
Sandwell - HOB PCT
Sandwell - South Bham PCT

23,747
2,388

Sandwell - BEN PCT
Sub total

874
27,009

West Midlands Specialised Commissioning
Sandwell - West Midlands SCG

73,500

Sub total

73,500

Grand Total
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Table 11: Income 2011/12

9.4.5 Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
is required to register with the Care Quality
Commission and its current registration is
registered without conditions.

2011/12
CQUIN @ 1.5%
Sandwell Contracts
Sandwell PCT - Older Adult

143,840

Sandwell PCT - CAMHS

27,110

Sandwell PCT - Other

33,880

Sandwell PCT - adult mental
health
Sandwell MBC - learning
disabilities

297,540
28,810

Overperformance on Sandwell
PCT

2,500

Overperformance on Sandwell
MBC

314

Birmingham PCT

15,440

Dudley PCT

10,262

Walsall PCT

923

Wolverhampton PCT
Sub total

1190
561,809

Wolverhampton Contracts
Telford & Wrekin PCT
South Staffordshire PCT

106
2,705

Shropshire PCT

106

Sandwell PCT

578

Dudley PCT

6,114

Walsall PCT

4,561

Wolverhampton PCT

231,253

Sub total

245,423

Dudley Contracts
Sandwell PCT
Dudley PCT
Wolverhampton PCT
Sub total

2013

4,461
211,141
214

The Care Quality Commission issued three warning
notices on 17th April 2012 in respect of Penn
Hospital that required action to be taken to meet:•
•
•

Regulation 18 Consent to care and treatment
Regulation 10 (1) (a) (b) Assessing and
monitoring the quality of service provision
Regulation 9 (1) (a) (b) (c) (i) (ii) Care and welfare
of service users

In response to these letters, the Trust undertook an
intensive piece of work and a subsequent visit by
the Care Quality Commission on 16th July 2012
confirmed that Penn Hospital was meeting the
three regulations listed above.
The CQC had previously indicated their view
that Penn Hospital is not fit for purpose. As a
result of this, the Trust and the Black Country
Commissioning Cluster have worked together
to agree a plan to undertake a significant
refurbishment of Penn Hospital. The first two
phases of re-development have been completed
and the final phase will be completed by July
2013 and will ensure that the hospital offers a
therapeutic and safe environment for people using
its services.
The Trust has participated in special reviews or
investigations by the Care Quality Commission
relating to the following areas during 2012/13 Learning Disability Services.
The Trust has taken the following action (see table
12) to address the conclusions or requirements
reported by the CQC:-

215,819

Walsall Contracts
Walsall MBC

63,418

Sub total

63,418

Grand Total

1,086,469
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Table 12: CQC Inspections 2012/13
Inspection
Date

Location

Findings

Action

23rd
May
2012

Macarthur Centre MH
Heath Lane Hospital,
Sandwell

Outcome 14: Staff should be
properly trained and supervised,
and have the chance to develop and
improve their skills

Action Plan submitted
to CQC 17th July
2012

23rd
May
2012

Heath Lane Hospital,
Sandwell

Outcome 14: Staff should be
properly trained and supervised,
and have the chance to develop and
improve their skills

Action Plan submitted
to CQC 17th July 2012

The Trust has made the following progress (see table 13) in taking such action:Table 13: Progress on Action Plans
Location

Action

Macarthur Centre MH Heath
Lane Hospital, Sandwell

Action plan has been
implemented and CQC notified
21st December 2012

Completed but only 68%
compliance with safeguarding
training *

Heath Lane Hospital, Sandwell

Action plan fully implemented
and CQC notified 26th
October 2012

Completed

*The reason for this slippage was due to the
previously complex Trust approach to mandatory
training, with staff having to access all the
different mandatory topics in separate sessions.
For safeguarding adults, we were also largely
reliant on the local authority for providing training,
where places were somewhat limited. To address
this, a new approach to mandatory training has
now been implemented across the Trust, which
combines a number of key topics into one annual
mandatory training day (delivered internally)
which all staff are required to attend every year
(which includes safeguarding adults and children
awareness training), and on to which all staff are
being automatically booked. Any non-attendance
is also being actively followed up. More advanced
safeguarding adults training is also made available
for staff in identified roles.
For more information: http://www.cqc.org.uk/
directory/TAJ
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Status

9.4.6 Data Quality
NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code
Validity
The Trust has submitted records during 2012/2013
to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the
Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the
latest published data. The percentage of records in
the published data, which included the patient’s valid
NHS number was:99.4% for admitted patient care
99.9% for outpatient care
The percentage of records in the published data,
which included the patient’s valid General Medical
Practice Code was:100% for admitted patient care
100% for outpatient care
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Information Governance Toolkit attainment
levels 2012/2013
▼ The Trust’s Information Governance Assessment
Report overall score for 2012/2013 was 68%
and graded as ‘not satisfactory’ (see table 14).

2013

Clinical Coding Error Rate
The Trust was subject to the Payment by Results
clinical coding audit during March 2012, and the
error rates reported (see table 15) in the latest
published audit for that period for diagnosis and
treatment coding (clinical coding) was:-

Table 14: Information Governance Toolkit
Initiative
Information
Governance
Management

2011/12 2012/13
Achieved Achieved
46%

Table 15: Clinical Coding Error Rate
Clinical Coding

60%

Confidentiality and
Data Protection
Assurance

62%

Information Security
Assurance

64%

68%

Clinical Information
Assurance

66%

66%

Secondary Use
Assurance

70%

70%

Corporate Information
Assurance

55%

77%

Overall

62%

68%

66%

2011/12

2012/13

Primary diagnoses
correct

97.0%

100.0%

Secondary Diagnosis
correct

96.1%

94.0%

Clinical data must be accurately and consistently
recorded to well-defined national standards
to enable it to be used for statistical analysis.
Information drawn from accurate Clinical Coding
better reflects the pattern of practice of clinicians
and provides a sound basis for the decision making
process. Of the 50 episodes audited, none were
unsafe to audit. The audit covered five services
and 289 diagnoses and procedures (see table 16
below). 13 errors (4.5%) were identified; five due
to coder error and eight to non-coder error i.e.
the information was not available to the coders
at the time of coding. The results should not
be extrapolated further than the actual sample
audited.

Table 16: Audit Results 2012/13

Services audited

% Diagnoses coded
correctly

% Procedures coded
correctly

Primary

Secondary

Primary

Secondary

Wolverhampton Adult Mental Health

100.0

96.87

N/A

N/A

Wolverhampton Older Adult Mental Health

100.0

100.0

N/A

N/A

Sandwell Older Adult Mental Health

100.0

87.18

100.0

100.0

Sandwell Older Adult Mental Health

100.0

88.46

100.0

100.0

Sandwell Learning Disabilities

100.0

86.43

N/A

N/A
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
will be taking the following actions to improve
data quality:➢ Re-launching the Mental Health Clustering
Tool - this is a tool used by health professionals
designed to rate the care needs of a patient,
based upon a series of 18 rating scales
➢ Re-training clinical staff in clinical practice and
clinical systems to support the above
➢ Addressing data quality issues as part of this
training
➢ The establishment of a ‘Payment by Results’*
Group to focus on clinical issues. The group will
be chaired by the Trust’s Director of Finance.
(*‘payment by results’ is a system where payments
are made only after the results have been verified
independently)
9.5
Review of our Quality Performance
With the exception of infection prevention and
control, which is an ongoing priority for the Board
of Directors, we have changed the indicators we
reported on in the quality report for 2011/12. The
rationale behind this change was two-fold: firstly,
the results we published for these indicators all
showed significant improvement and secondly,
the Board of Directors in consultation with
stakeholders, decided that it was important to
report on progress made on quality initiatives in
other parts of the Trust. The results of our progress
with these new indicators are set out below:9.5.1

Safety - Increasing the uptake of
Adolescent Immunisation in Dudley
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Immunisation is one of the most important
weapons for protecting individuals and the
community from serious diseases. The national
immunisation programme requires that by the
time children leave full-time education they have
received 5 doses of a tetanus containing vaccine
for effective lifelong protection against infection.
Tetanus infection has a high mortality (death rate)
and without full protection a young adult would
remain at risk.
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The fifth dose, referred to as the School Leaver
Booster is given as a single jab which contains
vaccines against tetanus, diphtheria and polio. It is
currently given to pupils in Year 10, and if not at
school, children aged 14-15 years.
We said we would …
• Increase the uptake of the school leaver booster
for all children in Dudley schools or resident in
Dudley but not at school.
The outcome we wanted to achieve was:o In 2009/10 an estimated 78.8% of 14-15
year olds received the school leaver booster
based on an average of the 14 and 15 year old
populations in Dudley for that year. We wanted
to increase the rate of uptake to at least 95%
for all children in Dudley schools or resident in
Dudley but not at school.
How well did we do?
▼ We had increased the uptake of immunisation
to 85% by the end of December 2012 but
this was below the target we were aiming for.
Further work was undertaken to assess the
actions required by all schools to reach those
school children that had not yet attended for
vaccination. At the end of March 2013 we
increased the uptake of immunisation to 91%,
which is still below the target of 95% we aimed
for but vaccinations are still on-going as the
programme is term-time operated rather than
by the financial year April - March.
9.5.2

Safety - National Patient Safety
Thermometer
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
The Patient Safety Thermometer is a national
initiative, used by our frontline healthcare
professionals to check basic levels of care, identify
where things are going wrong and take action. It
is called a ‘safety thermometer’ because it provides
a quick and simple method to measure and track
the proportion of patients in our care with the four
harms of:- Pressure ulcers (bedsores)
- Catheter associated urinary tract infections often
referred to as CAUTIs. (These are infections
that can occur in your kidneys, the tubes that
take urine from the kidneys to your bladder,
or in your bladder. If you have a ‘catheter
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-

tube’ in your bladder, you are more likely to
develop an infection the longer it remains in
place. To reduce the incidence, we monitor all
patients with urinary catheters very closely and
ensure that staff follow national best practice
guidelines.)
Falls
Venous thromboembolisms often referred to
as VTEs. A patient may be defined as having a
new VTE if they are being treated for a deep
vein thrombosis (DVT) (a blood clot in the calf),
pulmonary embolism (PE) (a blood clot in the
lung) or any other recognised type of VTE with
appropriate therapy such as anticoagulants
(medication to prevent the blood from clotting).

We said we would …
• Survey at risk patients in all appropriate settings
using a point prevalence survey method (one
day per month) each month, to measure and
track the proportion of patients with pressure
ulcers, CAUTIs, falls and VTEs.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o To establish a system to survey all at risk patients
in all appropriate settings on a set day on each
month.
o For this information to be collected at the point
of care by healthcare professionals in accordance
with national guidance
o To use this information to look at ways to reduce
the number of our patients who experience
pressure ulcers, CAUTIs, falls and VTEs.
o To submit the information collected each month
from July 2012 to the NHS National Information
Centre* quarterly, to play our part in establishing
a national standard of performance on the four
harms of, pressure ulcers, CAUTIs, falls and
VTEs.
*England’s national source of health and social
care information.
How well did we do?
▲ During the period April to June 2012 reporting
systems were successfully established and tested
with the NHS Information Centre. In Quarter
2 (July to September), Quarter 3 (October to
December) and Quarter 4 (January to march
2013) we successfully surveyed all at risk
patients in all appropriate settings on a set
day in each month and our submissions were
received by the NHS Information Centre.

2013

We have used this information to look at ways to
reduce the number of patients who experience
pressure ulcers, CAUTIs, falls and VTEs and taken
the following action - see table 17 below.
Table 17: Quality Initiatives
Harm

Quality Initiatives we have taken …

Pressure
Ulcers

A review of our tissue viability
services (tissue viability refers to the
preservation of tissue and the healing
in wounds where a complication has
prevented the normal healing process)

CAUTIs

Development of a Trust Catheter
Policy with guidelines and standards
and the introduction of monthly
infection control audits

VTEs

Review of the Trust’s Physical Health
Policy and the introduction of VTE risk
assessments

Falls

Develop a Falls Strategy and introduce
‘FallSafe’ a project to help hospital
wards to carefully assess patients’
risk of falling, and introduce simple,
but effective and evidence-based
measures to prevent falls in future.
The appointment of a Physical Health
Matron and physical health training
for all clinical staff

9.5.3

Safety - Infection Prevention and Control

Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Infection prevention and control is an essential
component of care. We want our patients to
feel they are safe and receiving the best possible
healthcare with us so while the risk of an infection
is small, continuing to reduce the risk of infections
remains of paramount importance.
We said we would …
• continue to undertake surveillance throughout
the Trust as this is an essential component in
the prevention and control of infection through
weekly monitoring of the incidence of infections
across the services we provide
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The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o Continued prevention and early detection of
outbreaks in order to allow timely investigation
and control
o Assessment of infection levels over time, in
order to determine the need for and measure
the effectiveness of prevention and/or control
measures
o The Infection Prevention and Control Committee
continues to meet quarterly to review the annual
work plan to maintain a safe environment. The
Director of Infection Prevention and Control
presents regular progress reports to the Board of
Directors
o The infection control team works with the wider
health economy to reduce healthcare acquired
infection incidence
How well did we do?
The Infection Prevention and Control Team use a
surveillance system to monitor and record data on
Alert Organisms and Alert Conditions found in the
patients that we care for.

2013

▲ Zero - Clostridium difficile (C difficile) reported
▲ Zero - Meticillin Sensitive Staphylococcus aureus
(MSSA) bacteraemia reported
Alert conditions are identified through clinical
diagnosis, not laboratory tests e.g. diarrhoea,
vomiting, chickenpox, shingles, mumps, measles,
scabies.
Diarrhoea and vomiting:
▼ Qtr. 1 = 6 cases ; Qtr. 2 = 4 cases ; Qtr. 3 = 20
cases ; Qtr. 4 = 31 cases:
The classification of an outbreak of a serious
infectious illness occurs when an unusual number
of patients with similar symptoms present in the
same area or with a shared exposure. A marker
for diarrhoea or vomiting outbreak is 2 or more
patients with the same symptoms in the same area
within 24 to 48 hours or 3 or more patients within
one month.
Outbreaks:

Alert organisms are diagnosed through laboratory
tests e.g. MRSA, E-coli, Clostridium difficile.
▲ Zero - Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus
(MRSA) bacteraemia reported
▲ Zero - Escherichia coli (E. coli) bacteraemia
reported

▼ Qtr. 1 = 0 ; Qtr. 2 = 0 ; Qtr. 3 = 2 ; Qtr. 4 = 2
For more details see Table 18 below.

Table 18: Diarrhoea and Vomiting Outbreaks
No. of Patients
affected from
start of outbreak

No. of Staff
affected from
start of outbreak

Date Unit
Closed

Date Unit
re-opened

Orchard Hills Learning
Disabilities Unit Walsall

4

5

2.10.12

11.10.12

Juniper Ward Penn Hospital
Wolverhampton

7

8

18.10.12

09.11.12

Cedar Ward Penn Hospital
Wolverhampton

7

7

13.01.13

21.01.13

Juniper Ward Penn Hospital
Wolverhampton

12

5

04.03.13

29.03.13

Site
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Action taken
Our Infection Prevention and Control Team manage
all outbreaks and took the following action in
respect of the outbreaks listed above. All units were
closed to stop the spread of the outbreak. The team
promotes and oversees good practice which includes
ensuring these areas were cleaned using the most
effective chlorine releasing disinfectant diluted to
the correct strength and hand hygiene audits were
carried out to assess hand hygiene compliance and
identify areas for improvement.
Detailed investigations and tests were undertaken
for each outbreak but no confirmed organism
could be attributed to the cause of three of the
four outbreaks. The outbreak on Cedar Ward was
confirmed to be due to the norovirus, sometimes
known as the winter vomiting bug, the most
common stomach bug in the UK, affecting people
of all ages. Between 600,000 and 1 million people
in the UK catch norovirus every year.
9.5.4

Effective Care - Closer working with
Primary Care in Wolverhampton
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Primary care here refers to services provided by GP
practices. People with severe and enduring mental
health problems have a shorter life expectancy
than the rest of the population with a higher
incidence of cardiovascular (heart disease and
stroke) and respiratory (lung) disease. Physical
health is poorer for this group of patients with
a higher incidence of hypertension (high blood
pressure), obesity and smoking.
Every GP Practice or Health Centre therefore
maintains a Severe Mental Illness (SMI) Register,
which consists of all the people in the practice
who have a recorded diagnosis of schizophrenia,
bi-polar disorder or other long term psychotic
illness. Typically, between ½% - 1% of the average
general practice population will be included in a
severe mental health register.
The register enables GP Practices to offer pro-active
care to this vulnerable group of patients including
monitoring their medication and providing advice
to allow them to make healthy lifestyle choices.
The register and care plan also enable a practice
to intervene earlier if a patient shows signs of
deterioration.

2013

We said we would …
• Review the SMI register with all 52 GP Practices
in Wolverhampton to check if the they are upto-date and accurate
• Provide each GP Practice with a named
psychiatrist for every one of their patients on the
SMI register
• Arrange an annual meeting between the GP
Practice and each psychiatrist to discuss their
patients on the SMI register
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o Exchange information with GP Practices to
ensure that their records and our records are
both up-to-date and accurate
o Build and develop relationships between our
health professionals and local GP Practices
o Improve the service to mental health patients on
the SMI register of each GP Practice
How well did we do?
▲ We have been in contact with all 52 practices
in Wolverhampton to review their SMI register
with us so we could ensure their records and our
records were both up-to-date and accurate.
We have provided details of each named
psychiatrist for patients on their SMI register
and followed this up with an offer for GPs
to have an annual review with the named
psychiatrist for each of their patients on the
SMI Register.
9.5.5

Effective Care - Making Every Contact
Count
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Making Every Contact Count is using opportunities as
they arise, to talk to individuals and offer brief advice
about improving their health and well-being. If people
made the choice to improve their diet, take regular
exercise, drink alcohol within the recommended daily
limits, stop smoking and maintain a healthy weight,
the benefits to their health, both physical and mental,
would be enormous.
Research shows that brief advice can be effective,
for example:- 1 in 8 people respond to brief advice about
alcohol intake by reducing their drinking
behaviour by one level e.g. from increasing risk
to lower risk
- 1 in 20 people go on to quit smoking following
brief advice
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We agreed to take part in this project which
estimates that if every member of NHS staff across
the West Midlands, East Midlands and the East of
England delivered brief advice 10 times a year (a
total of 30 minutes of a staff member’s time each
year) it would result in 2.88 million opportunities to
change lifestyle behaviour every year. If 1 in 20 of
these made a positive lifestyle behaviour change,
144,000 people would have healthier lifestyles.
We said we would …
• Arrange training for staff to help them recognise
the best opportunities to deliver advice and
when this will be most effective. Each three hour
training session would include the importance
of understanding and respecting a patient or
a colleague’s feelings towards discussing their
lifestyle behaviours.
• We would initially focus on arranging training
for staff who work in our adult mental health
community teams that provide complex care and
wellbeing services in Wolverhampton.
• We set a target of training 30 x staff before the
end of March 2013.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o Play our part in this exciting new project to
improve the health of patients and staff
o The staff to be trained first would act as
‘champions’ to train other staff
o 10 x staff would refer at least 3 x patients to the
neighbouring Royal Wolverhampton Hospital
Trust’s Healthy Lifestyle Department before the
end of March 2013.
How well did we do?
▼
We made arrangements for the training to
be given by neighbouring Royal Wolverhampton
Hospital Trust’s Healthy Lifestyle Department. They in
turn decided to recruit to a new post that would coordinate this training. Unfortunately, due to delays
in recruitment to this post the training did not
become available until December 2012. Since then,
we have arranged for 35 staff from the Complex
Care Service and 25 staff from the Wellbeing Service
to be booked onto training sessions. However, due
to the delay in training staff, we were unable to
realise our ambition for 10 x staff to refer at least 3 x
patients to the neighbouring Royal Wolverhampton
Hospital Trust’s Healthy Lifestyle Department by 31st
March 2013.
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Trained Staff are starting to make referrals and we
remain optimistic of achieving this outcome in the
near future.
9.5.6

Effective Care - Staff Training
Personality Disorder
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Personality disorders are conditions in which an
individual differs significantly from an average
person, in the way they think, perceive, feel or
relate to others. This can lead to behaviour most
people would regard as unusual. Personality
disorders typically emerge in adolescence and
continue into adulthood. They may be mild,
moderate or severe, and people may have periods
where they feel better and function well.
The Department of Health and Ministry of Justice
agreed to develop a national framework to support
people to work more effectively with personality
disorder. As a result the ‘Knowledge and
Understanding Framework’ was established. The
key goal of the framework is to improve service
user experience by developing the capabilities,
skills and knowledge of the staff who work in
health services, social care and criminal justice.
The programme offers staff a greater
understanding of personality disorder and provides
them with practical advice on working with, or
caring for, people with this condition.
We said we would …
• Ensure that 50 x staff caring for patients with
complex care needs would receive Knowledge
Understanding Framework training in Personality
Disorder.
• 25 of 50 staff receiving this training would be a
care co-ordinator
(a care co-ordinator is typically a mental health
nurse or a social worker, who is responsible for
making sure patients are receiving the help and
support they need and their care is properly coordinated between the different professions and
services involved).
The outcome we wanted to achieve was:
o To improve the service we offer to our patients
who suffer from personality disorder by
developing the capabilities, skills and knowledge
of 50 x staff, which will include 25 x care coordinators.
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How well did we do?
▲ By the end of March 2013, we had achieved this
target and 50 staff had been trained of which
25 were care co-ordinators.
9.5.7

Patient Experience - Improving how the
needs of people with a history of sexual
abuse are met
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Sexual abuse in childhood is associated with higher
rates of mental health illness, poorer outcomes of
treatment, and revictimisation (the victimisation of
an adult who was victimised as a child). By seeking
to heighten awareness in clinical practice we aim
to help improve outcomes for people who have
been subject to sexual abuse.
In 2011/12, we established a system to do this
with our psychiatric liaison teams, whose role is
to offer non-urgent mental health care to people
with common mental health problems, such as
depression, anxiety and stress. When this was
completed, we agreed with our commissioners to
extend and embed this system as a priority across
all of our adult mental health services.
We said we would …
• Extend this system across all of our adult mental
health services so we ask people in a sensitive
manner whether they have been subject to
sexual abuse
• Offer specific help to people around the sexual
abuse they have experienced
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o To fully consider and arrange services for people
with a history of sexual abuse
o We ask at least 85% of the total number of
people referred to our adult mental health
services, whether they have been subject to
sexual abuse
o We offer specific help to at least 85% of people
who confirm that they had been subject to
sexual abuse
o People using our adult mental health services
who have been subject to sexual abuse are more
readily identified and referred to specialists for
treatment
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How well did we do?
▲ We have extended this system across all of our
adult mental health services and at the end
of March 2013 we had asked 374 out of 419
(89%) people whether they had been subject to
sexual abuse.
▼ For those people who indicated that they had
been subject to sexual abuse, we offered help to
64 out of 83 (77%) of them around the sexual
abuse they had experienced. This is below target
and more work will be undertaken to achieve
85% and then towards ensuring we offer help
to everyone.
9.5.8

Patient Experience - People referred to
mental health services who are Parents
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
Research has shown that some children of
parents with a severe and enduring mental
illness experience greater levels of emotional,
psychological and behavioural problems than
children and young people in the rest of the
population. Although many children experience
negative effects from their parents’ mental ill
health, many others do not. Certain factors
can protect children’s mental health when their
parents are unwell for a long time including being
supported by agencies who take a ‘whole family’
approach to supporting the child, their parent and
other family members. It is therefore important
that when clinical staff undertake a mental health
assessment of an adult referred to their services
they routinely ask and record parental status in
their health record.
We said we would …
• Develop systems to ensure that parental status
is recorded for adults during mental health
assessments
• Use the assessment to understand to what
extent they maybe finding it difficult to manage
their parenting role and how this is impacting on
their family
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The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o Parental status is routinely recorded in the
health record when an adult is referred to for a
mental health assessment
o When a parent is unwell for any length of
time, to adopt a ‘whole family’ approach to
supporting the child, their parent and other
family members
How well did we do?
▼ An audit of records undertaken in August
showed that out of 1,475 only 24 (1.6%) had
their parental status recorded. This prompted
immediate action to improve the recording rate
and a further check carried out in November
showed an encouraging 70% of assessments
had parental status recorded.
▲ A further check was undertaken in December
2012, which showed that parental status had
been recorded for 164 out of 166 assessments,
almost 99% of all assessments. In March
2013, another check was undertaken to see
if this improvement has been maintained
and parental status was found to have been
recorded for 163 out of 164 assessments, just
short of 100% of all assessments.
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9.5.9

Patient Experience - To develop a plan
of action to improve the community
services we provide for children and
their families in Dudley
Why we chose this as a priority for
improvement
On 1st August 2011, the Trust took over
responsibility for providing community healthcare
services for children, young people and their
families in Dudley. One of the first priorities was
to establish a process to receive feedback about
the quality of the experience of people who use
these services. The information received could then
be analysed and used to inform and shape the
planning of future service quality improvements.
Although the overall response was favourable, (see
table 19 above) we acknowledged in last year’s
quality report that this work needed to continue
into 2012/13 to ensure continuing feedback is the
key component in any improvements we make to
our services. We agreed to report on our progress
in this year’s quality report.

Table 19: Initial Feedback Received on Children’s Services
Overall, were you satisfied with the personal care and treatment you received from this service?
No. of
Responses

Yes

No

No Response

%

Occupational Therapy

29

29

0

0

100

Children’s Assessment Unit

5

5

0

0

100

Physiotherapy

15

15

0

0

100

Speech and Language Therapy

17

16

1

0

94

School Health Advisors

40

38

0

2

95

Totals

106

103

1

2

97

Services
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We said we would …
• Build on the results of the patients experience
survey that was conducted during 2011
• We would conduct further surveys in 2012/13
and set a target of obtaining feedback from at
least 200 people
• Develop an action plan to improve services
based on the feedback received
• Obtain answers to the following key questions :Survey Questions asked
1) Have you been involved as much as you
wanted to be in decisions about your care and
treatment?
2) Were you given enough time to discuss your
condition with healthcare professionals?
3) Did staff clearly explain the purpose of any
medication and side effects in a way that you
could understand?
4) Did you require support from the out of hours
nursing team and if so did the team meet your
expectations?
5) Overall, are you satisfied with the personal
care and treatment you have received from our
community services?
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o To improve the experience of children, young
people and their families in Dudley who use our
services
o To evidence that feedback received will help to
inform and shape our services in the future
How well did we do?
▲ A total of 328 questionnaires have been
received back. All of the information received
from the questionnaires will now be carefully
analysed. The results will enable clinicians and
managers to produce an action plan to show
that that service activities and improvements are
developed towards improving the experience of
the people who use our services.
9.6

Our Performance against National
Quality Indicators 2012/13
We are required to report our performance against
a core set of quality indicators every quarter to
Monitor, the independent regulator for NHS
foundation trusts in England throughout the year.
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These patient related performance measures and
outcomes below help us to monitor how well we
deliver our services.
The information reported below is independently
provided by the Health and Social Care Information
Centre (HSCIC). The latest data for each of the
indicators trusts are required to report on can be
found at the following link:https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/index.jsp?v=2&catalog=http%3A%2F%2F1
72.16.9.26%3A80%2Fobj%2FfCatalog%2FCatalog309&submode=catalog&mo de=documentation&top=yes
The HSCIC refresh the links to the most current
data annually each March. However, at the time
of publication of this report the HSCIC had not
provided the information for Quarter 4 January March 2013.
9.6.1

Patients on Care Programme Approach
who were followed up within 7 days of
discharge from psychiatric inpatient care
People cared for by specialist mental health
teams are likely to be monitored under the Care
Programme Approach (CPA). Patients on CPA
usually have multiple needs and require care
co-ordination which is usually managed by a
care plan. All patients on CPA discharged from
psychiatric inpatient care are to be followed up
either by face to face contact or by phone within
7 days of discharge to reduce risk of suicide and
social exclusion and improve care pathways. The
national threshold is to follow up 95% of patients
within 7 days.
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust considers that this data is as described in
Table 21 for the following reasons:o We serve ethnically diverse local populations
and in some instances patients opt to leave
the country following their discharge so follow
up is not possible. On other occasions, people
exercise their right to disengage with our
services following their discharge from hospital.
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Table 21: Percentage of patients on Care Programme Approach who were followed up within 7 days
of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care
Reporting Period

Minimum
National
Target

Qtr. 3 October - December 2012
Qtr. 2 July - September 2012

95.0%

Qtr. 1 April - June 2012

BCPFT
Score

National
Average

Highest
Trust Score

Lowest
Trust
Score

97.5%

97.6%

100%

92.5%

98.8%

97.2%

100%

90.0%

97.0%

97.5%

100%

94.9%

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this
percentage and so the quality of its services:o We will continue to monitor our performance each month and review those rare occasions where follow
up has not been possible to see if we could have done anything differently.
9.6.2

Admissions to inpatients services that were seen by a member of the crisis resolution team
prior to admission
Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (CRHT) teams offer intensive short-term support for people in mental
health crises in their own home: they stay involved until the problem is resolved. It is designed to provide
prompt and effective home treatment, including medication, in order to prevent hospital admissions and
give support to informal carers. All admissions to psychiatric inpatient wards are gate kept by a CRHT team
by assessing the person before admission and by being involved in all requests for admission. The national
threshold is to gate keep 95% of all admissions to psychiatric inpatient wards.
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described in Table 22
below for the following reasons:o This indicator is closely monitored on a weekly basis by the Mental Health Division.
Table 22: Percentage of Admissions to psychiatric inpatient wards for which the Crisis Resolution
Home Treatment Team acted as a Gatekeeper
Reporting Period

Minimum
National
Target

Qtr. 3 October - December 2012
Qtr. 2 July - September 2012
Qtr. 1 April - June 2012

95.0%

BCPFT
Score

National
Average

Highest
Trust Score

Lowest
Trust
Score

99.1%

98.4%

100%

90.7%

100%

98.1%

100%

84.4%

99.1%

98.0%

100%

83.0%

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this
percentage and so the quality of its services:o We will continue to monitor this indicator on a weekly basis as we aim to achieve 100% each quarter.
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9.6.3 Patients aged 15 years or over re-admitted to hospital within 28 days of being discharged
Previous analyses have shown wide variation between similar NHS organisations in emergency re-admission
rates. Not all emergency re-admissions are likely to be part of the originally planned treatment and some
may be potentially avoidable. The Trust may be helped to prevent potentially avoidable re-admissions by
seeing comparative figures and learning lessons from organisations with low re-admission rates.
For this quality indicator, the information made available by the Health and Social Care Information Centre
did not include the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. The information below has therefore
been provided by the Trust’s own Information and Performance Departments.
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described in Tables 23-26
below for the following reasons:o We are unable to compare our performance to other trusts for the reasons described above but this will be
rectified in next year’s quality report
Table 23: Hallam Street Hospital Adult patients
Qtr.1
April - June
2012

Qtr.2
July - Sept
2012

Qtr.3
Oct - Nov
2012

Qtr.4
Jan - Mar
2013

Discharged Patients aged 16-64 excluding
patients whose primary diagnosis is drug,
alcohol or eating disorders

98

111

106

115

No. of Emergency Psychiatric re-admissions

10

9

6

7

Reporting Period

Emergency Psychiatric re-admission Rate

10.2%

8.1%

5.7%

6.1%

Qtr.1
April - June
2012

Qtr.2
July - Sept
2012

Qtr.3
Oct - Nov
2012

Qtr.4
Jan - Mar
2013

Discharged Patients aged 16-64 excluding
patients whose primary diagnosis is drug,
alcohol or eating disorders

28

22

26

25

No. of Emergency Psychiatric re-admissions

0

1

0

0

0%

0%

Table 24: Edward Street Hospital Older Adult Patients

Reporting Period

Emergency Psychiatric re-admission Rate

0%

4.5%
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Table 25: Penn Hospital Adult patients

Reporting Period
Admitted Patients aged 16-64 excluding
patients whose primary diagnosis is drug,
alcohol or eating disorders
No. of Emergency Psychiatric re-admissions
Emergency Psychiatric re-admission Rate

Qtr.1
April - June
2012

Qtr.2
July - Sept
2012

Qtr.3
Oct - Nov
2012

Qtr.4
Jan - Mar
2013

114

108

107

80

13

13

9

6

11.4%

12%

8.4%

7.5%

Qtr.1
April - June
2012

Qtr.2
July - Sept
2012

Qtr.3
Oct - Nov
2012

Qtr.4
Jan - Mar
2013

15

18

16

12

1

2

2

0

Table 26: Penn Hospital Older Adult patients

Reporting Period
Admitted Patients aged 16-64 excluding
patients whose primary diagnosis is drug,
alcohol or eating disorders
No. of Emergency Psychiatric re-admissions
Emergency Psychiatric re-admission Rate

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
intends to take the following actions to improve this
percentage and so the quality of its services:o We will utilise the data from the Health and
Social Care Information Centre as soon as it
becomes available to assess our performance in
relation to other trusts.
o We will standardise our reporting systems across
our different hospital locations
o We will continue to work to reduce and
minimize the number of readmissions to our
hospitals over the next twelve months
9.6.4

Staff who would recommend the trust
to their family or friends
Every year the NHS undertakes a national staff
survey. One of the questions asked of staff in the
survey is, “If a friend or relative needed treatment,
I would be happy with the standard of care
provided by this Trust?”
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6.7%

11.1%

12.5%

0%

The information reported below is taken from the
annual staff survey for 2011. The information for
the survey for 2012 is not available from HSCIC at
the time of publication of this report. The relevant
extract from 2012 survey has therefore been
included as well below.
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust considers that this data is as described in
Tables 27 and 28 below for the following reasons:o This has been the first full year of operation as
the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust bringing together a range of services from
across the Black Country. As an organisation, we
focused our initial efforts on the safe transfer
of these services but we have more work to do
to fully embed staff and services into the new
organisation
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Table 27: Percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust during the reporting
period who would recommend the trust as a provider of care to their family and friends for 2011
Category

No. of
people who
responded

Disagree

Agree

Neither

BCPFT

13%

57%

31%

397

National average for MH & LD Trusts

13%

58%

30%

428

3%

83%

14%

235

23%

44%

33%

474

Highest Trust Score nationally

Lowest Trust Score nationally
Table 28: Extract from 2012 Staff Survey

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve this percentage and so the quality of its
services:-

Did this person listen carefully to you?
Did this person take your views into account?
Did you have trust and confidence in this person?
Did this person treat you with respect and dignity?”

o To implement action plans to support our staff
to improve the quality of the services we provide

Overall Trust scores are calculated as a simple
average of the four question scores. National
scores are calculated by a simple average of the
overall Trust scores.

9.6.5

Patient experience of community
mental health services
Scores are based on the community mental health
survey carried out in 2012, which is completed
by a sample of patients, aged 16 and over who
received care or treatment for a mental health
condition, including services provided under the
Care Programme Approach. The indicator is a
composite, calculated as the average of 4 survey
questions from the community mental health
survey.
“Thinking about the last time you saw this NHS
health worker or social care worker for your mental
health condition…

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust considers that this data is as described in
Table 29 below for the following reasons:o Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust acquired additional community mental
health services when it was fully established in
August 2011 and although a lot of work has
taken place to streamline common practice and
procedures across different teams, there is still
more to do.
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Table 29: Patient’s experience of contact with a
health or social care worker
Category

Score out
of a maximum
of 10

BCPFT

8.5

National average for MH &
LD Trusts

8.4

Highest Trust Score
nationally

9.1

Lowest Trust Score
nationally

8.2

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve this percentage and so the quality of its
services:o To continue to implement action plans to
support our staff across the different community
mental health teams working across the Black
Country to improve the quality of the services
we provide
9.6.6

Patient safety incidents and the
percentage that resulted in severe harm
or death
This year is the first time that this indicator has
been required to be included within the Quality
Report alongside comparative data provided,
where possible, from the Health and Social Care
Information Centre. Patient Safety incidents are
reported to the National Reporting and Learning
Service by healthcare staff across England and
Wales. The system enables patient safety incident
reports to be submitted to a national database on
a voluntary basis designed to promote learning.
It is mandatory for NHS trusts in England to
report all serious patient safety incidents to the
Care Quality Commission as part of the Care
Quality Commission registration process. To avoid
duplication of reporting, all incidents resulting in
death or severe harm should be reported to the
NRLS who then report them to the Care Quality
Commission. Although it is not mandatory, it is
common practice for NHS Trusts to report patient
safety incidents under the NRLS’s voluntary
arrangements.
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As there is not a nationally established and
regulated approach to reporting and categorising
patient safety incidents, different trusts may
choose to apply different approaches and guidance
to reporting, categorisation and validation of
patient safety incidents. The approach taken to
determine the classification of each incident, such
as those ‘resulting in severe harm or death’, will
often rely on clinical judgement. This judgement
may, acceptably, differ between professionals. In
addition, the classification of the impact of an
incident may be subject to a potentially lengthy
investigation which may result in the classification
being changed. This change may not be reported
externally and the data held by a trust may not be
the same as that held by the NRLS. Therefore, it
may be difficult to explain the differences between
the data reported by the Trusts as this may not be
comparable.
This indicator covers patient safety incident reports
for incidents that occurred between 1st April 2012
and 30th September 2012 and were reported to
the National Reporting and Learning System by
20th March 2013. Data for the period 1st October
2012 – 31st March 2013 was not available from
the HSCIC website at the time of publication of
this report.
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust considers that this data is as described in
Tables 30-31 overleaf for the following reasons:o We have undertaken a great deal of work
to train and encourage our staff to report
all incidents that occur using a standardised
electronic incident reporting system
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Table 30: Reporting Rate
Reporting period
1st April 2012 - 30th September 2012

Total No. of
Reported Incidents

Reporting Rate
per 1000 bed days

BCPFT

1,743

44.33

National Average

1,431

25.56

Trust with highest reporting rate nationally

2,076

70.29

22

0

Trust with lowest reporting rate nationally
Table 31: Incidents resulting in severe harm or death
Reporting period
1st April 2012 – 30th September 2012

No. of incidents
resulting in severe
harm or death

BCPFT
National Average
Trust with highest no. of incidents nationally
Trust with lowest no. of incidents nationally

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve this percentage and so the quality of its
services:o Working with an outside consultant we are
continuing to improve the electronic incident
reporting system to make it easier for staff to
learn and use so that they are able to report all
incidents that occur across the Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
9.7

Putting quality at the heart of
everything we do
Below we set out more information that we
use to measure our progress in trying to embed
and improve quality across our Trust. This is a
continuation of the process to integrate the
quality report with our wider quality improvement
agendas and for quality to be at the heart of
everything we do by:-

% of incidents
resulting in severe
harm or death

9

0.5%

31

1.6%

334

20.2%

0

0%

➢ Engaging with service users, the wider public
and staff
➢ A listening organisation
➢ Open and transparent
➢ Continually learning
➢ Valuing our workforce
➢ Valuing the role of Carers
9.7.1

Engaging with service users, the wider
public and staff
“People are experts in their own right and can
offer valuable insights into how a service will affect
them for better or worse …”
Membership Scheme
As a NHS foundation trust we operate a
membership scheme to be even more responsive
to the local communities that we serve through
our membership base and Assembly of Governors.
Membership is free and voluntary and members
are drawn from the general public, our service
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users, their carers or advocates, and our staff.
We aim for our members to be representative of
our local communities and play a major part in
shaping the services we provide so that they suit
local needs. At the 31st March 2013 we had 5,273
public members.
Assembly of Governors
Governors are elected by members of the trust or
appointed to represent stakeholder organisations.
At the heart of being a foundation Trust is local
accountability. Governors play a pivotal role in
ensuring the Board of Directors are held collectively
to account for the performance of the Trust. They
are the individuals that bind the trust to its service
users, staff, and stakeholders. Our Assembly of
Governors is made up of:•
•
•

22 members of the public
8 members of staff
9 members appointed by recognised
stakeholder organisations

The Director for Children’s Services, the executive
lead with responsibility for quality attends meetings
of the Assembly of Governors to discuss and agree
what our quality improvement priorities should be.
In addition, a Quality Council is held twice a year.
The aim of the council is to promote and improve
the delivery of high quality care with the active
collaboration of people who use services, their
representatives, governors and Trust members. The
council is chaired by a non-executive director and
one of its roles is to receive information on and
offer feedback regarding proposals for the work
streams for this report.
For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/
join-us/being-a-member
Involving People who use our Services
‘Make a Difference Group’ is now well
established as a key forum for people who use
our services to become involved in the way we
shape our services. Meetings are held monthly
and they are consulted on a range of issues. The
contribution made by members of this group was
recognised at our staff awards ceremony. Further
groups are currently being established to focus
on the new areas and services managed by the
Trust. A group is now meeting regularly focusing
on older adult services at Edward Street Hospital
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and a further group focusing on services in
Wolverhampton is now firmly established.
In addition, the group makes a significant
contribution to our aim that obtaining the views
of services users will continue to be at the heart
of everything we do. We recognise that people
who have used our services are best placed to carry
out this role as they are independent and they
understand and empathise with the person they
are asking the views and opinions of. In particular,
their expertise will help to address any reluctance
on the part of someone to comment on the more
negative aspects of care they may have received.
They have received training in the development of
questionnaires and audit methodology to provide
them with the skills to support this valuable work.
During this year, the group has undertaken work in
auditing the experience of people using our adult
mental health services.
Changing Our Lives is a Black Country based selfadvocacy organisation that supports people with
learning disabilities of all ages to speak up for their
rights and take control of their lives. It is recognised
locally and nationally for its best practise.
As above, we recognise that people who have
used our services or similar services are best placed
to carry out this role as they are independent and
they understand and empathise with the person
they are asking the views and opinions of. We are
proud to work in partnership with Changing Our
Lives, to ensure that patient voices and experiences
are heard in our services.
The work they have carried out this year has included
quality of health audits of the following services:o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Penn Hospital
Hallam Street Hospital
Gerry Simon Clinic
Newton House
Penrose assessment and treatment
Pond Lane assessment and treatment
Ridge Hill assessment and treatment
Daisy Bank assessment and treatment
Suttons Drive step down unit
Learning Disability Speech and Language
Services across the Black Country
o Learning Disability Psychology Services across the
Black Country
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All of the audits are led by people with learning
disabilities and by people who have experience
of using mainstream mental health services. The
services are all audited against the Quality of
Health Principles that have been written by people
with disabilities. These principles will be written
into all NHS contracts in Spring 2013. Following
each audit an action plan for improvement is
developed. They feed back their findings to
divisional care governance groups as well as the
quality council to ensure the improvements are
implemented.
For more information: http://www.
changingourlives.org/index.php/what-we-do/ourworkstreams/making-our-voices-heard
Patient Councils
Gerry Simon Clinic within Heath Lane Hospital is
a low secure forensic unit which admits people
with learning disabilities and complex mental
health needs. Forensic mental health services are
specialist services for people with mental health
problems who have been arrested, who are on
remand or who have been to court and found
guilty of a crime. ‘Forensic’ means ‘pertaining to
the law’. These services are an alternative to prison
for people who have mental health problems and
offer specialist treatment and care. They are secure
units so people who are referred there are not
free to come and go. The time spent in a forensic
unit depends on an individual’s recovery and
progress towards rehabilitation. With support from
Changing Our Lives, we have established a Patient
Council for patients on Gerry Simon to provide
them with a forum to feed back to staff their
experiences of the unit and how the service they
provide can be improved.
In September 2012, the Gerry Simon patient
council held their own version of a “Dragons
Den” where they presented a business case for
improvements to the Heath Lane site, to the
Chairman, Chief Executive and two other directors.
This was a deemed a great success by all who
took part and the patient council supported by
Changing Our Lives are currently working with the
Trust on ways in which they can improve the Heath
Lane site.
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Changing our Lives also supported a patient
council for the patients at Newton House, a
specialist step-down and rehabilitation service for
men with learning disabilities and complex health
needs, many of whom have been discharged from
a secure environment, who are moving towards
living a supported life back in the community. The
council provides them with a forum to feed back
to staff their experiences of the unit and how the
service they provide can be improved.
Patient Stories
The Board of Directors have arranged a forum for
service users to tell their personal story to them
to reinforce their understanding of the challenges
and difficulties experienced first hand by people
who use their services. A process is now in place
whereby any service user or carer using our services
will be able to put themselves forward to tell their
story to the Board of Directors.
Staff Stories
Following the success of listening to patient stories,
the Board of Directors decided to arrange a forum
for members of staff to tell their personal story
to them to reinforce their understanding of the
challenges and difficulties experienced by staff who
provide our front-line services. This was successfully
launched in February 2013 and a process is now
in place whereby any member of staff will be able
to put themselves forward to tell their story to the
Board of Directors.
Making use of Interpreters
The 2011 Census shows black and minority ethnic
communities make up 25% of the population
across the 4 boroughs of the Black Country and
35% across Sandwell and Wolverhampton.
We recognise that to engage fully with the local
populations we serve we need to communicate
effectively. The Trust currently invests around
£100,000 a year on interpreters and on average
we use the interpreting service 150 times a
month. The most frequent language we require an
interpreter for is Punjabi closely followed by Polish,
Farsi, Mirpuri, Kurdish and Bengali.
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Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny
Committees (OSCs) / Local Involvement
Networks (LINks)
Every local authority with social services
responsibilities has the power to scrutinise local
health services and have established Overview
and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs). They bring
democratic accountability into healthcare decisions
and make the NHS more publicly accountable and
responsive to local communities. Local Involvement
Networks (LINks) are made up of individuals and
community groups, such as charities, faith groups,
residents’ associations and youth councils, working
together to improve health and social care services.
LINks will be replaced by Healthwatch the new,
independent consumer champion for health
and social care in England. Local Healthwatch
organisations begin work in April 2013.
Commissioners
Commissioning involves planning and buying
services by assessing the needs of the population,
deciding what to prioritise, purchasing care and
then monitoring the organisations providing
services. The role of commissioners is to represent
and to be the advocate for local patients and
communities, securing a range of appropriate
high-quality healthcare services for people in need.
Commissioners have a duty to involve patients,
carers and the public in decisions about the
services they commission.
Every month senior clinical and governance
managers meet with commissioners from
Sandwell, Dudley and Wolverhampton Clinical
Commissioning Groups at a Clinical Quality Review
meeting to specifically discuss and review the
quality of our services.
This provides an ideal forum for commissioners to
have input into our quality agenda and to monitor
our progress throughout the year.
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9.7.2 A listening organisation
“Seek first to understand, and then to be
understood …”
Survey of people’s experiences of our
community mental health services
The Care Quality Commission use national surveys
to find out about the experiences of people who
receive care and treatment. The 2012 survey of
people who use community mental health services
involved 61NHS trusts in England. They received
responses from more than 15,000 service users, a
response rate of 32%.
Questionnaires were sent to 850 people receiving
community mental health services from Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
Responses were received from 260 service users
(31%). Based on their responses, the Care Quality
Commission gave each NHS trust a score out of 10
(the higher the score the better).
Better: the Trust is better for that particular
question compared to most other trusts that took
part in the survey.
About the same: the Trust is performing about
the same for that question as most other trusts
that took part in the survey.
Worse: the trust did not perform as well for that
question compared to most other trusts that took
part in the survey.
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Table 32: Survey of community service users’ experience

Questions asked about

Score

How this score compares with other trusts

Health and social care workers

8.5/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Medications

7.0/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Talking Therapies

7.0/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Care Co-ordinator

8.2/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Care Plan

6.9/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Care Review

7.7/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Crisis Care

5.8/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Day to Day Living

5.9/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

Overall, how would you rate the care
you have received in the last 12 months?

6.7/10

WORSE

ABOUT THE SAME

BETTER

For more information:- http://www.cqc.org.uk/survey/mentalhealth/TAJ
Survey of people’s experiences of our inpatient mental health services in 2012
An independent Mental Health Inpatient Service User Survey took place during 2012. The response rate for
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was 25% (66 usable responses from a final sample of 267)
which was disappointing. 55% were White British; 17% were from Asian backgrounds (Indian, Pakistani,
Bangladeshi or other) and 18% were from Black backgrounds (Caribbean or African).
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Table 33: Extracts of Results of 2012 Survey
Threshold
Threshold
for lowest
for highest
scoring 20% scoring 20%
of all Trusts of all Trusts

Sample of the Questions asked

2011
this
Trust

2012
this
Trust

Q1 Made to feel welcome on arrival by staff

76%

66%

67%

77%

Q6 Always felt safe in hospital

39%

37%

35%

49%

Q16 Always given enough time to discuss condition
and treatment with psychiatrist

47%

60%

40%

51%

Q20 Always given enough time to discuss condition
and treatment with nurses

45%

46%

33%

45%

Q26 Always given enough privacy when discussing
condition or treatment

59%

63%

51%

65%

Q31 Enough activities available all of the time on
weekdays

37%

26%

21%

29%

Q32 Enough activities available all of the time in
evenings and on weekends

18%

18%

10%

18%

Q34 Definitely felt enough care taken of physical health

39%

48%

41%

52%

Q39 Given enough notice of discharge from hospital

66%

74%

65%

70%

Q44 Given information about getting help in crisis

59%

64%

64%

75%

Q45 Have been contacted by MH team since discharge

82%

89%

79&

89%

Q47 Overall care during stay excellent / very good

43%

42%

42%

57%

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
The Patient Advice and Liaison Service, is a
confidential service known as PALS, to ensure that
we listen to service users, their relatives, carers and
friends, and answer their questions and resolve
their concerns as quickly as possible (see table 34).

Complaints
For anyone not happy with the care or treatment
they have received they have the right to complain,
have their complaint investigated, and be given a
full and prompt reply (see table 35) The Board of
Directors receives regular reports on complaints
throughout the year.

Table 34: Concerns raised during 2012/13
Division
Mental Health

2012/13

135

144

Learning Disabilities

16

26

Children, Young People and Families

10

7

2

10

Other

46

4

Totals

182

191

Corporate
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Table 35: Complaints Made During 2012/13
Division

2011/12

2012/13

Sandwell Mental Health

56

53

Wolverhampton Mental Health

71

71

127

124

Dudley Learning Disabilities

2

1

Sandwell Learning Disabilities

6

7

Walsall Learning Disabilities

2

2

Wolverhampton Learning Disabilities

3

1

Learning Disabilities sub-total

13

11

Dudley Children, Young people and Families

14

12

Sandwell CAMHS

4

5

Wolverhampton CAMHS

1

0

19

17

Sandwell Corporate

4

1

Wolverhampton Corporate

3

2

Corporate sub-total

7

3

166

155

Mental Health sub-total

Children, Young People and Families sub-total

Totals

None of the above complaints are under investigation by the Health Service Ombudsman.
Staff Survey
The survey asks for staff views about their job
and about working for this Trust. The aim of the
survey is to gather information that will help us to
improve the working lives of staff, and so provide
better care for service users. The questionnaire
asked questions about a member of staff’s job,
their work with colleagues, the leadership and
supervision they received and their views on the
Trust. The survey is an important way of ensuring
that the views of staff working in the NHS inform
local improvements, support national assessments
of quality and safety and delivery of the NHS
Constitution.
Questionnaires for 2012 were returned to an
external survey contractor who administered the
survey so no one from this Trust was able to see
individual responses. The response rate was 47%
(913 staff), slightly below the national response
rate of 50%.

The Trust scored below average on 17 out of the
28 Key Findings. For these results, generally the
Trust scores are 1-2% below the national average
but on the majority of the scores the Trust has
generally improved on last year.
One of the overall indicators analysed as part of
the staff survey is that of staff engagement. Table
36 overleaf shows how the Trust compares with
other mental health/learning disability trusts. This
indicator is made up of key findings measuring
staff’s ability to contribute towards improvements
at work, staff’s recommendation of the Trust
as a place to work or receive treatment, and
staff’s motivation at work. The overall score for
staff engagement remained at over 70% and is
comparable with 2011.
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Table 36: Staff Engagement

In summary, the 2012 staff survey showed that the
Trust’s top five rankings were:-

For more information: http://nhsstaffsurveys.com/
cms/index.php?page=mental-health-trusts

•

9.7.3 Open and Transparent
“Working in a way which naturally enables people
to see what we are doing ...”

•
•
•
•

Percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses
or incidents witnessed in the last month.
Percentage of staff receiving job-relevant
training, learning or development in the last 12
months.
Percentage of staff working extra hours (below
the national average).
Percentage of staff agreeing that their role
makes a difference to patients.
Percentage of staff witnessing potentially
harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the
last month.

Bottom five ranking scores were:•
•
•
•
•

Effective team working.
Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting
procedures (no change on 2011)
Support from immediate managers (no change
on 2011)
Percentage of staff saying hand washing
materials are always available
Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months
(improvement on 2011).

Last year the Trust focused on a small number of
areas which appeared to work well. This approach
will continue into 2013/14, with the focus on
management development on HR policies for
middle managers, on-going improvements in
the appraisal process, reporting concerns and
improving the processes to deal with harassment
and bullying, as well as staff engagement
initiatives.
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Safety
As a large and complex provider of healthcare
services, we acknowledge that things will
sometimes go wrong. Our approach is that
incidents are not, in themselves, evidence of
neglect, carelessness or dereliction of duty and the
best way to reduce them is to be able to learn from
all incidents to prevent them happening again. We
are committed to ensuring a ‘fair blame’, open and
honest culture to encourage all our staff to report
incidents that allows managers to review and
implement changes as a result.
Improving patient safety involves assessing how
patients could be harmed, preventing or managing
risks, reporting and analysing incidents, learning
from such incidents and implementing solutions to
minimise the likelihood of them reoccurring.
Never events
Never Events are serious, largely preventable
patient safety incidents that should not occur if
the available preventative measures have been
implemented. To be a “never event”, an incident
must fulfil certain criteria including the following:- the incident has clear potential for or has
caused severe harm/death
- there is existing national guidance and/or
national safety recommendations on how the
event
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-

can be prevented and support for
implementation
the event is largely preventable if the guidance
is implemented

There have not been any ‘never events’ recorded
by the Trust in the last four years.
Serious Untoward Incidents
When something out of the ordinary or
unexpected occurs on NHS premises resulting
in serious harm, it is categorised as a ‘serious
untoward incident’. The types of incidents this
could include would be sudden death, suicide,
serious harm to self or others, or an allegation of
abuse. Incidents do not have to be about clinical
issues as they can relate to property or machinery.
Every incident is required to be reported on the
Trust’s incident reporting system within 24 hours
and an appointed officer is required to review the
incident in more detail within 72 hours. Depending
on the nature of the incident an internal or
external enquiry may be required, to determine
why it happened, what lessons we can learn and
what changes we need to make to minimise the
risk of similar incidents occurring in the future.
Serious untoward incidents are monitored by and
discussed with our commissioners at monthly
Clinical Quality Review meetings. Reporting
processes also require serious incidents to be
reported on the Strategic Executive Information
System (STEIS) so that learning is shared across
the wider health community. The Trust reported
61 serious untoward incidents on STEIS to NHS
Midlands and East for the year 2012/13.
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Incidents
The first responsibility for all staff, at every level,
in any incident, is to respond to the immediate
needs of the patient and/others and thereafter, to
ensure the incident is reported as soon as possible
on the Trust’s electronic incident reporting system.
The information recorded is used to monitor the
frequency and seriousness of all incidents occurring
across the Trust. The figures below provide a
breakdown of the main types of incidents recorded
by our different services.
Figure 1: Top Reported Incidents in our Mental
Health Services

Figure 2: Top Reported Incidents in our
Children’s Services

For more information: http://nww.steis.doh.nhs.uk/
steis
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Figure 3: Top Reported Incidents in our Learning Disabilities’ Services

Table 37: Performance Indicators
Key Performance Indicators

2011/12

2012/13

% of patients on Care Programme Approach who were followed up
within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care

95.6%

97.2%

% of Admissions to psychiatric inpatient wards for which the Crisis
Resolution Home Treatment Team acted as a Gatekeeper

100.0%

99.8%

Total No. of Patient Safety Incidents reported to the National Reporting
and Learning Service

3,861

2,652

% of reported Patient Safety Incidents that resulted in Severe Harm or
Death

0.78%

0.68%

Performance
We are required to report our performance against a core set of quality indicators every quarter to Monitor,
the independent regulator for NHS foundation trusts in England throughout the year. These patient related
performance measures and outcomes below help us to monitor how well we deliver our services. – see also 9.6
Claims
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) is responsible
for handling negligence claims made against NHS
bodies in England. Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (BCPFT) is a member of the NHS
Litigation Authority Clinical Negligence Scheme for
Trusts (CNST) and Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme
(LTPS) schemes. The membership number is T180.
The CNST scheme does not have an excess for each
claim and unlimited indemnity for each and every
claim brought under this scheme. There are two
CNST claims presently outstanding against BCPFT.
The two claims have a combined gross estimate
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of £80,000. As there is no excess on this scheme,
BCPFT do not have any financial exposure.
The LTPS scheme covers employer’s liability claims,
public and product liability claims. Employer’s
Liability claims have an unlimited indemnity from
the NHSLA and an excess of £10,000. Public and
Product liability claims also have an unlimited
indemnity from the NHSLA and an excess of £3,000.
LTPS claims against BCPFT currently have a
combined gross estimate of £737,745 (inclusive of
damages, claimant’s legal costs and defence costs).
The estimate is based upon the nature and extent
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of the injury the claimant sustained in the material
incident, the prognosis for recovery, likely special
damages and costs with reference to case law and
Judicial Studies Board’s Guidelines for Assessment of
General Damages. BCPFT currently have a combined
liability of £183,816, which is the maximum amount
the Trust would be exposed to financially for all of
these claims.
Upon receipt, each claim, whether under the
CNST or LTPS schemes, is reported to the NHS
Litigation Authority in accordance with their rules of
membership. At the end of March 2013, there were
24 claims outstanding against the Trust that were
being handled by the NHSLA, two of which were
public liability claims, two clinical negligence claims
and the remainder employer’s liability claims.
Risk Management Standards for NHS Trusts Level 1 Accreditation
The NHS Litigation Authority works with NHS trusts
to reduce the number of negligent or preventable
incidents through an extensive risk management
programme. Healthcare organisations are regularly
assessed against risk management standards
which have been specifically developed to reflect
issues identified from past negligence claims. Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was
assessed in January 2013
In order to gain compliance at Level 1 the
organisation was required to pass at least 40 of
these criteria, with a minimum of seven criteria
being passed in each individual standard. The
organisation scored as follows:Governance

10/10

Compliant

Learning from Experience

10/10

Compliant

Competent and
Capable Workforce

10/10

Compliant

Safe Environment

10/10

Compliant

Mental Health Services

10/10

Compliant

Overall Compliance

50/50

Compliant
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Electroconvulsive Therapy - Royal College
Accreditation
The Royal College of Psychiatrists’ Accreditation
Service works with mental health services to assure
and improve the quality of the administration of
electroconvulsive therapy (ECT). They engage staff
in a comprehensive process of review, through
which good practice and high quality care are
recognised and services are supported to identify
and address areas for improvement.
The Accreditation Committee includes nominated
representatives from the Royal College of
Psychiatrists, Royal College of Nursing and the
Royal College of Anaesthetists. Accreditation
assures staff, service users and referrers,
commissioners and regulators of the quality of the
service being provided. Our ECT services based at
Edward Street Hospital attained the highest level
of accreditation, ‘accredited as excellent’ which is
valid until October 2013.
For more information: http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/
quality/qualityandaccreditation/ectclinics/ectas.aspx
Patient Environment Action Teams (PEAT)
PEAT is an annual assessment of inpatient
healthcare sites in England that have more than 10
beds. It is a national benchmarking tool to ensure
improvements are made in the non-clinical aspects
of patient care including patients’ environment,
food, privacy and dignity. The assessment
results (table 38 below) help to highlight areas
for improvement and share best practice across
healthcare organisations in England.

For more information: http://www.nhsla.com/
Safety/Assessments/Pages/Home.aspx
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Table 38: PEAT Inspections Results
Year

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

2009/10

Hospital

Environment

Food

Privacy & Dignity

Edward Street

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Hallam Street

Good

Good

Good

Heath Lane

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Penn Hospital

Excellent

Excellent

Excellent

Edward Street

Good

Good

Good

Hallam Street

Good

Good

Excellent

Heath Lane

Good

Good

Excellent

Penn Hospital

Good

Good

Excellent

Edward Street

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Hallam Street

Good

Good

Good

Heath Lane

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Penn Hospital

Excellent

Good

Excellent

Edward Street

Good

Excellent

Good

Hallam Street

Acceptable

Acceptable

Good

Heath Lane

Good

Excellent

Good

For more information: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06906

Privacy and Dignity - same sex
accommodation breaches
Same-sex accommodation means patients share
sleeping accommodation, bathroom and toilet
facilities only with people of the same-sex. It
applies to all areas of hospitals and mental health
units.
The Government is seeking to eliminate mixedsex accommodation except where it is in the
overall best interests of the patient, or reflects
their personal choice. We declared that we are
compliant with this requirement, having the
necessary facilities, resources and culture to ensure
that patients who are admitted to our hospitals
will only share the room where they sleep with
members of the same sex, and same-sex toilets and
bathrooms will be close to their bed area. There
have been no breaches during the year 2012/13.
For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/
help-a-advice/privacy-and-dignity
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Care Quality Commission (CQC) Essential
Standards for Quality and Safety
The essential standards of quality and safety consist
of 28 regulations and associated outcomes. The
CQC focus on the 16 regulations (out of the 28)
that most directly relate to the quality and safety of
care. Standards are focused on what is needed to
make sure people who use services have a positive
experience, a direct result of what people said
they wanted. The Care Quality Commission has
undertaken 3 inspections and their Mental Health
Act Commissioners 1 visits to our inpatients areas
during 2012/13. As reported earlier (see 9.3.5) in
the report the trust has drawn up action plans for
those areas that required improvement and work
on their completion has been completed.
For more information: http://www.cqc.org.uk/
directory/TAJ
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Care Quality Commission Quality and
Risk Profile
The Care Quality Commission maintain a quality and
risk profile for each provider of NHS services as a way
of monitoring compliance with the essential standards
of quality and safety ( see 9.7.3.8 above).They do this
by drawing in data from a number of sources e.g.
National Patient Safety Agency and the NHS Litigation
Authority, which they analyse to identify areas of
potential non- compliance and produce a set of ‘risk
estimates’ of non- compliance, one for each of the 16
essential standards.
For more information: http://www.cqc.org.uk/
organisations-we-regulate/registered-services/
quality-and-risk-profiles-qrps
Freedom of Information Requests
Everyone has the right to request information held
by public sector organisations. Under Section 19
of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, we have
a legal duty to adopt and maintain a Freedom
of Information Publication Scheme. The Act
does not affect someone’s legal right to patient
confidentiality and protecting a patient’s legal right
to confidentiality continues to be a responsibility
we take very seriously.
▼ The majority of requests we receive relate
to clinical, financial, governance and estate
issues. Under the Act we are required to as
far as possible reply to requests within 20
working days. The table below shows that our
performance this year has not been as good as
it was in 2011/12
Table 39: Freedom of Information Requests
2011/12

2012/13

Total of 150 requests
received

Total of 111 requests
received

144 were processed
within 20 working
days (96%)

82 were processed
within 20 working
days (74%)

6 were not processed
within 20 working
days (4%)

29 were not processed
within 20 working
days (26%)
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Equality and Diversity
We are committed to promoting equality and
diversity, both in the services we provide and as an
employer.
What do we mean by diversity?
The Black Country is home to just under 1.1
million people, accounting for one fifth of the
population of the West Midlands. It is an area
made up of many different people from many
different cultures, communities, and backgrounds.
Being responsive to the diverse range of people in
the Black Country is a responsibility we take very
seriously. We want to provide person-centred,
accessible, and effective services for all people. We
wouldn’t be able to do this without being sensitive
to the different needs that different people have.
What do we mean by equality?
For us, equality means fair treatment and equal
opportunities. We work hard to make our services
accessible to the people who need our support,
regardless of their personal circumstances. We also
make sure that no-one using our services receives a
lower standard of care and support than someone
else simply because of who they are. Making sure
that all our staff members are treated fairly is just
as important to us.
We have around 2100 staff working for us across
the Trust. About 27% of our workforce is from a
Black or Minority Ethnic (BME) background. This
reflects the overall population of the Black Country
which stands at around 26% BME. Sandwell and
Wolverhampton have the highest concentration
of people from a BME background. The general
population of the Black Country is over 1.1 million.
We have a fairly even spread of ethnicity over
different bandings within the Trust though a high
proportion (over 60%) of our medics come from
an Asian background. 85% of our workforce are
British.

For more information: http://www.ico.org.uk/for_
the_public/official_information
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Table 40: Staff Ethnicity
Ethnic Group

Total

BME

Asian

251

251

Black

252

252

4

4

Mixed

43

43

Other

32

32

White

1475

-

67

-

2124

582

Chinese

Not stated
Total

We have many more females working at the Trust
than males with nearly 80% of our workforce being
female. Within those figures we have a higher
proportion of males working as apprentices and a
higher proportion of males employed as medics,
Band 9s and as Non-Executive Directors.
Just under half of our workforce still choose not
to disclose whether or not they have a disability.
The number of those who do identify as having a
disability stands at fewer than 3% of staff.
The largest age group represented in the Trust’s
workforce is 41-50, with the majority of Trust staff
(over 80%) being between the ages of 31 and 60.
For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/
about-us/equality-and-diversity
9.7.4 Continually Learning
“A learning organisation is one that facilitates
the learning of its members and continuously
transforms itself …”
Report and Learn Bulletins
We recognise the benefits that can be gained from
sharing and cascading learning from incidents
and complaints and we know that if this is done
effectively it can help to minimise future risk and
strengthen the quality of the services we provide.
The main aim of evaluating our services and
learning lessons is to improve outcomes for service
users. Our regular bulletins are intended to support
this aim by communicating and strengthening local
and national lessons to be learnt from both positive
practice and areas for improvement.
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Clinical Audit
We use clinical audit as an effective way to
continually learn about the services we provide. It
is a quality improvement process to check how a
service is working and whether it is meeting the
standards that people who use it should receive. It
is a valuable component of each care professional’s
knowledge and skills set, to evidence how quality
improvement is an integrated part of their practice.
The main focus of the trust is to participate in large
scale, national clinical audits (see 9.3.3 above) which
allows good practices to be identified and shared
with others but below is an example of how we also
undertake local audits to inform and improve local
clinical practice.
Example of a Local Clinical Audit - Using Medication
to Manage Behaviour Problems among Adults with
Learning Disabilities
Where this took place
Walsall Inpatient learning disabilities services
provides services for people living in Walsall with
learning disabilities and additional needs who
require medical admission to a specialist assessment
and treatment unit. This could be because they are
at risk in their current situation or because they
require a period of treatment and rehabilitation.
During their stay, changes to medication can take
place in a safe and therapeutic environment. The
main aim of the service is to support the patients to
return to their life in the community.
Why this was undertaken
Learning disability refers to individuals who have
limited communication, a significantly reduced
ability to learn new skills and who require support
with daily living skills such as dressing and eating.
Some adults with severe learning disabilities may
display challenging behaviour which may put
themselves or others at risk, or which may prevent
a normal home life. This behaviour may include
aggression or disruptive and destructive behaviours.
These behaviours are not under the control of the
individual concerned and are largely due to their
lack of ability to communicate.
The University of Birmingham in conjunction with
other partners has produced a guide to provide
advice to people who are considering prescribing
medication to manage behaviour problems among
adults with a learning disability. The guide is based
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on the National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence’s guideline for Managing Violence and
Aggression.
The guide states that ‘the primary aim should
be not to treat the behaviour but to find out the
underlying cause of the behaviour and manage that.
However, it is not always possible to find a cause
for the behaviour problem. When this is the case,
the management strategy should be to minimise
the impact of the behaviour on the person, the
environment around them and other people. The
standards aim to ensure that clients’ rights are
upheld; clients are adequately assessed and correctly
followed up.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:- To measure our performance against the guide
provided by University of Birmingham, in
particular
- The rights of patients are being upheld and
that before medication is prescribed all relevant
investigations have been carried out
- Patients are adequately assessed, given
information they can understand and correctly
followed up
- To ensure documentation properly evidences
review meetings and discharge planning
- Evidence is provided that patients are
empowered to advocate for themselves or
referred to independent advocates who can
support them as necessary
How the audit was carried out
The audit team identified inpatients from the two
health care units, Suttons Drive and Orchard Hills
during the last 12 months who were prescribed
medication to manage behaviour problems. From
the identified list 8 sets of health records were
randomly selected from the two units and audited.
What did we find?
▲ All 8 x patients were assessed prior to
medication being prescribed and in all health
records this included behaviour issues and
medical issues
▼ 4 out of 8 service users received a physical
examination to exclude physical issues prior to
medication being prescribed and 3 out of 8
service users had routine investigations.
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▲ Evidence of capacity to consent to the treatment
plan being assessed and consenting to
treatment was evident in the health records of
all 8 patients.
▲ There was evidence that 4 out of 8 service users
had an advocate appropriate to their needs and
6 referrals for an advocate had been processed.
2 Service users nursing notes evidenced those
individuals self advocated
▼ None of the patients or their carers had received
a copy of their care plan.
▼ Only 4 out of 8 patients had a treatment plan
recorded in the individual’s health action plan.
What have we done since?
Despite the small scale nature of this project, it
illustrates how local clinical audits are a valuable
method to continually learn and improve. In this
example, Walsall Learning Disability Team have
drawn up a detailed action plan to make changes
to their local practice to work towards complete
compliance with all twenty seven standards
identified in the University of Birmingham’s good
practice guide. They will undertake another audit
in six month’s time to measure their progress and
continue the audit progress until they achieve this
goal.
Service Evaluations
Service evaluations are another way we can
learn about the services we provide and how we
can improve them. They are often referred to as
small scale research projects and they are used to
identify the strengths and weaknesses of a service
by providing an assessment of its aims, activities,
outputs or outcomes.
Example of a Local Service Evaluation Implementing a Total Communication Strategy
in Dudley
Why this was undertaken
How we communicate with people with learning
disabilities is probably the most important factor
in how public services provide information and
support to one of the most marginalised groups
in our community. This requires specific skills and
training is therefore an integral part of the Total
Communication Strategy.
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Total Communication was originally developed for
the deaf and is defined as “the use of any and all
methods of communication including the use of
a sign language system, finger-spelling, speech,
speech reading, amplification, gestures, pantomime,
drawing and writing.”
In Dudley, there are 1,000 people with learning
disabilities that are known to our services and
another 4,000 people with some level of learning
disability. Although there have been some attempts
to improve how services communicate with people
with learning disabilities, there has not been a
consistent borough-wide approach until the speech
and language therapy service in Dudley led the way
with this project.
A Total Communication Strategy Group for
Dudley was therefore established which is a multiagency sub-group of Dudley’s Learning Disability
Partnership Board to set out best practice around
the communication needs of adults with learning
disabilities. There are representatives on the group
from Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, private
and voluntary sector support services, a local selfadvocacy group Dudley Voices for Choice as well as
carer representatives.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:• To formulate a policy to set out best practice
around the communication needs of adults with
learning disabilities
• To identify barriers and supportive features
experienced by support staff when
implementing the local strategy
• To generate ideas for improvements of the
experience of support staff in undertaking work
towards the local strategy
How the evaluation was carried out
Interviews were undertaken with a random sample
of eight participants from four different services.
Four participants were care service managers and
four participants were care workers who assumed
the roles of ‘Total Communication Champions.’
Interviews were transcribed and then analysed
What did we find?
- All participants found the Total Communication
Strategy a useful framework for supporting their
clients’ communication skills and needs.
- Services varied in their success and

152

-

-

2013

implementation of the strategy over time, which
was influenced by many factors.
Participants felt they would benefit from longterm ongoing support with the strategy work.
The needs of people supporting clients with
profound and multiple learning disabilities
may not have been met by the current training
offered.
An audit process for evaluating the success
of locations who take part in the strategy
work would be useful; for instance by service
commissioners or service users.

What have we learned?
o To simplify the strategy process, as this will
support staff to feel that they understand what
they need to do
o To consider whether further follow-up support
or refresher sessions could be given to locations
and be on-going where resources allow. To
consider whether this could include teaching
of some basic computer skills to support the
creation of communication tools
o To increase/maintain some level of contact
with locations who are implementing the Total
Communication Strategy following the initial
eight month period of support
o To undertake more work around the
communication needs of people with profound
and multiple learning disabilities including the
provision of additional training
o To make links with service commissioners who
could inspect whether locations are continuing
to work towards the Total Communication
Strategy, and consider whether service-users
could be involved in auditing this work
How this has informed local practice
• In order to implement a Total Communication
approach all learning disability services in Dudley
are committed to working towards the following
standards of good practice for:- Individual people with learning disabilities
- Staff and carers
- Specialist locations for people with learning
disabilities
The standards of good practice will include:•

Every individual has a communication passport
and easy access to it. The communication
passport should contain communication
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guidelines, detailing how the person
communicates and the strategies the staff and
carers should use to facilitate communication
with them. We should respect peoples’ choice if
they do not want a communication passport.
•

Individuals are offered choices throughout
their daily routine using the most appropriate
method, e.g. symbols, photographs, signs or
real objects. Every individual is supported to
make and communicate choices in line with the
Mental Capacity Act

•

90% of front-line LD staff will attend
‘Communicating with adults with learning
disabilities’ training provided by Dudley LD
specialist health services and implement the
principles of this at all times

•

1 or 2 members of staff from each specialist
location within Dudley will become Total
Communication Champions for their location
to lead, promote and advise on communicating
with people with learning disabilities

•

All staff are aware who the LD Champion is
within their organisation and where to go for
support and advice

•

All staff have an awareness of Good Practice
Guidelines around communicating with adults
with learning disabilities

Research
Healthcare professionals know a great deal about
health, disease and medicines but research can find
answers to aspects that are still unknown, filling
gaps in knowledge and changing the way that they
work. The aim is to find better ways of looking
after patients and keeping people healthy based on
robust, relevant research evidence. Health and social
care research looks at many different issues, from
illness, disease and disability to the way that
health and social care services are provided by the
NHS. People in our care benefit from past research
and continue to benefit from research that is
currently being carried out as the example below
illustrates (see also 9.3.3).
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Example - Best Interests Decisions Study
What are best interests decision-making?
The ability to make decisions is sometimes called
mental capacity. The Mental Capacity Act 2005 sets
out what should happen if someone is unable to
make a particular decision for themselves, if they
lack mental capacity. The Act states that a decision
made for someone who lacks capacity must be
made in their ‘best interests’. The person making
that decision is often a health or social care worker,
and they must follow the ‘Code of Practice’ an
official good practice guide to using the Mental
Capacity Act. Within our Trust, what researchers
refer to as ‘Best Interest Meetings’ are incorporated
within our Care Programme Approach (CPA) process
(see 9.10.5). When planning the future care for
an individual, a multi-disciplinary CPA meeting is
convened and within that structure any best interest
decisions that have to be made are discussed by
everyone.
Why did we take part?
The Best Interests Decisions Study was the first
large-scale national research to find out about
professional practices in best interests decisions
made under the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The
study was led by the Norah Fry Research Centre at
Bristol University, in collaboration with the University
of Bradford and a UK research and development
charity, the Mental Health Foundation. The study
was funded by the Department of Health and was
completed in 2011.
Four areas in England were selected for the study to
reflect both rural localities and urban localities with
significant ethnic minority populations. Sandwell
was chosen along with Surrey, Dorset and Bradford.
Within Sandwell, health and social care staff from
the primary care trust, acute trust, local authority
and from our own mental health and learning
disabilities services all agreed to take part in the
project.
Why the research was carried out
To find out more about how best interests’ decisions
are being made, how far the Code of Practice is
followed and how helpful it is in real life situations.
The study looked at:-

the types of best interests decisions being made
in different situations such as a hospital or a care
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home and with different groups of people who
may lack capacity such as people with learning
disabilities and people with dementia;
the different ways that best interests decisions
are made;
what factors people making a decision take into
account;
what helps health and social care workers make
a good best interests decision and what stops
them from doing that

•

•

How the research was carried out
Information about 385 best interests decisions made
in these four areas was collected through an online
survey of professionals and workers involved in best
interests decisions. These decisions related to:154 people with dementia
131 people with learning disabilities
107 people with mental health problems
75 people with brain injuries or a neuro-disability
21 people intoxicated with drugs or alcohol
17 people who were unconscious
Telephone interviews with 68 of these people gave
a better understanding of what they had done
and why. Of these, 25 also agreed to speak to the
research team in person, which provided a lot more
detail about the way that best interest decisions are
made.
Main Findings
• Researchers found that generally the right
people are involved in decision-making although
there was some confusion about the role that
Independent Mental Capacity Advocates play.
• In the vast majority of cases, the decision led to
an action or treatment being carried out in the
person’s best interests. A successful outcome
was said to do one or more of the following:
please the person lacking capacity; protect them
from harm; protect staff.
• Assessing a person’s capacity was a concern for
all the professionals although most were found
to be following the Code of Practice
• The research found a preference for assessments
of capacity to be reached by consensus after
different opinions had been aired, including
expert advice where required. Where there was
disagreement about what was in a person’s best
interests, the decision was usually made over a
series of meetings.
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The research looked at how long it takes to
make a best interests decision. Urgent decisions
were more likely to be about health care, while
the ones that took longer were more likely to be
about property and affairs, or about more than
one matter. Urgent decisions were also most
likely to be for people who were unconscious
or who were under the influence of alcohol or
drugs.
In 80% of decisions, the known wishes and
feelings of the person were said to have been
taken into account although this did not always
happen through meetings. Some people were
not interested in attending or not able to
contribute in a meaningful way. Most of the
people still had a say by being supported outside
of the meeting, where their communication
needs could be better met and more time could
be taken to explain the decision to be made.
The research showed that there are different
ways of making best interests decisions and roles
that have emerged to make the process work.
While these do not breach the spirit of the Code
of Practice they are not currently reflected in the
training and guidance that is available to health
and social care workers.
The Code of Practice states that decision-makers
should consult with people who know a person
who lacks capacity well when weighing up
what is in their best interests. This happened
in 69% of the decisions they looked at. In the
remaining cases it was either not possible to
consult with someone (perhaps because it was
an emergency) or it was inappropriate to do
so (perhaps because of a safeguarding issue
involving the family).

For more information: http://www.mentalhealth.
org.uk/publications/bids-summary/
How this has informed local practice
Participation in this research study and the
recent publication of its findings has provided
the opportunity to review our local procedures
and processes for best interest decisions and the
requirements of the Mental Health Act 2005. The
Trust has its own dedicated group, The Mental
Health Act Legislation Forum, attended by health
and social care workers and chaired by the Social
Care Director, to consider the research findings in
relation to current training, the use of independent
mental health advocates as well as reaffirming areas
of good practice.
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National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence (NICE)
Why this was undertaken
The National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence (NICE) provides national guidance on
the prevention and treatment of ill health and the
promotion of good health for England and Wales.
In this example, NICE published a clinical guideline
in January 2012, which offered best practice advice
on the diagnosis and management of the epilepsies
in adults, young people and children in primary and
secondary care.
Epilepsy is a common serious condition that affects
the nervous system where there is a tendency to
have seizures that start in the brain. More than half
a million people in the UK have epilepsy, which is
around 1 in 100 people. Epilepsy is more common
in people with a learning disability than in the
general population. The more severe the learning
disability, the more likely it is that a person will also
have epilepsy. Around 20% of people (1 in 5) with
epilepsy also have a learning disability.
The Learning Disability Division formed a small
task group to assess whether the epilepsy services
provided across Sandwell, Wolverhampton, Walsall
and Dudley were compliant with this best practice
guidance.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o To assess epilepsy services in each locality for
people with a learning disability against clinical
guidance issued by National Institute for Health
and Clinical Excellence (NICE).
o To identify the action needed to achieve
compliance with the recommendations by NICE
identifying those areas of practice that required
most support.
How the assessment was carried out
Each of the four localities compared their current
service against the standards within the guidance
using a specially designed assessment form by NICE
to record their findings. The task group then met to
discuss the outcomes of their assessments.
What did we learn?
Representatives from Dudley and Walsall identified
common gaps in services. Sandwell realised their
service had significant differences compared to
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Walsall and Dudley while Wolverhampton currently
offered no specialist epilepsy service to people with
a learning disability.
How this has informed local practice
The Learning Disability Division has asked managers
and clinical staff within Walsall and Dudley learning
disability services to draw up an action plan to
address those areas requiring action to achieve
compliance. The Division is currently considering
if there is a need to develop a specialist epilepsy
clinic and employ a specialist epilepsy nurse for
people with disabilities living in Sandwell and
Wolverhampton. Currently, medical staff working in
the Sandwell service review epilepsy management
during outpatient appointments while community
nurses within Wolverhampton provide clinical
management plans, care plans and a review of
individuals’ epilepsy.
For more information: http://www.nice.org.uk/
CG137
National Reports
Why this was undertaken
Organisations that learn from their incidents,
complaints and claims learn about their own
particular weaknesses and failings. Organisations
that consider the guidance and recommendations
of relevant national reports discover the weaknesses
and failings of other organisations, and thereby
learn lessons. By undertaking a gap analysis and
ensuring that measures are put into place, it is
possible to prevent the incidents experienced by
others occurring within our organisation. We are
committed to the timely implementation of the
recommendations contained within national reports
to continuously improve the safety and quality of
services we provide.
In this example, a report entitled ‘National
Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by
People with Mental Illness’ was commissioned by
the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership
(HQIP) on behalf of the Department of Health. The
Inquiry examines suicide, and homicide committed
by people who had been in contact with secondary
and specialist mental health services in the
previous 12 months. It also examines the deaths
of psychiatric inpatients which were sudden and
unexplained. It provides definitive figures for suicide
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and homicide related to mental health services in
the UK.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:o This key report has been received and reviewed
by the organisation
o Action is taken to address any areas where we
need to improve our local practices
o The key clinical messages identified have been
embedded within our mental health services
How the assessment was carried out
The three divisional managers for adult inpatients,
older adult inpatients and adult and older
community services undertook a review of the
report. They jointly considered the key messages
outlined in the report and produced an action plan
to improve local practices where this was necessary.
What did we learn?
There were a number of improvements we could
make to our local practice which could help to
reduce the number of people with mental illness
attempting suicide or presenting a risk to others.
These included ensuring robust risk management
processes are in place for all service users and
information about risk is shared between all
individuals, professionals and agencies, based on
a protocol approved by the Trust Board and in line
with national guidelines. We should always have
guidance documents in place to disseminate best
practice advice about responding to the risk of
violence to others. Specifically, this should include
guidance regarding informing family members,
carers and other potential victims of the risk of
violence from a service user and appropriate
intervention/ management strategies for working
with service users with delusional ideas about
specific individuals
How this has informed local practice
Our mental health teams are reviewing their risk
assessments and management procedures and how
they screen for risk of harm to others in this process.
Family members are encouraged to be involved in
risk assessment and care planning as far as possible.
If risks are identified to the family a multi-agency
approach will be adopted and a protection plan will
be agreed and put in place. Risk Review meetings
are held regularly to highlight the need for clinicians
and clinical supervisors to be alert to the risks of
harm to others and ensure that appropriate action
is taken to alert the Police, Child and Young Persons
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Teams and Safeguarding service. Information
sharing about risk is carried out and documented
accordingly. Highly sensitive information is shared
and stored between those agencies and individuals
involved on a ‘need to know’ basis.’
9.7.5 Valuing Our Workforce
“Our workforce is our greatest asset and we can
only achieve success through strengthening the
capability of our staff ...”
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is
committed to being a fair and inclusive employer.
We recognise that our employees are essential to
the provision of high quality healthcare and we are
committed to maintaining a working environment
that promotes their health and wellbeing. Investing
in a diverse, local workforce enables us to deliver a
better service and improve patient care.
Staff involvement
We recognise that a good organisation involves
staff in decisions about the direction of the
organisation and gets staff talking and swapping
ideas with each other. We have set up a number
of ways for staff to communicate with each other.
We also promote staff involvement through online
surveys, working groups that have representatives
from different areas of the trust and a monthly
informal Staff Forum. As a Foundation Trust, our
staff are also members of the Trust, which provides
an opportunity for staff to influence its direction.
As members, staff elect fellow staff to sit on the
Assembly of Governors (see 9.7.1).
Learning and Development
Giving staff opportunities to develop (see table 41)
is a vital part of creating a motivated and skilled
workforce. Our learning and development team
help staff to develop new skills, maximise their
potential, and progress in their careers. We also
know that by investing in our employees’ ongoing
learning and development the people using our
services will benefit from a continued improvement
in the quality of care and support they receive.
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Table 41 Percentage of Staff Receiving Training and Development

Taken from 2012 staff survey
A new vision for the Human Resources team
was developed in 2012-13, which is ‘to work in
partnership with our customers to ensure quality
healthcare by providing effective HR solutions
which are shaped to meet their needs.’ Significant
initiatives have been developed during the year to
support achievement of this vision.
•

Appraisal - A new, simplified approach to staff
appraisal was developed and implemented
during 2012-13. The appraisal paperwork was
streamlined to enable a high quality dialogue
to take place between the appraiser and the
appraisee, focusing on reviewing performance,
setting ambitious objectives (linked to
organisational priorities), and identifying
meaningful development needs . All staff now
have at least one objective around how they will
improve the experience of patients and service
users in the forthcoming year.

training is designed to be highly interactive,
practical and relevant for staff. To further
streamline systems for staff and managers
and to re-emphasize the importance which
the organisation places on attendance at this
training, all staff are now centrally booked on
to a training date well in advance, and nonattendance is being actively followed up by
managers within services.
The Trust is aiming to exceed a 95% attendance
target by the end of October 2013 (12 months after
the launch of the annual mandatory training day),
and by the end of March 2013, the Trust was 10%
above its projected target at this point.
•

Achievement Awards - Six new Excellence
Awards were presented at this year’s Trust
Achievement Awards Ceremony to recognise
the outstanding contribution and high quality
services being delivered by individuals and teams
across the Trust. Nominations were received
from staff and service users for these awards,
which included the Making a Difference Award;
Transforming Services Award; and the Driving
Excellence Award. Recognition was also given
for 25 years’ service, outstanding attendance,
and achievement of qualifications - all of which
demonstrated the commitment and dedication
of staff across the Trust.

•

Trust Induction - The Trust Induction for new
starters was significantly revamped during
2012/13, to incorporate interactive and practical
sessions around the Trust Vision & Values;

Following the implementation of this new approach,
the Trust exceeded its 80% compliance target by
the end of 2012. The Trust is also now making the
transition to a February to May appraisal period for
all staff from 2013, to enable even closer links with
organisational objectives.
•

Mandatory training - The Trust rolled out a
new approach to mandatory training during
2012/13, with the implementation of a new
annual mandatory training day. This day
comprises training on a wide range of core
mandatory topics, required to enable staff to
perform safely and effectively in their roles. The
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Quality; Communication; and Privacy and
Dignity. This new programme launched at the
beginning of April 2013.
Library Service
A library service is provided for staff to support
patient care, lifelong learning, professional
development, audit, service evaluations, research
and training. A qualified and knowledgeable
team of library staff provide support and access
to current, accessible evidence-based resources.
Services provided include:•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a full enquiry service
literature searching
evidence and knowledge skills training
interlibrary loan facilities
IT access including printers, scanners and
photocopier
access to e-book and e-journal collections and
healthcare databases
quiet study space
24hr access

Staff Support Service
The Staff Support team consists of highly
experienced counsellors and psychologists to assist
with personal or work-related issues. Any member
of staff is able to self refer directly to the service.
They provide support to staff before sickness or
performance problems with work occur. They also
support individuals with return to work, confidence
building, getting through a grievance or disciplinary
process, coping with a change process or coming to
terms with a difficult event. The team also provides
training for stress management and offer mediation
and conflict resolution. Staff can also benefit
from attending regular one day Stress Awareness
Workshops. Each workshop is designed to help
staff to identify and manage their own stress as well
as meet and share their learning experiences with
other colleagues.
Occupational Health Service
The Trust employs an external provider for
occupational health services for all its employees.
The role of occupational health is to advise both
staff and managers on fitness for work issues. This
can include new employees, employees who have
been newly diagnosed with a health condition,
and those returning to work following an ill-health
absence. This service assists the Trust in adhering
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to employment and health and safety legislation
by ensuring, as far as reasonably practical, that
work does not cause an individual to have a health
problem or does not exacerbate an existing health
problem. The services provided for the Trust are:- Management and self-referrals giving t advice on
employee fitness to work including rehabilitation
- Immunisations and blood screening
- New Starter health assessments
- Health surveillance
- Health promotion
Health and Wellbeing
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy supports the
Trust’s Business Plan and Strategic Objectives, with
a focus on the development of a comprehensive,
proactive health and wellbeing service that meets
the needs of employees and the organisation.
Developments include a single provider of
Occupational Health and in-house staff support with
a plan to develop this for staff groups as well as
individuals
An action plan has also been developed since the
last staff opinion survey, which will include the
development an intranet page for the health and
wellbeing of staff as a single point of information
for staff. Sickness and absence levels have also
reduced. The group now includes an executive
director and reports go to the Executive Committee.
9.7.6 Valuing the Role of Carers
“One person caring for another represents life’s
greatest value…”
A carer is someone who provides help and support
to a partner, child, relative, friend or neighbour,
who could not manage without their help. This
could be due to illness, physical disability, impaired
sight or hearing, learning disabilities, mental illness,
dementia, substance abuse problems, or the frailty
of old age.
At some point in our lifetime, many of us will either
be a carer or know someone who is. You may not
necessarily choose to be a carer; it could be sudden
due to a health incident, or gradually due to a
deteriorating physical or mental health condition.
We know it can be exhausting and lonely, it can
also be rewarding and satisfying on many levels,
however being a carer can affect your own health,
education, finances, employment opportunities and

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
can have impact on relationships with friends, family
and also the person you are caring for. We recognise
the contribution that carers make.
Our aim is for carers to be recognised as key and
expert care partners; to create and sustain a positive
environment that enables carers to be supported
in their caring role for as long as it is practically
possible.
Carers’ Mental Health Team
The population of Sandwell is approximately
287,500. The population is ethnically and socially
diverse with low levels of educational achievement
and high levels of employment. At any one time the
number of people with mental health problems in
Sandwell is likely to be 50,000. Research indicates
that carers often neglect their own health whilst
caring for families and friends.
The Carers Mental Health Team was created as a
specialist resource for carers of adults with mental
health problems, to complement the work carried
out by other mental health services. The aims and
objectives of the service are to:•
•

•

•
•
•

Work with mental health services at key access
points to identify carers
Offer a specialist, complete assessment of carers’
needs to produce a care plan to meet these
identified needs in conjunction with the carer,
and review the care plan on a regular basis but
at the very least annually
Where needs cannot be met within the Team,
they signpost to other services or commission
services e.g. short breaks through specific
funding provided through the Carers’ Grant for
this purpose
Facilitate a network of carers’ support to meet
targeted need to reduce social isolation of
carers.
Provide education and information for carers
through:Carers Forum bi-monthly (evening)
Annual cultural events
Provide ongoing support to further develop the
carers’ voice and self-help initiatives

The Government introduced the Carers’ Grant in
1999 in recognition of the support carers need for
breaks and services. In 2012, the team bid and were
awarded £47,000 to provide information, health
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education and respite to carers this year. A variety
of events were organised by the team to enable
carers to have a break and respite from caring.
These included information and support on different
mental health conditions such as depression,
bipolar disorder, psychosis, personality and anxiety.
In addition, the following educational and physical
groups were organised:- Walking groups
- Yoga
- Gym
- Golf
- Healthy eating
- Smoking cessation
The aim of these groups is to keep our carers
healthy. We reply upon them to provide care to our
patients but this is often at the detriment of their
own health. Many carers disclose during assessment
that they are depressed or have panic attacks and
they link this to their caring role.
Walsall Learning Disability Service
In September 2012, Walsall Learning Disability
Service undertook a project to seek the views of
carers in order to ensure the service was meeting
the needs of individuals and carers. The project
was intended to ensure carers feel their views are
important, are being acknowledged and will make a
difference to future service delivery.
A group of health professionals developed a carers’
questionnaire which would be clearly understood
and promote meaningful involvement. A covering
letter was distributed with the questionnaire
supported by a verbal explanation from the
practitioner supplying the questionnaire. The
objectives of the survey were to seek carers’ level of
satisfaction and comments in relation to:- Quality of service
- Ease of access
- Time to receive a service
- Support given making things better
- Expressing concerns, complaints or compliments
- Understanding information
- Professionalism of team
- Equity of service
The aim was to distribute up to 200 questionnaires
and to aim for 100 returns.
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Sample of the Questions asked

% Score

Health Professionals provided a
service beyond expectation

77.0

Suggestions for Improvement
Although the results were encouraging, it was
agreed that every team within the service will
include a comments, compliments or complaints
leaflet with every acknowledgement of a referral
letter to each service user. This will ensure the
service receives continual feedback on how well
it is performing in the eyes of carers and family
members.

The service was easy to access

82.0

9.8

I was satisfied with the time it took
to receive services

82.0

9.8.1

The support provided made things
better

82.0

I know how to make a concern,
complaint/compliment

84.0

I understood the information given
to me

86.0

I would recommend this LD service
to someone else

86.0

Health professional was punctual

88.0

Health professionals were
knowledgeable about the
treatment they provide

89.0

The following four priority areas for improvement
had been identified in 2012/2013 and the Board
noted the progress and achievements in each of
these areas:-

Health professionals listened to me

90.0

•

In fact, 204 questionnaires were distributed and 75
returned which were analysed. The results are as
follows:Table 41: Sample of Questions asked

Sandwell Council Policy and
Performance Scrutiny Board
“Extract from the Minutes of Policy and
Performance Scrutiny Board – 11th April, 2013
11/13 Consultation on Draft Quality Report of
the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust 2012/2013
The Board was asked to consider the Draft Quality
Report of the Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust and submit any comments.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Overall satisfaction with Walsall Learning
Disability Service is 86%
Amongst the different types of carers, family
carers were more satisfied compared to paid
carers
Females carers were generally more satisfied
than Male carers
Carers came from a variety of different
backgrounds including Bangladeshi, Indian,
Pakistani, British, Irish and Caribbean

•
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Reduction in Absconding Behaviour (Patient
Safety)
Nutrition/Healthy Eating (Patient Experience)
Quality of Safeguarding Children’s Record
Keeping (Effective Care)
Quality Review of Dementia Services

The following priority areas for improvement had
been identified for 2013/2014 and the Board noted
the intended outcomes in each of these areas:•
•
•

The results were discussed with carers and family
members through:- Presentation at healthy lives
- Working Together web site
- Posters displayed in satellite Units and other
frequently visited areas
- Presentation to Partnership Board

Statements from our Stakeholders

Reduction in the number of falls (Patient Safety)
Improvement in patient activities within inpatient
services (Patient Experience)
Listen to and learn from regular user feedback
across all services (Patient Experience)

Members asked questions on the following issues:How was effective care measured?
Effective care was generally measured by patient
safety and experience; however in a mental health
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setting it was mostly about the patient experience.
In relation to safeguarding children’s record
keeping, would health visitor case records that
had not been checked due to organisational
problems be re-visited?
This related to Dudley Health Visitor Services,
which had been restructured in 2011 following an
Ofsted inspection. The service had been reduced
from 19 to 5 teams and investment made in
additional resources, including a team leader role of
safeguarding.
When would service quality be resumed at
Penn Hospital?
The hospital was relatively new, having been built
in 2006 and had been under Wolverhampton PCT
until August 2011. Following a visit from the Care
Quality Commission a warning notice had been
issued relating to the estate. Capital funding had
subsequently been secured to refurbish the site and
make the wards more fit for purpose. Members
were assured that relatives had been fully consulted
when patients were moved and were happy with
the new environment.
In light of the number of absconds from Hallam
Street Hospital, why had the decision to erect a
fence been delayed previously?
Most patients were admitted to hospital in an
emergency and the majority of patients that
absconded did so to resolve issues at home that
they had not been able to resolve prior to their
admission. Many returned to hospital of their own
volition. Erecting a fence was a last resort to avoid
stigmatising patients and a negative impact on
the built environment, however as other measures
had not reduced the number of absconds, physical
deterrents were now being considered.

2013

Had the number of referrals for suicide
attempts increased in due to socio-economic
factors?
There had been a noticeable increase in suicide
referrals, however. Sandwell’s numbers were at the
lower end; however they were beginning to creep
towards the national average. It was felt that the
socio-economic climate was a factor. Only 25%
of suicides were committed by people involved in
mental health services though so consideration was
being given as to whether the Trust needed to be
more active.
With regards to staff training on safeguarding, what
was being done in relation to the Macarthur Centre
in particular to improve the numbers from 68%?
A new scheme had been introduced whereby all
staff were allocated a specific day of the year for
mandatory and job specific training and were “force
booked” onto it. Management would deal with
non-attendance and the Trust was confident that
training numbers would improve.
The Board felt that the numbers of suicides/
attempts in Sandwell needed to be monitored over
the coming months and that health scrutiny should
include the matter in its work programme for
2013/2014.
Resolved:(1) that the Draft Quality Report of the Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust be
noted;
(2) that an item be included on the appropriate
scrutiny work programme in 2013/2014 with
regards to monitoring suicide rates/attempts
in Sandwell in light of current socio-economic
factors…..”

What was being done to increase the Trust’s
membership base?
Regular events were held to encourage
membership; however it was difficult to engage
people unless they had had a personal experience
with the Trust. Annual targets were always met
though.
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9.8.2 Healthwatch Wolverhampton
“Wolverhampton Healthwatch has carefully chosen
the priority areas where they felt a valid contribution
could be made. The report covers a number of
valuable areas and brief comments on these are set
out below:Patient Safety – Reduction in Absconding
Behaviour – Mental Health Division
Whilst we understand the need to address issues
regarding the physical environment, we would have
liked to see action undertaken to understand the
reasons given by patients as to why they abscond
and what could be done to support them.
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Effective Care – Closer working with Primary
Care in Wolverhampton
We welcome the work being undertaken to work
with GP practices in Wolverhampton to ensure their
Severe Mental Illness registers are up-to-date and
the offer to GP’s to have an annual review with the
named psychiatrist for each of the patients on the
register. It would be useful to know the number of
GP’s who have taken up the offer and who the Trust
feeds this data into.

Patient Experience – Nutrition / Healthy Eating
– Learning Disability Division
The focus of improving the health and nutrition of
people with learning disabilities was welcomed.
The results suggest that the one to one programme
achieved better outcomes. We look forward to
this work being rolled out in Wolverhampton and
hope to see a higher percentage of care providers
attending the training programme.

Patient Experience – Improving how the needs
of people with a history of sexual abuse are
met
Up until the 25th May 2012 Wolverhampton had
a dedicated Clinical Nurse Specialist (CPN) in place,
developing policy, providing training and advising
and supervising colleagues working with adult
survivors of childhood sexual abuse. Unfortunately
the decision was made to end this vital post.
Specialist posts of this nature are vital in supporting
and heightening awareness in clinical practice to
help improve the outcomes of people, who have
been subject to sexual abuse.

West Midlands Quality Review of
Dementia Services
We commend the Trust for the work that has been
undertaken to refurbish the inpatient environment
at Penn Hospital and improve the care pathway. We
are keen to hear how the Trust plans to gather feedback from patients, families and carers.

Involving People who use our services
Healthwatch hope to see further development of
the Wolverhampton Make A Difference group, to
ensure that it involves local mental health service
users in a meaningful way and engages with
independent Wolverhampton based Mental Health
Empowerment and Advocacy initiatives.”

Patient Safety – Mental Health Division –
Reduction in the number of falls
The action being taken around falls is positive, we
hope to see a reduction in the number of falls in
2013 – 2014 report.

9.8.3

Participation in Clinical Audits
It was positive to see that the Trust has participated
in national clinical audits, therefore extending their
learning.
Care Quality Commission
It is pleasing to see that warning notices have been
removed from Penn Hospital. As previously stated
we are keen to know how the Trust plans to gather
feed-back from patients, families and carers.
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Wolverhampton City Clinical
Commissioning Group
“As one of many commissioners purchasing care
across the Black Country for our community
Wolverhampton City CCG are pleased to be in
receipt of BCPFTs Quality Accounts for 2012/13 and
to be given the opportunity to comment on them.
We have worked together during the reporting
period to monitor and improve the quality of
services patients receive and recognise the work the
Trust have undertaken in the following areas:NHS Safety Thermometer – Recognising the number
of falls and taking action to reduce the likelihood
and severity of these, work continues during
2013/14 to reduce the number of falls involving
service users.

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report and Accounts
Dementia - Work is underway to improve the care
pathway for patients admitted to Penn Hospital
suffering from Dementia.
CNST – The Trust were successful if achieving Level
1 in January this year.
Making Every Contact Count – Working in
conjunction with GPs across Wolverhampton to
improve joint working with patients.
PEAT – Excellent findings from the inspections
carried out during the year to Penn Hospital by the
Trust’s inspection team(s).
In addition the Trust continues to achieve high
standards of infection prevention, and we are
confident this will continue.
Significant progress has been made to address
concerns identified by the CQC in their inspections
to Penn Hospital earlier in to 2012. The CCG
commends the trust on their commitment & success
in the progress that has been made to aspire to
providing patients with a safe and therapeutic
environment to be cared in once the refurbishment
completes later in July this year.
Priorities identified for 2013/14 also include
improving the availability of meaningful activities
for service users in learning disability services.
Listening and learning from feedback from children
and develop the ‘think families’ agenda during the
year.”
9.8.4

NHS Walsall Clinical
Commissioning Group
“We have gone through the draft report and would
make the following comments:There are several references throughout the report
to reviews, etc but the report tends to be descriptive
of process rather than lessons learned, outcomes,
actions taken and action plans
I am pleased to see reference to meaningful
activities on page 11, this has been a commissioning
initiative for the CQUIN and despite initial resistance
by the Trust I am glad to see you are embracing it.
I appreciate issues around data protection and
patient confidentiality but page 17 makes reference
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to Learning Disability special reviews but gives no
further detail.
Page 35 makes reference to being an open,
transparent and listening organisation but trust staff
are actively instructed not to talk to commissioners
and our experience is of a closed organisation
compared to before the trust was formed
Page 38 makes reference to clinical review meetings,
but LD theme is only once or twice a year, I have
asked Sally and Yvette to work with us to develop
a black country LD quality review and I hope to see
this in 2013/14.
Page 41 makes reference to complaints but what
about lessons learned from a quality perspective
Page 43 describes incident report processes but any
lessons learned
Pleased with clinical audit on medication and
behaviour mentioned on page 49, look forward to
seeing the action plan
Page 55 - Pleased to see reference to epilepsy
specialist services and best interest decisions
Page 59 - Lot of HR info but in terms of quality
what about vacancies carried, recruitment and cover
by appropriately trained staff ”
9.8.5

Sandwell and West Birmingham
Clinical Commissioning Group
“We are happy with this report. However, there is
no mention of medicines management included and
a significant amount of work was done in the trust
around safe and secure handling which has not
been reflected”
9.8.6 Dudley Clinical Commissioning Group
“Dudley Clinical Commissioning Group
acknowledges that this report demonstrates
that Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust
continues to place quality improvement at the
forefront of their service delivery. The 2013/14
priorities reflect commitment to patient experience,
quality of care, and improvement of services.
Dudley Clinical Commissioning Group supports
the contents and aims of this Quality Account, and
looks forward to working closely with Black Country
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Partnership Foundation Trust to ensure that they
achieve high quality outcomes and provide a quality
experience to their patients.”
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Quality Report
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust‘s Directors are required under the Health
Act 2009 and the National Health Service Quality
Accounts Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts
for each financial year. Monitor has issued
guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the
form and content of annual quality reports (which
incorporate the above legal requirements) and on
the arrangements that foundation trust boards
should put in place to support the data quality for
the preparation of the quality report.

•
•

9.9

In preparing the quality report, directors have taken
steps to satisfy themselves that:•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
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the content of the quality report meets the
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13
the content of the Quality Report is not
inconsistent with internal and external sources
of information including:
Board minutes and papers for the period April
2012 to June 2013
Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board
over the period April 2012 to June 2013
Feedback from the Wolverhampton
commissioners dated 13/05/2013
Feedback from the Sandwell and West
Birmingham commissioners dated 13/05/2013
Feedback from Walsall commissioners dated
15/05/2013
Feedback from governors dated 19/03/2013
Feedback from Sandwell’s Policy and
Performance Scrutiny Board dated 11/04/2013
Feedback from Local LINk/Healthwatch
organisations dated 13/05/ 2013
The Trust’s Complaints Report published under
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009
dated 24/04/2013
The latest national inpatient survey dated
23/08/2012
The latest national community mental health
survey dated 23/08/2012

•
•
•
•

•
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The latest national staff survey dated
12/02/2013
The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion
over the Trust’s control environment dated
17/04/2013
CQC quality and risk profiles dated 31/03/ 2013
The Quality Report presents a balanced picture
of the Trust’s performance over the period
covered;
The performance information reported in the
Quality Report is reliable and accurate;
there are proper internal controls over the
collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Report, and
these controls are subject to review to confirm
that they are working effectively in practice;
the data underpinning the measures of
performance reported in the Quality Report is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data
quality standards and prescribed definitions, is
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review;

This Quality Report has been prepared in accordance
with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which
incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations)
(published at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards
to support data quality for the preparation of the
Quality Report (available at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.
uk/annualreportingmanual).
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge
and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the Board

Chairman
Date: 22nd May 2013

Chief Executive
Date: 22nd May 2013

April 2012 - March 2013

Tel: 0845 146 1800
Email: enquiries@bcpft.nhs.uk
www.bcpft.nhs.uk

Annual Report and Accounts

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Trust Headquarters
Delta House, Delta Point,
Greets Green Road,
West Bromwich,
West Midlands B70 9PL

Annual Report and Accounts
April 2012 - March 2013

